
 

 
Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

Herefordshire Council, PO Box 239, HEREFORD, HR1 1ZU 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
$$Agenda0.doc 

 

Chief Executive’s Office 
Chief Executive:  CJ Bull 

To:  All Members of Cabinet: 
 RJ Phillips (Chairman)
 LO Barnett
 AJM Blackshaw
 H Bramer
 JP French
 JA Hyde
 JG Jarvis
 PD Price
 DB Wilcox 

Your Ref:  

Our Ref: 

Please ask for: 

Direct Line/Extension: 

Fax: 

E-mail: 

 

CJB/SAHC 

Mr CJ Bull 

(01432) 260044 

(01432) 340189 

cbull@herefordshire.gov.uk 

6th August 2008 

 

Dear Councillor, 
 
MEETING OF CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 JULY 2008 AT 2.00 PM 
THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD 
 

AGENDA (08/04) 
 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL - NOTICE UNDER REGULATION 15 OF THE LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS((ACCESS TO INFORMATION) REGULATIONS 

2000 (AS AMENDED) 
 

Notice is hereby given that the following reports contain key decisions.  When the decisions have 
been made, Members of the relevant Scrutiny Committee will be sent a copy of the decision notices 
and given the opportunity to call-in the decisions. 
 
Item 
No 

Title Portfolio 
Responsibility 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Included in 
the Forward 

Plan 
Yes/No 

4 Swimming Provision for Primary 
Schools in Hereford City 

Children’s Services Children’s 
Services 

Yes 

5 Virtual Learning Environment Children’s Services Children’s 
Services 

No 

8 Herefordshire Connects Option 
Appraisal 

ICT Education & 
Achievement and 
Corporate & 
Customer Services & 
Human Resources 

Strategic 
Monitoring 
Committee 

Yes 

. 



 

 
Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

Herefordshire Council, PO Box 240, HEREFORD, HR1 1ZT 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
$$Agenda0.doc 

 

9 Waste Collection Contract Environment and 
Strategic Housing 

Environment Yes 

 
 

 

  
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
  
 To receive any apologies for absence.   
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
  
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on the Agenda. 

 
GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 
The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare against an Agenda 
item(s) the nature of an interest and whether the interest is personal or prejudicial.  
Councillors have to decide first whether or not they have a personal interest in the matter 
under discussion.  They will then have to decide whether that personal interest is also 
prejudicial. 
  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most other people in 
the area.  People in the area include those who live, work or have property in the area of the 
Council.  Councillors will also have a personal interest if their partner, relative or a close 
friend, or an organisation that they or the member works for, is affected more than other 
people in the area.  If they do have a personal interest, they must declare it but can stay and 
take part and vote in the meeting.   
 
Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each Councillor.  What 
Councillors have to do is ask themselves whether a member of the public – if he or she knew 
all the facts – would think that the Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision 
would be affected by it.  If a Councillor has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what 
that interest is and leave the meeting room.   

  
3. MINUTES   
  
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2008.  (To follow).   
  
4. SWIMMING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN HEREFORD CITY   
  
 To establish provision for swimming lessons as part of the curriculum for Herefordshire 

primary schools.  To establish the future of the LEA swimming pool. 
  (Pages 1 - 16) 

  
5. VIRTUAL LEARNING ENVIRONMENT   
  



 

 
Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

Herefordshire Council, PO Box 240, HEREFORD, HR1 1ZT 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
$$Agenda0.doc 

 

 Following consultation with schools, the report seeks formal approval of the virtual learning 
environment (VLE) platform arrangements and signing of the contract with the preferred 
supplier of the VLE service. 
  (Pages 17 - 20) 

  
6. INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE AND FINANCE REPORT   
  
 To report performance for the whole of the operating year 2007-08 against the Annual 

Operating Plan 2007-08, Best Value Performance Indicators, and the Direction of Travel 
indicators used previously by the Audit Commission. 
  (Pages 21 - 78) 

  
7. COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT PREPARATION PROGRAMME PROGRESS 

REPORT   
  
 To report progress against the Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation Programme. 

  (Pages 79 - 112) 
  
8. HEREFORDSHIRE CONNECTS OPTION APPRAISAL   
  
 To seek approval of recommendations arising from an Options Appraisal of Herefordshire 

Connects to determine the future focus, purpose and outcomes for the Council’s development 
of Information and Communications Technology (ICT) systems required to achieve cost 
effective, service improvements for customers, in partnership with Herefordshire Primary Care 
Trust (PCT).   
  (Pages 113 - 162) 

  
9. WASTE COLLECTION CONTRACT   
  
 To approve the principles of a specification of a new Waste Collection Contract to commence 

in 2009. 
  (Pages 163 - 174) 

  
10. TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 2007/08   
  
 To note the council’s treasury management activities for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 

2008 and the outturn of Prudential Indicators for the year 2007/08. 
  (Pages 175 - 184) 

  
 
Yours sincerely,  

 
CJ BULL 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

Copies to: Chairman of the Council 
Chairman of Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Vice-Chairman of Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Chairmen of Scrutiny Committees 
Group Leaders 
Directors 
Assistant Chief Executive 
 



 

 
Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

Herefordshire Council, PO Box 240, HEREFORD, HR1 1ZT 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
$$Agenda0.doc 

 

 
 
 



E:\MODERNGOV\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\7\7\AI00014770\PUBLINFcabinetcdbus750.doc23/07/08 

The Public's Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO:- 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings 

unless the business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or 
‘exempt' information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of 
the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees 
and written statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual 
Cabinet Members for up to six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a 
period of up to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the 
background papers to a report is given at the end of each report).  A 
background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in writing 
the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of the Cabinet, of all 
Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to 
items to be considered in public) made available to the public attending 
meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have 
delegated decision making to their officers identifying the officers 
concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of 
access, subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a 
maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50, for postage).   

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend 
meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to 
inspect and copy documents. 



E:\MODERNGOV\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\7\7\AI00014770\PUBLINFcabinetcdbus750.doc23/07/08 

 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made 
available in large print or on tape.  Please contact 
the officer named below in advance of the meeting 
who will be pleased to deal with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for visitors 
in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 

Public Transport links 

• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service that 
runs approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the 
Tesco store in Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool 
Street / Victoria Street / Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its 
junction with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same 
bus stop. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If you have any questions about this Agenda, how the Council works or would 
like more information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information 
described above, you may do so either by telephoning Mrs Sally Cole on 
01432 260249 or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 
p.m. Monday - Thursday and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council 
Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford. 

 

 

Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-
Consumer waste. De-inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening 
agents (OBA). Awarded the Nordic Swan for low emissions during production 
and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



FIREBROCK0.doc 21.05.97 

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 

 

 

 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

 
 
 

 
In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through 
the nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located 
at the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be 
undertaken to ensure that those recorded as present have 
vacated the building following which further instructions will be 
given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or 
returning to collect coats or other personal belongings. 





 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Sharon Menghini, Director of Children’s Services  
 (01432) 260039 

SwimmingProvisionrevisedLedr0.doc 

SWIMMING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN 

HEREFORD CITY 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

CABINET 31 JULY 2008 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To establish provision for swimming lessons as part of the curriculum for Herefordshire 
primary schools.  To establish the future of the LEA swimming pool. 

Key Decision  

This is a Key Decision because it is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on 
communities living or working in Herefordshire in an area comprising one or more wards. 

It was included on the Forward Plan. 

1. The issue was deferred from the Cabinet meeting of 10 July, 2008.  It was requested 
that the report was deferred and be rescheduled for consideration at Cabinet on 31 
July, 2008 in order to allow appropriate time to digest the outcomes of the 
consultation, and in order to carry out further work on the business case and 
clarification provided in the financial tables. 

Recommendations 

THAT (i) the LEA swimming pool not be reopened; 

 (ii) alternative provision from September 2008 be offered at Hereford 

Leisure Pool and that this provision by HALO be monitored to ensure 

that the needs of schools and other users continue to be met;  

 (iii) close collaboration and partnership working be undertaken between the 

Council and HALO with schools, clubs and other users of the LEA pool 

to ensure that a viable and efficient service is provided; and 

 (iv) a report be brought back to Cabinet by Easter 2009 at the latest 

outlining the outcome of the process. 

Reasons 

2. The capital requirements of the LEA swimming pool are significant in order to open in 
September 2008, and to improve its viability for the medium term.  The Council has 
not identified capital to cover the medium term investment requirements.  In addition 

AGENDA ITEM 4

1



there is not sufficient time to complete the works in time for September 2008.  There 
are concerns over the long term viability of the LEA swimming pool in both capital 
and revenue terms.  These should be considered alongside the use of the Hereford 
Leisure Pool.  Further work is required to assess the possibility of income generation 
if the LEA swimming pool was reopened. 

Considerations 

3. It is a requirement of the national curriculum that all children are able to swim 25 
metres by the time they leave Primary School. In the past, 38 primary schools have 
used the LEA swimming pool next to St Martin’s School, Hereford.  The LEA 
swimming pool’s maintenance programme has not kept pace with the condition of 
the pool and the pool was closed from the end of December 2007.  Since that time 
38 primary schools have used alternative provision, primarily the Hereford Leisure 
Pool, run by Halo.  Schools have for the most part used the leisure (beach) pool. 

4. Capital investment is required if the LEA swimming pool were to reopen and further 
costs have been identified to keep the pool open in the medium term and to make it 
more energy efficient.  These are set out below, alongside possible revenue costs.  
Capital and revenue considerations are also set out if the Herefordshire Leisure Pool 
were to be chosen as the long term solution. 

The Views of Schools and Pupils 

5. The 38 Primary Schools who have used the LEA swimming pool in the past favour its 
continued use.  It was purposely designed to teach swimming and has dedicated 
school use.  A consultation letter was sent out on 2 June 2008.  The views of those 
that responded and the views of some pupils are contained in Appendix 1, 
supplemented by the views received prior to and at Cabinet on 10 July 2008.  20 
schools have submitted views.  19 head teachers who responded are in favour of 
reopening the LEA swimming pool.   One response was against reopening.  There 
was one submission from Chair of Primary Schools Forum to clarify the Forum's 
position.  One Petition was received to re-open the LEA swimming pool.  One 
portfolio of letters from pupils at St Mary's C of E Primary School, Credenhill, 
expressing concerns with Leisure Centre provision and asking for LEA Pool to re-
open was also received. 

6. Over the past month 12 schools have contacted Halo.  Five have stated they will not 
return to the Herefordshire Leisure Pool, four are waiting to hear of the Council’s 
decision, two are making alternative arrangements at other Halo pools and one 
school is waiting until January 2009, when Halo propose that the main swimming 
pool and teaching pools are given over to school use.  Some of these schools also 
made submissions detailed in Appendix 1. 

7. The majority of the other 43 Primary Schools in Herefordshire use their local 
swimming pool managed by Halo.  The Council already invests in a partnership with 
Halo to provide leisure services.  Halo is moving to a fixed price for swimming across 
all schools that use their swimming pools from September 2008. 

Capital Considerations 

8. The LEA swimming pool requires capital investment to return it to use and to 
continue to maintain it in the longer term. Estimated capital costs are set out below 
and have been provided by Property Services, based on their experience of 
undertaking works on pools.  Property Services also recommend that the energy 
efficiency of the building and other maintenance works be considered.  This is 

2



because the present engineering installation is basic, with no recycling of heat.  As 
energy costs rise the current arrangements will lead to significant increases in 
energy bills, which will affect revenue costs. 

Estimated Capital Investment Required for the LEA swimming pool 

To enable the pool to reopen Repairs to sand filters 
Repairs to scum channel 
Concrete and steel frame repairs 
Emergency lighting 
Replacement chlorine dosing plant 
Reinstate tiles to pool 
Replacement heat exchange 
Total costs estimated 

£20,000 
£20,000 
£13,000 
£6,000 
£6,000 
£2,500 
£5,000 

£72,500 

To provide a more sustainable, 
energy efficient pool 

Replacement of heating system 
Relining and insulating water gutters 
Provision of double glazing to changing 
room areas 
Replacement double glazing to pool area 
and insulation of doors 
DDA improvements 
Total costs estimated 

£120,000 
£15,000 
 
£12,000 
 
£48,000 
£15,000 

£210,000 

 Total £282,500 

 

9. It is important to note that these are estimates and are not guarantees that further 
capital works will not be required if maintenance issues occur.  In addition the 
Council would have to plan for significant capital costs in eight to ten years, due to 
the nature of the LEA swimming pool building and the corrosive environment that 
comes with a swimming pool. 

10. Appendix 1 contains the concerns of some schools that have used the Hereford 
Leisure Pool since the LEA swimming pool closed in December 2007.  Halo has 
worked with Herefordshire Council Property Services to look at what measures can 
be put in place to address these concerns and those expressed elsewhere by 
schools.  These measures include a revised timetable and change from using the 
leisure tank, with beach, to using the main pool and teaching pools.  The timetable 
for this use is set out in Appendix 2 which indicates arrangements to December 2008 
and then from January 2009.  Halo would like to move to the January 2009 timetable 
as soon as practicable.  The capital proposals set out below should therefore be 
considered alongside the change in practice proposed at the Hereford Leisure Pool. 

3



 

Estimated Capital Investment Required for the Hereford leisure pool 

To address some of 
the concerns raised 
by schools 

Relighting of corridor 
Non-slip flooring to link corridor 
Decoration and planting of link corridor 
Lowering of coat pegs and decoration of 2 changing 
areas 
Minor works to showers to provide privacy cubicles 
Minor improvement works to coach parking area to the 
front of the pool and repairs to steps including handrail 
provision 

Total costs estimated 

 

 

 

 

 

£35,250 

 

11. There has been discussion about the need for further works to take place, including 
a new footpath at the rear and a new link corridor between the changing area and 
the main pool.  Such works are estimated at approximately £125,000.  However, 
Members should note that other Halo pools do not provide the level of exclusive use 
to schools that such works would provide.  There is concern by some schools about 
the proximity of the public to school children.  Halo suggests that this should be 
considered in terms of reasonable management arrangements to ensure the transfer 
of children from buses or the entrance way to the pool. 

Sources of Capital Funding 

12. At present there is no guaranteed capital funding secured specifically for the above 
works at either pool.  There may be the possibility of using funding identified to 
support educational provision under a Section 106 agreement between the Council 
and Wimpey UK Ltd as part of the development of the Bradbury Lines site.  This has 
been discussed at a variety of meetings, but no formal agreement has been made to 
use this funding for capital works at either the LEA swimming pool or the Hereford 
Leisure Pool.  £182,000 has been received by the Council to spend on educational 
provision.  The term educational provision is generic and therefore could be used to 
cover swimming pool costs.  Phase two of the development at the Bradbury Lines 
site could release a further £100,000 for educational provision.  However, this money 
is not secured.   

13. There is at present insufficient time and capital identified to make the reopening of 
the LEA swimming pool a realistic option for September 2008.  The total estimated 
capital bill at present is £282,500 for the LEA swimming pool, compared with £35,250 
for the Herefordshire Leisure Pool.  Funding improvements of the Herefordshire 
Leisure Pool would enable Section 106 money to be spent elsewhere, to benefit 
pupils in different ways.  Some of the potential schemes that this money could 
contribute to are: 

• the remodelling of Blackmarston Special School (possible total cost £1m) 

• the extension of Aconbury Centre for an additional teaching area (estimated 
cost of £30,000) 

• Toilet improvements to St Martin’s Primary School (estimated costs of 
£40,000) 

4



Revenue Considerations 

14. Under the School Finance Regulations it is possible to retain a central budget not 
exceeding 0.1% of the Total Net Schools Budget.  This is the total budget comprised 
of the Dedicated Schools Grant, Learning and Skills Council income and Local 
Authority contributions.  For 2008/09 the amount that can be retained under these 
regulations is c. £88,000 (£87,666 to be exact.  In 2007/08 it was £78,456).  School 
funding regulations permit funding up to this limit to be used on any purpose 
additional to those education purposes set out in the regulations.  Whilst this amount 
may be used on projects in support of our schools, in recent years this amount has 
been used solely to support the LEA swimming pool. 

The LEA swimming pool 

15. In addition to this central budget schools have been charged £66 per hour to use the 
LEA swimming pool.  The LEA swimming pool has also been used by the Hereford 
Swimming Club who has been charged £32.80 per hour.  This is calculated to be 
significantly less than the true cost of their hourly use. 

16. Over many years the revenue costs of the LEA swimming pool have been in excess 
of the budget.  The total cost for 2007/08 was £163,641.  £50,673 was generated as 
income through charges to schools and clubs. £78,456 was covered by the central 
budget, leaving an overspend of £34,511.  The overspend in each of the past four 
years has been covered by the Directorate budget and from 2006 by the Dedicated 
Schools Grant. 

17. Members should note that energy prices have increased substantially over the past 
five years and that these price rises are accelerating.  £20,000 was spent on gas and 
electricity in 2003/04, £46,000 in 2007/08 and this was during a financial year when 
the LEA swimming pool was not open from January 2008.  Income has also fallen 
over a number of years.  This may be as a result of the Leominster pool opening and 
investment in other Halo pools, including the Herefordshire Leisure Pool, thereby 
creating alternative provision. 

18. Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee considered the matter of the LEA swimming 
pool on 21 April 2008, and requested that an independent swimming pool specialist 
give a view on the potential revenue costs of reopening the pool.  The consultant 
employed for this work was Mr Paul Cluett, Director of Quality Leisure Management 
Ltd.  The consultant’s report was prepared on the basis of information provided by 
Halo and the Council.  Staff costs were modelled on Halo’s terms and conditions. 

19. Full year revenue costs for a reopened LEA swimming pool are estimated by the 
consultant at approximately £171,000 per annum (excluding capital costs of 
£122,815 identified in the consultants report).  Even allowing for income estimated by 
the consultant at £58,180 this is considerably in excess of the maximum possible 
central budget set out in paragraph 17.  Actual income in 2007/08 was £50,673 
which includes clubs and schools.  The consultant report included the full costs of 
operating the pool to commercial industry standards.  These costs are dependent 
upon capital works being carried out.  Income assumes that all 38 primary schools 
would continue to use this pool. 

5



 

LEA swimming pool Consultant’s Report Covering Commercial 
Industrial Standards Costs 

 £’000 

Operating Costs 171 

Less Income -58 

Net Cost 113 

Maximum centrally 
retained budget 
(2008/09) 

88 

 

Loss of  25 

Previous information to Members and the consultation letter contained in Appendix 1 
assumed a centrally retained budget of £78,456 (for 2007/08).  The above assumes 
the maximum centrally retained budget available for 2008/09, detailed in paragraph 
17.  £68 per hour is the sum that Halo would charge from September if the 
arrangements from January 2008 were to continue. 

20. The table illustrates that without an increase in income the LEA swimming pool would 
operate at a loss.  This is unsustainable and if the LEA swimming pool were to 
reopen a clear business case, including guaranteed income from schools and clubs, 
wound need to be in place.  If fewer schools were to use the LEA swimming pool, 
and/or clubs did not generate the necessary income, the burden of risk would fall on 
the Council.  As paragraph 17 indicates the centrally retained budget within Children 
and Young People’s Directorate is limited through School Finance Regulations.  
Moreover, this sum will reduce as the fall in pupil numbers reduces the overall Total 
Net Schools Budget. 

Halo Hereford Leisure Pool 

21. In 2007/08 Halo charged primary schools £66 per hour for the use of the Hereford 
Leisure Pool.  This compared with £66 per hour charged at all the other leisure pools 
run by Halo, apart from Ledbury Pool at £63 per hour.  Halo will implement a 
standard charge of £68 for every pool from September 2008, including the Hereford 
Leisure Pool.  Halo are prepared to become the permanent alternative to the LEA 
swimming pool. 

Additional Considerations 

22. Cabinet should note that in addition to requesting a wider review of the financing of 
the LEA swimming pool, on 21 April 2008 Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee 
resolved that the Cabinet Member (Children’s Services) be recommended to 
consider: 

That works within the budget of £72,500 to reopen the St Martin’s Pool be 
undertaken, once sufficient schools had committed themselves for a 3 year 
period at a level of charge which would cover the net costs; 

 

6



It should be noted that there is no budget of £72, 500.  These were the costs as 
identified in paragraph 11. 

23. The South Wye Partnership has considered the possibility of a 'Quirk Transfer' but 
does not want to pursue this option.  Hereford Swimming Club has also felt that they 
could not take any responsibility for the Pool even though they would like to see it 
continue to operate. 

24. Schools Forum budget working group have been consulted on their willingness to 
support the retention of the c.£88,000 centrally retained element of funding from the 
Dedicated Schools Grant.  They recommended that the budget and subsidy be 
delegated to schools and on financial grounds that the LEA (St Martin’s) swimming 
pool be closed. 

25. Falling pupil numbers require on-going budget reductions in the central services 
provided to schools, in addition to the automatic budget reductions in schools 
resulting from fewer pupils.  If budget reductions are not achieved in the central 
budgets, including the LEA swimming pool, equivalent reductions will need to be 
found in school budgets 

Overall Financial Implications 

26. The report had indicated the possible financial implications of reopening the LEA 
swimming pool and the interim arrangements for using the Hereford Leisure Pool. 

27. The estimated capital requirements for the LEA pool is £282,500 over two years 
compared with £32,500 for Hereford Leisure Pool.  There is no identified capital 
finance for either specific requirement.  There is £182,000 of capital funding 
available from Section 106 monies for education provision.  Given the national 
curriculum requirement around swimming its use seems reasonable to support 
capital expenditure at either site (both of which are owned by the Council).  However, 
this would not prove sufficient to cover the costs identified for the LEA swimming 
pool.  Using all of it for the LEA swimming pool would not enable other possible 
projects for educational purposes to benefit from the Section 106 monies. 

28. The revenue position indicates that the LEA swimming pool has not met its costs 
over a number of years.  The recommended review period will enable Members to 
evaluate the effectiveness of interim arrangements.  Detailed information on potential 
costs and income will also be explored.  It will enable potential capital funding to be 
clarified. 

Risk Management 

29. From a service viewpoint, it is important to ensure children can access water facilities 
which allow them to learn to swim and meet National Curriculum requirements. 

30. Halo is willing to consider rescheduling the use of the various swimming tanks as 
detailed in Appendix 2 in time for schools to feel the full benefit, but is considering 
this alongside potential disruption to existing customers.  Halo are concerned that if 
they are unable to reschedule to the extent set out in Appendix 2 prior to January 
2009, some schools may express dissatisfaction which may affect the reputation of 
the pool. 

7



31. Options of either investing in the Hereford Leisure Pool or the LEA swimming pool 
are set out in the report.  A further variation which has been raised is the transfer of 
the LEA swimming pool to another body by Quirk agreement but this would be 
unlikely to be successful until after the Council has made significant capital 
investment to return it to a suitable state for use.  Capital has not been identified to 
meet such costs.  This option would also not overcome the inherent high cost in 
operating that pool and the consequent costs to schools. 

Consultees 

Schools 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Letter and Consultation responses. 

Appendix 2 – School Use of Hereford Leisure Pool Complex (Term time only) 

Background Papers 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee paper April 2008 

8



Appendix 1 
 
 
Responses from Headteachers, collated by Mr Moynihan, Headteacher of St Mary’s C of E 
Primary School, Credenhill 

 

School Comments 

Broadlands Primary School As always I support what you are doing John and if I can help in 
any way do contact me 
 

Brockhampton Primary School I don’t use the LEA pool as we swim at Tenbury. However, I felt 
I ought to just reply to your email and support what you are 
doing. It would be interesting to see how many schools are 
considering canceling swimming altogether as this could be a 
powerful part of the persuasion process. 
 

Dilwyn CE Primary School This doesn't affect me or our school directly as we go to 
Leominster for our swimming. and will continue to because it's 
relatively local. 
In case it's of any use, I'll give you my general views.  
If we were closer to Hereford I would certainly choose the LEA 
pool rather than Leominster, as it is more suitable for school 
purposes in terms of design of both the changing facilities and 
the pool itself. 
 

Holmer CE Primary School The Leisure Pool is not suitable or satisfactory. 
Do the Directorate understand that? 
We need a solution but is has to be affordable. 
We cannot afford to pay an excessive hire charge because the 
cost of travel and tuition go on top of that. 
There should be a universal provision for the County and the 
charge should be the same for all schools. 
We need to find out what the DCSF expects of councils in the 
way of their duties to provide suitable pools. 
What happens elsewhere? 
I also think my idea of capital expenditure to take over the pool’s 
repairs is a possibility. 
 

Kings Caple Primary School I am very concerned that the situation re; swimming in 
Herefordshire is becoming extremely difficult. If we have to pay 
additional costs it will be a problem for some of our parents and 
we cannot subsidise swimming more than we already do out of 
the school budget. 
The Leisure pool has been a reasonable interim measure but 
cannot be used on a long term basis as the splash pool is 
unsuitable for swimming lessons. We recently had a very 
worrying incident where one of our younger children nearly 
drowned after getting out of her depth and the shape and size of 
the pool make it difficult to teach any skills to the children. The 
teaching pool is too shallow and the main pool is too deep for 
the younger children. We have always prided ourselves on 
being able to offer swimming for the whole school, all year 
round. This is now in jeopardy. 
We moved to the LEA pool after an incident at the Ross Pool 
when a member of the public took his clothes off in the shower 
in full view of the boys changing in the changing rooms. The 
staff did not seem to feel that this was a serious incident! And 
considered that the changing rooms should be available to the 
public while the children were using them… 
I sincerely hope that we can use the LEA pool in the future and 
that the costs will not be prohibitive. I believe there is a 
Government agenda that all children should be able to swim for 
free! 9



Kingstone and Thruxton  
Primary School 

Thank you for your recent reminder email regarding the 
swimming pool. I would just like to add our name to the list of 
concerned schools. We have been involved in discussions with 
John Moynihan before and I am sure there is nothing I can say 
as regards reasons / concerns about continued use of the 
HALO pool that has not already been said.  But I would like to 
endorse those concerns.  We feel very strongly that the quality 
of swimming teaching and progress has slowed significantly 
since we have been using HALO and that a return to the LA 
pool at St. Martins is the only reasonable solution. 

Ledbury Primary School Regarding the swimming we are still having ongoing problems 
at Ledbury with Halo.  Members of the public still undress in 
front of our children and Halo are a nightmare to work with.  We 
have no choice but to use these facilities in Ledbury but I would 
highly recommend having the LA pool back in action in 
Hereford. 

Little Dewchurch CE Primary School As I understand it, we presently pay £32.80 for half an hour’s 
tuition each week.  Under the first option, this would rise to £53 
per week.  If this is the only way to retain the LA pool, then I 
would vote for that option. I really am not happy with the 
situation at the Leisure pool, despite their attempts at reassuring 
us that the service would improve.  Would we be guaranteed in 
writing that the main pool and diving pool would be available 
every week? At present we have only the splash pool, which is 
really unsuitable for swimming lessons. There is no point in 
spending money on sub-standard provision. 
Is there any date for when the LA pool might be open? I 
presume the present unsatisfactory situation will continue in 
September.  If I am only offered the splash pool, I am 
considering discontinuing swimming lessons until we have 
proper provision again. 

Longtown Primary School Longtown would dearly love to see the LEA pool remain open – 
even if the cost went up to £106 per hour.  We would find some 
way initially of funding the increased cost of £21 per week.  I 
spent many hours years ago trying to optimise our swimming 
provision – I wouldn’t like to lose it now.  However, we would not 
cancel our swimming lessons at the Leisure pool, albeit a 
second class option, but may reduce our take up. 

Marden Primary School I apologise for not communicating my thoughts with regards to 
the LEA pool sooner. 
As you are aware we made a decision here at Marden Primary 
School to not swim at the Leisure Pool after Easter due to 
Health and Safety reasons and the poor provision that the 
children were receiving. We still stand by that decision. We wish 
for the LEA pool to be re-opened and swimming lessons to 
recommence there.  
 

Michaelchurch Escley Primary School We would happily pay the higher rate to go back to the LEA 
pool, otherwise we shall be looking to cross the border into 
WALES and take our swimmers to Hay or Abergavenny and the 
council will lose our custom altogether. 

Much Birch Primary School Like my colleagues am wholly dissatisfied with the current 
provision provided at the city pool following the closure of the 
LEA Pool. I have contacted the cabinet and other councillors 
who have failed to even reply to any of my e-mails perhaps 
unlike me they do not find it sufficiently of importance for 
Headteachers to be entered into dialogue with regarding this 
matter. I have had good support from my own councillor Richard 
Smith who has tried to support a dialogue in order to keep the 
pool open. How many other councillors will be even aware of 
what is about to happen!! 
We have had little hard factual costings on which to base any 
decision. 10



The City Pool has very limited provision for our children at 
present. They are only be taught in the totally unsatisfactory 
wave pool and diving pool. This does not give pupils an 
opportunity to build up stroke stamina, are hard to teach due to 
the height of the wall in the wave pool and are too tightly packed 
for proper instruction to take place. My parents are furious that 
the LEA pool is likely to be closed and they too find the current 
arrangements unsatisfactory. 
I feel this closure could be yet another sign of the deterioration 
in provision for pupils in Herefordshire when they are talking 
constantly about raising standards. Once gone like school 
kitchens this pool will be mourned and it will never come back 
but only in a form where money proves the deciding factors. 
I hope councillors will support Heads in our desire to keep the 
pool open why not ask the electorate what they think! 

Peterchurch Primary School I fully support the campaign to re-open the LEA pool and will be 
willing to pay £106 per hour to retain it. We have our own 
learner pool here but value the deep water experience our 
children receive at the LEA pool. We would probably not use 
Halo next year with the arrangements as they are due too the 
completely unsuitable facilities for those children who have to go 
in the Leisure pool which is too shallow in many cases and with 
that big wall most unsuitable for teaching. I also remain 
concerned about health and safety issues and therefore have to 
send a very high number of staff to supervise during the 
sessions. 
 

St Francis Xavier’s RC Primary 
School 

I will be writing to the parents in Key Stage Two to tell them that 
we will not be going swimming next year as the Leisure Pool is 
unsuitable. I will also canvass the parents regarding the extra 
cost of having to pay for the L.E.A. Pool if it is reopened. 
(approx. £1 a week). The suggestion has also made that we 
could consider going to Leominster Pool as – time wise – it is a 
similar journey. I will investigate this.  
I hope that the heads in the other 36 schools do the same. If 
everyone refuses to use the Leisure Pool then action might be 
taken. 
 

St Paul’s Primary School I hope that the Cabinet can find a way to support school 
swimming. St Paul’s CE Primary organises swimming lessons 
for all eight, nine and ten year old pupils and over the years 
there have been almost no non swimmers leaving our school. 
Without a suitable pool this situation will not continue, children 
unable to swim will be leaving our school. The teachers who are 
currently accompanying the pupils to the Leisure Pool have told 
me that the water depth is not suitable for the range of 
swimmers we have, it is too shallow or too limited for the novice 
swimmers to build their stamina and the shared public 
arrangements are not conducive to a lesson environment. I 
believe that I will have to end our swimming traditions. What a 
testimony to the vision of our community leaders closing the 
school pool will be. With a heavy heart I implore them to keep 
searching. This is a really important matter. 

St Mary’s CE Primary School 
(Fownhope) 

I can confirm St. Mary’s total support for the reopening of the LA 
pool even if this means at a higher rate. 
You know my strength of feeling on the matter and like you and 
others, if the option is Leisure pool or nothing, we’ll choose not 
to swim. 

11



 

St Thomas Cantilupe  
Primary School 

The children of Herefordshire would be best served by the 
capital investment being put into essentially rebuilding the St. 
Martin’s Pool.   Were this to be properly staffed and run as a 
business, letting out to swimming / training clubs in the evenings 
and weekends (possible public opening on Saturday and 
Sunday) I believe it would be a profitable concern as has been 
the case in the past.   The figures presented showing a huge 
loss year on year were incomplete, as discussed at the meeting, 
and give a somewhat biased viewpoint and do not take all 
factors into account. 
Despite the increasing restraints on my school budget, I would 
far rather face an increased hourly charge than lose St. Martin’s 
pool.   Currently the facilities that we are paying for at the leisure 
pool are appalling and certainly not value for money. 
The case for investment at the public swimming pool is a cause 
for concern.   Even if the investment provides a private 
entrance, changing facilities, showers and dedicated access to 
the pools (with non-slip flooring) that works well, Herefordshire 
adults will still face the loss of swimming facilities from 9-12.00 
and 1-3.00 pm every day.   What about patrons who have 
purchased an annual or monthly subscription to be able to use 
these facilities daily?   It seems to me that schools will bear the 
negative publicity around such a move rather than the decision 
makers who would close their purpose built facility.   
Herefordshire is a county which has a paucity of public leisure 
facilities when compared to many other towns and cities in 
England and Wales.   Surely we need more sport / leisure 
facilities and not less? 
Herefordshire people are slow to demonstrate their disapproval, 
but feelings were made perfectly clear when the proposed 
school closures became public.   This could also be the case 
were Cabinet decide to close St. Martin’s pool and allow Halo 
the autonomy to determine our children’s swimming provision 
for the foreseeable future. 
Whilst the offer of the use of the main pool and the training pool 
by Halo to Herefordshire schools promises to be a vast 
improvement on the inadequate and dirty leisure pool, I just 
wonder what the knock on effect will be on the general public. 

Wellington Primary School Would wish to see the LEA pool reopened.  We agree in 
principle with your comments, but wish to point out that with the 
ever increasing cost of transporting our children to the pool, 
along with the tuition/pool hire fees, we are asking our 
parents/carers to pay for a school lesson which is approaching 
the cost of a good ‘small group’ lesson. 

Withington Primary School As I said yesterday, fully supportive of LA pool and yes a small 
price (comparatively!) to pay if fees increase. Withington would 
much prefer LA pool and option of Leisure pool has at best been 
a 'stop gap'. 

 
The four Headteachers representing the other Schools would like to make it known 
they are in favour of the St Martin’s Pool being reopened  

- Mr J Moynihan (St Mary’s CE Primary School – Credenhill) 
- Mr E McGilp (St Martin’s Primary School) 
- Mr A Thomas (Holme Lacy Primary School) 
- Mrs A Taylor (St Mary’s CE Primary School – Fownhope) 

12



 

 
Responses received directly by the local authority  
 

Mr Pugh, Chair of Primary Heads 
Forum 

As a member of the Education Scrutiny Committee, I received a copy 
of John Moynihan’s letter, dated 27th June, exhorting the cabinet to re-
open St Martin’s Pool. The letter implies that Mr Moynihan’s group has 
the backing of the Primary Heads’ Forum, and is written on behalf of 
the Forum. This is not the case. Mr Moynihan has addressed the 
Forum on several occasions, and no doubt has some support amongst 
colleague heads, but the Forum has not voted on the issue, and has 
no identified ‘corporate’ view. Mr Moynihan makes some valid points in 
his letter, and there are health and safety and child protection issues 
that need to be considered very carefully before a final decision is 
taken. Nevertheless, the St Martin’s pool issue is essentially one for 
city schools. Even though my own school uses the pool, as Chair of 
the Forum I have to take the wider view that other county schools 
should not subsidise city schools’ swimming. 

Marlbrook Whilst the HALO pool isn’t perfect, I think the St Martins pool will be a 
‘white elephant’ – George however said the charges would be £60-80, 
not £106 ……. Could this be clarified, but still think HALO better long 
term option. 

 

 
 
 
In addition to the above responses, Cabinet has also received the following submissions: 
 
 
Petition 
A 261 signature petition, organised by Otto Putland, supporting the reopening of the LEA Pool.  
A covering note from Otto, addressed to Members of the Council Cabinet, reads: 
 
“This is just part of a petition I have started to gain support for the re-opening of the LEA 
Swimming Pool.  The remainder will follow.  Please reconsider the options available.  Please do 
not make decisions based on financial factors.  There should be another pool provided before 
you agree to the permanent closure.”   
 
 
Portfolio of letters from pupils school pupils 
A portfolio entitled “Save the LEA Pool” and consisting of 20 letters from pupils in Year 5 at St 
Mary’s C of E Primary School, Credenhill.  All the letters are addressed to Cllr Matthews.  The 
letters express the pupils’ wish to see the LEA Pool reopen and their concerns with the 
alternative provision at the Hereford Leisure Centre.  Specifically, the concerns expressed are: 
 

• The safety of children using the Hereford Leisure Centre at the same time as the public.  
The LEA Pool provides for the exclusive use for schools. 

• Leisure Centre pool floors being slippery. 

• A child trapped his fingers in a door at the Leisure Centre.  

• Economic consideration versus the cost of a child’s life through being unable to swim 
adequately. 

• Spend money on opening the pool, not on Council offices. 

• Leisure pool is too deep and crammed. 

• LEA pool will help address child obesity. 

• Leisure centre teaching pool is too shallow. 

• Safer for children to use the toilets at the LEA Pool. 

• Do not get enough time in Leisure pool because distance to walk to changing rooms eats 
into swimming time available.  Should get 30 minutes tuition time in the pool, but only 
getting 15 minutes. 

13



          Appendix 2 

School Use of Hereford Leisure Pool Complex 
(Term time only) 

        

        

  

Current 
times to 
Dec 08 (at 
the latest)   

Proposed times from Jan 2009 
 
 

Main 
Swimming 
Pool -      

Mon -   10.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.00   

Tues -   10.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.00   

Wed -   10.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.00   

Thu -   10.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.00   

Fri -   10.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.00   

            

            

Teaching 
Pool           

Mon 1.00 - 3.30   9.00 - 9.30 11.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.30 

Tue 1.00 - 2.00   9.00 - 10.00 11.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 2.00 

Wed 1.00 - 3.30   9.00 - 9.30 11.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.30 

Thu -   9.00 - 10.00 11.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.00 

Fri 2.00 - 3.30   9.00 - 9.30 11.00 - 12.00 1.00 - 3.30 

            

            

Leisure Pool           

Mon -         

Tue -         

Wed 2.00 - 3.00         

Thu 9.30 - 10.00         

Fri       9.30 - 10.00   

 

 
   

14



Children & Young People's Directorate 
Director: Dr. S. Menghini 

All Primary Schools Your Ref: 

Our Ref: 

Please ask for: 

Direct Line / Extension: 

Fax:

E-mail: 

GS/AH 

George Salmon 

01432 260802 

01432 260808 

gsalmon@herefordshire.gov.uk 

2 June 2008 

Dear Headteacher 

Many of you will be aware of the debate over the future of the St. Martin’s Swimming Pool.  A report 
on this pool will be submitted to the Cabinet on 12 June 2008.  There is no doubt about the value 
that this facility has given in the past.  The current debate centres on the capital investment needed 
now and in the future and the continuing revenue cost of running the pool. 

In terms of revenue cost, an independent consultant has now reported that it is reasonable to 
expect that the net running costs will be approximately £137,000 per annum.  This assumes that the 
current level of school usage would be maintained, and income would reflect charges of £66.00 per 
hour.  This net cost is to be expected, whoever manages the pool. 

There is a further complication in that it is against L.M.S regulations to retain a central budget over 
0.1% of the total net Schools Budget.  This equates to £87,000.  The options would appear to be: 

a) Retain St Martin’s Pool with a £87,000 central budget.  The shortfall would be met by 
increasing hourly charges to schools who use it to £106.00 per hour. 

b) Retain St Martin’s Pool, delegate the £87,000 to all Primary Schools, and increase hourly 
rates to £208.00 per hour to schools who use it. 

c) Close St Martin’s Pool and delegate the £87,000 to all Primary Schools and establish an 
hourly charge for all HALO managed pools at a level between £66.00 and £80.00 per hour 
depending on services offered. 

The latter appears to be the only viable way forward, but if any schools believe either option a) or b) 
or a variation of this is possible please let me know, as the views of schools will be reported to 
Cabinet on 12 June 2008 as long as they are received by 11 June 2008 

Yours sincerely 

GEORGE SALMON 
HEAD OF COMMISSIONING AND IMPROVEMENT – SCHOOLS AND SERVICES 

Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

County of Herefordshire District Council, PO Box 185, Blackfriars Street, Hereford  HR4 9ZR 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
15



16



 

 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Michael Peters, Interim Head of Services on (01432) 260804 

  

VLEcabinetreportJuly2008v80.doc                                                                                                                                                                                                    Page 1 of 4  

VIRTUAL LEARNING ENVIRONMENT 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

CABINET 31 JULY 2008 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

Following consultation with schools, the report seeks formal approval of the virtual learning 
environment (VLE) platform arrangements and signing of the contract with the preferred 
supplier of the VLE service. 

Key Decision  

This is a Key Decision because it is likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure above 
£500,000 and is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working 
in Herefordshire in an area comprising one or more wards. 

It was not included in the Forward Plan however inclusion in the agenda gives the required 
notice in accordance with Section 15 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Access to Information) Regulations 2000. 

Recommendation 

THAT the strategy for providing a virtual learning environment for schools be agreed 
and that the contract with the preferred supplier be approved for signature. 

Reasons 

1. The reasons for the recommendation are that following a procurement process a 
preferred supplier has been selected to provide a virtual learning environment for 
schools in the county. This will enable them to meet requirements for an online 
learning platform. 

Considerations 

2. The then DfES strategy to transform learning in schools and children’s services 
focuses on what the technology can do for informing and advising citizens, for 
supporting children, young people, and adult learners in their encounters with the 
system, and for transforming the experience of learning. There are six requirements 
of the strategy:  

 

• An integrated online information service for all citizens. 

• Integrated online personal support for children and learners. 

• A collaborative approach to personalised learning activities. 

• A good quality ICT training and support package for teachers & practitioners. 

AGENDA ITEM 5

17



 

                                                                                                                                                Page 2 of 4 

• A leadership and development package for organisational capability in ICT. 

• A common digital infrastructure to support transformation and reform in schools. 
 

3. To deliver the strategy the DCSF introduced a number of grants, most recently the 
Harnessing Technology Grant (HTG). Guidance for the use of the grant was issued by 
The British Educational Communications and Technology Agency, (BECTA) at the end 
of November 2007, which was subsequently modified in January 2008. The Council 
followed BECTA guidance and framework to procure the VLE service. 

 
4. In line with other local authorities, the county adopted a strategy to establish an online 

platform to support personalised learning and to achieve far greater integration of 
information to support improvement in quality of teaching, learning and 
communication. The provision of the service was put out to tender. The Council 
established a Partnership Project Board, (including school representatives), to manage 
the procurement of the service. The Project Board recommended that the preferred 
contractor be Netmedia.  

 
5. Schools will receive capital and revenue resources to enable them to deliver their 

responsibilities for a virtual learning environment for learners. The key resource comes 
from the 3 year Harnessing Technology Grant, (HTG). The first year is £1.32m. This 
grant is a capital allocation and cannot be used to support revenue services. 

 
6. The conditions of the HTG are that 75% must be devolved to schools. It is proposed to 

devolve almost 98% of the grant, retaining £25k for purchasing central servers. As 
indicated earlier the grant devolution proposed is: 

 

• Secondary Schools:       £26,250 flat rate + £27 per pupil. 

• Primary Schools:   £3,550 flat rate + £27 per pupil. 
 

7.     It is anticipated that each school will use its resources in 2008/09 to secure: 
 

• Broadband costs for 2008/09. 

• Hands on support to enable effective use of ICT in schools and  

• First line support for the virtual learning environment (VLE). 
 
In the first year the VLE itself will be at no charge to the schools as this service was 
paid for as part of the pre contract agreement with the provider Netmedia. 

 
8. Schools have expressed a range of concerns about the overall approach to meeting 

this requirement of establishing an online platform. These concerns included: 
 

• The length of time to agree a contract with the preferred provider. 

• Having sufficient resources in the right format to provide the service. 

• Quality and clarity of ICT support services to schools from services across the 
Council. 

• Clarity on what the virtual learning environment will be and how pupils and staff 
will access it. 

 
9. The proposals agreed by the Schools Forum were to: 
 

• Proceed with Netmedia to establish the VLE and use pre paid resources to 
provide a service to schools at no charge for Year 1. 

• Provide schools with Service Agreements for traded and base budget ICT 
support services from Children and Young People’s Services and Corporate 

18



 

                                                                                                                                                Page 3 of 4 

Services seeking ‘buy in’ from schools for services covering ICT support for 
schools. 

 

Financial Implications 

10. The per school cost and the overall Netmedia costs for the contract period are as 
follows:  
 

 Year 1 
2008/09 

£ 

Year 2 
2009/10 

£ 

Year 3 
20020/11 

£ 

Per Primary School 
cost 

0 1,271 1,305 

Per Secondary 
School cost 

0 3,861 3,945 

Netmedia Cost 180,542 179,542 183,725 

 

11. The above confirms that schools will not be charged with any revenue costs for the 
contract with Netmedia in 2008/9. 

12. The contract is for three years with an option to terminate after the first twelve 
months. There are no financial implications to the Council provided the contract is 
effective. However schools will have to use their own revenue funding to purchase 
the VLE services from Netmedia in years 2 and 3 from their Dedicated Schools Grant 
funding.  

13. The Council will issue schools with guidance on expenditure categories covered by 
the Harnessing Technology Grant (HTG).  Schools will be required to follow the 
guidance. 

14. The Council will meet the HTG requirements by delegating 98% of the funding thus 
exceeding the 75% requirement. The levels of delegation are covered at paragraph 
7. 

15. Voluntary Aided schools cannot recover VAT. Their capital expenditure may incur 
VAT which will be non recoverable. The HTG allocations to schools have taken 
account of this and VA schools have received an adjusted amount to reflect this 
position. 

Legal Implications 

16. The Council will be entering into a legally binding contract with Netmedia. A clause 
reflecting the option to terminate after twelve months has already been inserted into 
the draft. As the VLE will utilise children’s personal data the contract should also 
contain a robust security plan to ensure that data is properly protected and only used 
in accordance with the relevant legislation.  

19



 

                                                                                                                                                Page 4 of 4 

Risk Management 

17. The key risks are: 

a)  Schools choosing not 
to purchase the service 

The service is at no cost to the schools until April 2009. 
A first line of support will be established using staff well 
known to schools. This should enable schools to 
access the service effectively. A robust change 
management plan should be created to ensure schools 
are fully aware of the benefits of the Netmedia VLE. 

b)  Netmedia does not 
provide the service quality 
required  

The BECTA framework agreement was used as a 
basis for the contract and Legal Services were 
involved in the initial negotiations. Concluding 
negotiations were led by the Director. There will be 
regular reviews with the provider to assure quality. A 
project board was established supported by a 
Corporate Programmes project manager 

 

Alternative Options 

18. There are no Alternative Options. 

Consultees 

19. The consultees included schools, Schools Forum 

Appendices 

20. None. 

Background Papers 

These should be: 

Presentation to Heads from 19 June 2008. 

Schools Forum report 3 July 2008 including the proposed allocation of HTG to schools. 

Illustration of schools income and expenditure for ICT. 

Project Board notes and minutes including recommendations from the Head of ICT. 

Papers showing the procurement process and decisions made. 

20



 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Tony Geeson, Head of 
Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE AND FINANCE REPORT 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CORPORATE, CUSTOMER SERVICES  

AND HUMAN RESOURCES 

CABINET 31 JULY 2008 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To report performance for the whole of the operating year 2007-08 against the 
Annual Operating Plan 2007-08, Best Value Performance Indicators, and the 
Direction of Travel indicators used previously by the Audit Commission. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision   

Recommendations 

THAT  

(i) performance in 2007-08 be noted; and 

(ii) Directors ensure that the issues are addressed within their 

respective areas, including the updating of service 

improvement plans. 

Reasons 

The Council’s current Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s objectives, priorities and 
targets for the three years 2007-10.  The Annual Operating Plan (AOP) is the 
detailed action plan for the first of these years, 2007-08; it includes all the indicators 
in the Local Public Service Agreement (LPSA), the Local Area Agreement (LAA) and 
the Herefordshire Community Strategy (HCS), as well as the Council’s own 
indicators. 

Considerations 

1. The end-of-year report is only 1 element of the overall Performance 
Improvement Framework, which includes external assessments such as the 
annual assessments of Children’s and Adults Services.  The structure of this 
report covers performance against: 

• the council’s priorities, as contained in the Annual Operating Plan (AOP) 

AGENDA ITEM 6

21



2007-08 (paragraphs 3-6); 

• Best Value Performance Indicators (paragraphs 7-8); and 

• Direction of Travel indicators (paragraphs 9-14). 

2. The content of future performance reports is currently being agreed by the 
Joint management Team, who will be developing the performance 
improvement culture and systems of the Council, Herefordshire Public 
Services and the Herefordshire Partnership to meet future requirements in 
respect of improving services for customers; providing value for money; and, 
delivering the Local Area Agreement, whilst recognising the requirements of 
the forthcoming Comprehensive Area Assessment.  Service Improvement 
Plans have been developed for each of the Council’s services as the basis for 
improved performance in 2008-09. 

Highlights 

• 32% (36 of 111) of Council-lead AOP indicators achieved target. 

• 36% (40 of 111) of Council-lead AOP indicators failed to achieve target. 

• The number of LPSA indicators marked R is 12 (compared to 6 at the end 
of January. 

• The number of LAA indicators marked R is 33 (compared to 17 at the end 
of January). 

• 64% of BVPIs improved, compared to 68% in 2006-07. 

• 63% of Direction of Travel indicators improved compared to 74% in 2007. 

• 77% of Direction of Travel indicators have improved over the last 3 years, 
compared to 51% last year. 

• These figures show that whilst performance against the majority of 
indicators continued to improve, performance against the targets in the 
Annual Operating Plan was more mixed. 

• In terms of two of the Council’s top priorities: 

- Older People and Healthier Communities - 88% of indicators used in 
the Direction of Travel assessment improved, but only 1 of 8 indicators 
in the AOP achieved target; and 

- Children and Young People - 81% of indicators improved over the 
year, but only one-third of AOP indicators achieved target. 

• Many targets were set with the intention of achieving top quartile 
performance.   Despite the improvement in a large proportion of indicators, 
the pace of service improvement needs to be increased and sustained to 
achieve the Council's ambitions and match the expected national pace of 
improvement for leading councils. 

22



• Based on relevant performance indicator outturns, the Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment (CPA) service judgements for Environment and 
Culture are expected to remain at a score of 3; the Housing score should 
improve from a 1 in 2007 to a 3 when confirmed at the beginning of 2009. 

• The remaining CPA service scores for Benefits, Children and Young 
People, Social Care (Adults) and Use of Resources are provided by 
external agencies such as the Benefit Fraud Inspectorate, Ofsted, CSCI 
and the Audit Commission, and will not be available until later in the year.  
However, it is not expected that there will be a significant variance from 
last year’s assessments. 

• The overall CPA judgement for the Council, to be announced in 2009, is 
predicted to show maintenance of a 2* rating (out of 4) for the Council.  

Council Priorities (The Annual Operating Plan) 2007-08 

3. The Council’s Corporate Plan 2007-10 set out the Council’s objectives, 
priorities and targets. The Annual Operating Plan (AOP) was the detailed 
action plan for the first of these years, 2007-08, and was updated to include 
the indicators in the Local Public Service Agreement (LPSA), Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) and Herefordshire Community Strategy (HCS). 

4. It should be noted that the a ‘zero tolerance’ approach has been taken in the 
assessment of performance for these indicators, judgement being made 
purely on the basis of whether or not targets have been achieved; if they 

haven’t they are marked R.  This does not necessarily mean that performance 
has deteriorated.   Indeed, for a number of indicators there has been 
significant improvement in the past 12 months, and this would have been 
reflected in the direction of travel summary.  

5. Appendix 1 shows outturn for each of the AOP indicators on which the 

Council leads.  The increase in the number of indicators marked R and G 
reflects the availability of year-end data allowing for a more accurate 
judgment of performance.  19 of the indicators have been judged Amber at 
year-end; these are perception/ satisfaction indicators, for which there was no 
significant variance over the period, so it is not possible to say with any 
confidence whether or not the target had been achieved. 

6. The table below shows performance against each of the Council’s priorities 
for 2007-08. 

23



Judgement  Priority No. of 
Indicators 

Red Amber Green n/a
1
 

Securing the essential infrastructure 
for a successful economy 

3 0 0 2 1 

Giving effective community leadership 1 0 0 0 1 

Improving transport and the safety of 
roads 

9 3 1 5 0 

Maximising the health, safety, 
economic well-being, achievements 
and contribution of every child 

30 17 0 10 3 

Sustaining thriving communities 36 6 16 7 7 

Reshaping adult social care to enable 
vulnerable adults to live independently 
and, in particular, to enable many 
more older people to continue to live in 
their own homes 

8 6 1 1 0 

Protecting the environment 10 2 0 4 4 

Understanding the needs and 
preferences of service users and 
Council Tax-payers, and tailoring 
services accordingly 

2 0 1 1 0 

Recruiting, retaining and motivating 
high quality staff 

4 3 0 1 0 

Embedding corporate planning, 
performance management and project 
management systems 

3 0 0 3 0 

Promoting diversity and community 
harmony 

4 2 0 2 0 

Ensuring that essential assets are in 
the right condition for the long–term 
cost-effective delivery of services, and 
ensure business continuity in the face 
of emergencies 

1 1 0 0 0 

Total number of indicators (with last 

report’s judgements in brackets) 

111 40 

(25) 

19 

(43) 

36 

(27) 

16 

(16) 

                                                

1
 16 indicators have been considered as not suitable for awarding a judgement, essentially because 
they are either tracker indicators (indicators that are unlikely to be affected by actions over a short 
period, such as climate change) or indicators that require a baseline to be set during the year. 

24



Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs) 

7. Appendix 2 shows outturns for 2007-08.  64% of BVPIs have improved in the 
past year, compared to a 68% improvement in 2006-07.   

8. The graph below shows the levels of improvement for BVPIs over the last 3 
years. 

BVPI Improvement

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2005-06 2006-07 2007-08

%
 o

f 
P
Is Improvement

Deterioration

No Change

 

Direction of Travel 

9. Each year, as part of the Comprehensive Performance Assessment, the Audit 
Commission issues a Direction of Travel assessment for each local authority, 
an important part of which is based on the Council’s improvement compared 
with the previous year against a selection of performance indicators.  The 
direction of travel assessment is intended to reflect a council’s progress 
towards achieving improvement in the services it delivers to the public.  It is 
reported alongside the council’s CPA category. 

10. 63% of indicators have improved in the last 12 months, compared to 74% in 
2007.  This rate of improvement lies within the 60.8-63.2% average of single-
tier authorities in 2007. 

11. The graph below shows the levels of improvement over 12 months and 3 
years. 

25



DoT Indicator Improvement

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2006 2007 2008

%
 o

f 
P
Is

Annual Improvement

3-year Improvement

 

12. Over a 3-year period, there has been a considerable rise, from a 
comparatively low base, in the proportion of indicators improving: 77% 
compared to 51% in 2007.  The average for single-tier authorities in 2007 was 
61.9-64.1%. 

13. Appendix 3 shows the indicators used in previous Direction of Travel 
assessments, on which the above assessment has been made. It indicates 
which indicators have improved, deteriorated or stayed the same.  The areas 
of Corporate Health, Regulation and Sustainable Communities & 
Transportation have seen a slight dip in performance.  In respect of the latter 
two areas, the fall in performance is against particularly high levels of 
performance achieved in 2007. 

14. The areas of Older People and Healthier Communities, and Children and 
Young People each have a large number of indicators that are part of the 
direction of travel set.  The disproportionately high level of improvement in 
these areas enabled the Council to achieve a decent overall improvement 
figure (63%).  If these areas are taken out of the equation, the percentage 
improvement would be only 54%. 

Alternative Options 

None. 

Risk Management 

The main risk is that the key points to emerge from this report will not be addressed, 
that further improvement will not be achieved (particularly as regards the Council’s 
new Corporate Plan priorities), and that this will be reflected in adverse judgements 
under the Comprehensive Area Assessment in 2009. 

This will be avoided if directors ensure that the issues are picked up and addressed 
within their respective areas, updating service improvement plans accordingly.  This 
will be tested as part of the upcoming review meetings between the Leader, Chief 
Executive, lead Cabinet members and directors. 

26



Consultees 

Partners are involved in delivery of the Local Public Service Agreement, Local Area 
Agreement and Herefordshire Community Strategy. 

Background Papers 

None identified. 

27



28



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

G A R

n
/a

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

Baseline

Target

Outturn

Judgement

3
0

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
- 
G
 o
r 

e
q
u
iv
. 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 M
a
th
s
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
lis
h
 (
L
E
A
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
)

� ���
� ���

� ���
9
2
.8
0
%

=
>
9
6
%

M
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
, 
s
a
fe
ty
, 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
, 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
e
v
e
ry
 c
h
il
d

T
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 a
re
 l
is
te
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
e
a
c
h
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 t
u
rn
. 
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 l
e
d
 b
y
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
re
 l
is
te
d
 a
t 
th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 a
p
p
e
n
d
ix
.

K
E
Y

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
in
d
ic
a
to
r

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
v
e
r 
a
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
 p
e
ri
o
d
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 l
it
tl
e
 o
r 
n
o
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 b
u
t 
d
a
ta
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 t
o
 s
h
o
w
 t
h
e
 r
a
te
 o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 a
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
te
rm

 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e

E
it
h
e
r 
th
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
 f
o
r 
m
e
a
s
u
ri
n
g
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 
o
r 
n
o
 t
a
rg
e
t 
is
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
r 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

T
a
rg
e
t 
m
is
s
e
d
 o
r 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 m
is
s
e
d

S
o
m
e
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
/d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 s
o
 n
o
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
 t
re
n
d

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r

P
la
n
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
is
 

fr
o
m

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
s
 p
e
r 
A
O
P

A
O
P
 t
a
rg
e
t

IP
R
 j
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
t

R
e
d
, 
G
re
e
n
 o
r 
A
m
b
e
r 
(s
e
e
 

K
E
Y
 a
b
o
v
e
)

C
o
u
n
c
il 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

29



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

1
H
C
S

R
a
ti
o
 o
f 
e
a
rn
in
g
s
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 W

e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 R
e
g
io
n

� ���
0
.9
4
:1

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

0
.8
9
:1

n
/a

2
H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
V
A
T
 r
e
g
is
te
re
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s

� ���
� ���

8
,5
2
0

2
%
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e

4
.1
%

(8
,8
7
0
)

G

3
H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 i
n
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 a
n
d
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 i
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 

in
d
u
s
tr
ie
s

� ���
� ���

� ���
9
,3
3
9

(2
0
0
3
)

=
>
1
0
,2
8
6

1
0
,9
2
3

(2
0
0
6
)

G

1
2

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 3
0
m
in
s
 o
f 
m
o
d
e
ra
te
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
t 

le
a
s
t 
5
 d
a
y
s
 p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 (
a
d
u
lt
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
)

� ���
4
7
%

N
o
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d

-
n
/a

5
2

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 (
a
ll 
a
g
e
s
) 
k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 o
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 r
o
a
d
s

� ���
� ���

� ���
1
1
9

<
=
1
3
4

1
3
3

G

9
9

H
C

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s

6
6
3

<
=
7
8
8

7
1
3

G

6
H
C
S

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 t
h
a
t 
u
s
u
a
lly
 

tr
a
v
e
l 
to
 w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 m
a
in
 j
o
b
 b
y
 d
ri
v
in
g
 a
 c
a
r 
o
r 
v
a
n
 -
 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

o
w
n
 (
M
e
th
o
d
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
to
 W

o
rk
)

� ���
6
1
%

<
=
5
7
%

5
8
%

A

7
H
C
S

a
In
d
e
x
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 d
a
ily
 t
ra
ff
ic
 (
A
A
D
T
) 
v
o
lu
m
e
s
 i
n
to
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
 C
it
y
 

� ���
� ���

1
0
0
.6
3

<
=
1
0
8

9
9
.3
9

G

7
H
C
S

b
In
d
e
x
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 d
a
ily
 t
ra
ff
ic
 (
A
A
D
T
) 
v
o
lu
m
e
s
 o
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 

ru
ra
l 
ro
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
s

� ���
� ���

1
0
0
.6
3

<
=
1
0
9

9
9
.3
9

G

7
2

H
C

In
d
e
x
e
d
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
y
c
lin
g
 t
ri
p
s

1
1
8
.9
9

=
>
1
1
8

1
1
0
.8
6

R

7
6

H
C

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 
jo
u
rn
e
y
s
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r 
o
n
 p
u
b
lic
 b
u
s
e
s
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 (
th
o
u
s
a
n
d
s
)

3
,4
3
3
,0
4
3

=
>
3
,9
4
8
,0
0
0

3
,3
5
5
,0
0
0

R

8
3
a

H
C

P
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
R
o
a
d
s
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n

1
4
%

<
=
5
%

6
%

R

8
3
b

H
C

N
o
n
 P
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
R
o
a
d
s
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n

2
1
%

<
=
1
9
%

1
1
%

G

1
3

H
C
S

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 B
&
B
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

� ���
1
5

0
 w
e
e
k
s

5
 w
e
e
k
s

R

2
4

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 w
it
h
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 s
ta
tu
s

� ���
7
0

=
>
7
8

7
4

R

2
6

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
g
is
te
r 
th
a
t 
a
re
 r
e
-

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
s

� ���
1
4
.5
0
%

<
=
1
5
%

1
4
%

G

2
9

H
C
S

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
n
 f
a
m
ily
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
e
r 
c
a
p
it
a
 a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
1
8

� ���
£
3
5

£
2
9

£
4
1

R

3
0

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
- 
G
 o
r 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 M
a
th
s
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
lis
h
 (
L
E
A
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
)

� ���
� ���

� ���
8
8
.1
%

(2
0
0
4
)

=
>
9
6
%

(L
P
S
A
 t
a
rg
e
t 
is
 9
6
.5
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 

e
x
a
m
s
)

9
3
.6
0
%

R

G
iv
e
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip

M
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
, 
s
a
fe
ty
, 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
, 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
e
v
e
ry
 c
h
il
d

S
e
c
u
re
 t
h
e
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 f
o
r 
a
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
e
c
o
n
o
m
y

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
a
fe
ty
 o
f 
ro
a
d
s

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

30



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

3
1

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
- 
C
 o
r 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 M
a
th
s
 &
 E
n
g
lis
h
 (
L
E
A
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
)*

� ���
� ���

4
8
.2
0
%

=
>
5
1
.6
%

5
1
.7
0
%

G

4
0

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
1
6
-1
8
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 N
O
T
 i
n
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
tr
a
in
in
g

� ���
7
.2
0
%

<
=
5
.3
%

5
.4
0
%

R

6
6

H
C

%
 o
f 
3
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a
 g
o
o
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 f
re
e
 e
a
rl
y
 

y
e
a
rs
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 p
la
c
e

8
5
%

=
>
8
5
%

9
9
.2
0
%

G

8
9

H
C

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
fe
rr
a
ls
 f
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 n
e
e
d

2
6
6

=
>
2
8
0

2
3
6

R

8
9

H
C

b
C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 o
f 
in
it
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 7
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 o
f 
re
fe
rr
a
l

5
8
.7
0
%

=
>
6
8
%

7
5
%

G

8
9

H
C

c
C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
o
re
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 3
5
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s

6
1
%

=
>
6
6
%

7
5
%

G

2
2

H
C
S

a
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
S
m
o
k
in
g
 r
a
te
s

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

b
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 

s
p
o
rt
/p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

c
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
 e
a
ti
n
g
 5
-a
-d
a
y

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

d
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
o
b
e
s
it
y
 

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

e
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
a
lc
o
h
o
l 

c
o
n
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
 

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

f
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
d
ru
g
 u
s
e
 

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

g
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
s
c
o
re
s
 f
o
r 

m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
8

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 w
h
o
 s
ta
te
d
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 b
u
lli
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

la
s
t 
1
2
 m
o
n
th
s

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 t
o
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

Y
o
u
th
 S
u
rv
e
y

2
4
%

n
/a

3
3

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls

� ���
� ���

5
.2
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
4
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)

5
.1
%

(2
0
0
6
-0
7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)

G

31



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

3
4

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls

� ���
� ���

7
.8
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
6
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)

7
.9
%

(2
0
0
6
-0
7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)

R

3
5

H
C
S

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
 m
is
s
e
d
 a
 t
o
ta
l 
o
f 
2
5
 d
a
y
s
 o
r 

m
o
re
 s
c
h
o
o
lin
g

� ���
� ���

1
4
 @

 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
4

7
 i
n
 2
0
0
8

1
6

R

3
5

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
s
 %

 o
f 

to
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 i
n
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls

� ���
� ���

3
.4
9
%

<
=
4
.2
5
%

3
.8
5
%

G

3
5

H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
s
 %

 o
f 

to
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 i
n
  
s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls

� ���
� ���

5
%

<
=
7
%

9
.0
4
%

R

3
7

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 t
o
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

Y
o
u
th
 S
u
rv
e
y

3
5
%

n
/a

3
8

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
a
t 
fe
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
lo
c
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 t
o
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

Y
o
u
th
 S
u
rv
e
y

3
1
%

n
/a

4
1

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
in
 1
7
th
 y
e
a
r 
in
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 

tr
a
in
in
g
 o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
a
g
e
 1
9

� ���
� ���

� ���
1
6
/1
9
 (
2
0
0
5
/0
6
)

1
4
/1
4
 (
2
0
0
6
/0
7
)

4
6
 (
c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
)

1
6
/1
7

G

8
4

H
C
S

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 w
it
h
 a
n
 

a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
tr
a
v
e
l 
p
la
n
 (
S
T
P
) 

� ���
5
4
%

=
>
6
8
%

8
6
%

G

8
5

H
C
S

C
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 b
e
lo
w
 a
g
e
 1
8
 (
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 g
ir
ls
 a
g
e
 1
5
-1
7
)

� ���
-1
5
.7
0
%

<
=
-1
9
%

-2
9
.6
0
%

G

32



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

9
1

H
C

N
o
. 
o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
in
g
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
c
o
u
n
c
il

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
0
0
%

9
5
%

R

1
4

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 a
s
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 &
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 w
h
o
m
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 a
 f
u
ll 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ty

� ���
� ���

1
4
9

<
=
1
6
0

2
0
7

R

5
4

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
s
tr
e
e
ts
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 a
re
a
s
 f
a
lli
n
g
 b
e
lo
w
 G
ra
d
e
 B
 f
o
r 

c
le
a
n
lin
e
s
s
 (
lit
te
r)

� ���
� ���

� ���
3
4
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
1
7
%

1
4
%

G

9
2

H
C

P
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
g
ra
ff
it
i 
a
re
 v
is
ib
le

2
%

<
=
2
%

2
%

G

9
3

H
C

P
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 

o
f 
fl
y
-p
o
s
ti
n
g
 a
re
 v
is
ib
le

1
%

<
=
1
%

0
%

G

9
4

H
C

G
ra
d
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 y
e
a
r-
o
n
-y
e
a
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 ‘
fl
y
-t
ip
p
in
g
’ 
(G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 -
 v
e
ry
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
; 
2
 -
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
; 
3
 -
 g
o
o
d
; 
4
 -
 p
o
o
r)

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 (
v
e
ry
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
)

1
3

R

9
6

H
C

%
 o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 h
o
u
rs
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
o
in
t 

w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 l
e
g
a
lly
 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
e
h
ic
le

9
9
%

1
0
0
%

9
7
.8
3
%

R

5
9

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
L
ib
ra
ry

� ���
� ���

6
9
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

7
0
%

A

5
9

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
S
p
o
rt
s
/l
e
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e

� ���
� ���

6
4
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

6
9
%

G

5
9

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
C
u
lt
u
ra
l/
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

fa
c
ili
ty
 e
.g
. 
th
e
a
tr
e
, 
c
in
e
m
a

� ���
� ���

4
7
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

5
2
%

G

6
0

H
C
S

a
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
te
e
n
a
g
e
rs

� ���
� ���

-3
2
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-3
1
%

A

6
0

H
C
S

b
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 d
e
c
e
n
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g

� ���
-5
0
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-5
7
%

R

6
0

H
C
S

c
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 J
o
b
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts

� ���
� ���

-4
2
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-4
0
%

A

6
0

H
C
S

e
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 L
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n

� ���
� ���

-7
7
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-7
0
%

G

6
0

H
C
S

f
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 W

a
g
e
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
s
t 
o
f 
liv
in
g

� ���
-5
6
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-6
4
%

R

6
1

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

� ���
� ���

� ���
3
5
%

(2
0
0
5
)

=
>
4
0
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

3
3
%

A

6
1

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a

� ���
2
9
%

=
>
3
3
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y

3
0
%

A

S
u
s
ta
in
 t
h
ri
v
in
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 b
y
 s
e
c
u
ri
n
g
 m
o
re
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t,
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r-
fo
c
u
s
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
c
le
a
n
 s
tr
e
e
ts
, 
ta
c
k
li
n
g
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 p
la
n
n
in
g

33



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

6
2

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 f
o
rm

a
l 
v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
a
n
 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
2
 h
rs
 a
 w
e
e
k
 o
r 
m
o
re
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r

� ���
� ���

� ���
1
7
%

(2
0
0
5
)

=
>
2
2
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

1
7
%

A

6
3

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 i
s
 a
 p
la
c
e
 w
h
e
re
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
s
 g
e
t 
o
n
 w
e
ll 
to
g
e
th
e
r

� ���
7
4
%

=
>
7
7
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y

7
6
%

A

6
4

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 a
re
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

a
s
 a
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 

� ���
� ���

8
0
%

=
>
8
7
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

7
9
%

A

6
5

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
S
p
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 L
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 a
 

m
o
n
th

� ���
2
5
%

=
>
3
0
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

3
0
%

A

6
5

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 a
 m
o
n
th

� ���
3
2
%

=
>
3
4
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

2
9
%

R

6
5

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
M
u
s
e
u
m
s
 o
r 
g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 e
v
e
ry
 6
 

m
o
n
th
s

� ���
1
9
%

=
>
2
1
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

2
4
%

A

6
5

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
T
h
e
a
tr
e
s
 o
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rt
 h
a
lls
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 

e
v
e
ry
 6
 m
o
n
th
s

� ���
3
2
%

=
>
3
6
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

3
2
%

A

6
5

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
P
a
rk
s
, 
o
p
e
n
 p
la
y
 a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 a
 m
o
n
th

� ���
4
9
%

m
a
in
ta
in
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

5
0
%

A

7
0

H
C

%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
  
th
a
t 
fe
e
l 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
o
e
s
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 g
iv
e
 

th
e
m
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
lo
c
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s

2
6
%

=
>
2
8
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

2
8
%

A

7
9

H
C

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 C
iv
il 
C
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 A
c
t,
 D
a
ta
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

F
re
e
d
o
m
 o
f 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

G

8
6

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
p
a
re
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
 a
re
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 

ta
k
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
th
e
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 c
h
ild
re
n

� ���
3
5
%

=
>
3
9
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

3
5
%

A

8
7

H
C
S

th
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a
 t
re
a
t 

th
e
m
 w
it
h
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n

� ���
4
5
%

=
>
4
9
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

4
4
%

A

9
5

H
C

%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
le
a
n
lin
e
s
s
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a

6
6
%

=
>
6
6
%

6
3
%

A

9
0

H
C

A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 c
h
ild
re
n

-5
%

-2
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

b
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 C
L
E
A
N
 S
T
R
E
E
T
S

-2
3
%

-2
8
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

e
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 E
D
U
C
A
T
IO
N
 P
R
O
V
IS
IO
N

1
5
%

1
1
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

h
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 P
U
B
L
IC
 T
R
A
N
S
P
O
R
T

-2
4
%

-1
8
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

i 
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 R
A
C
E
 R
E
L
A
T
IO
N
S

-1
3
%

-1
7
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

j
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 R
O
A
D
 A
N
D
 P
A
V
E
M
E
N
T
 

R
E
P
A
IR
S

-5
1
%

-5
6
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

m
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 T
H
E
 L
E
V
E
L
 O
F
 

P
O
L
L
U
T
IO
N

-4
2
%

-4
0
%

n
/a

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
rs

R
e
s
h
a
p
e
 a
d
u
lt
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 a
d
u
lt
s
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 m
a
n
y
 m
o
re
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
s

34



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

1
6

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
+
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
)

� ���
8
1
.1

=
>
8
3

8
1
.3

R

7
4

H
C

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
)

2
.9

=
>
3

2
.9

R

7
4

H
C

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 

(p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
)

4
.1

=
>
4
.4

4
.3

R

7
4

H
C

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
)

6
=
>
6

4
.8

R

1
7

H
C
S

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 h
o
m
e
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
 v
ia
 d
ir
e
c
t 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 (
6
5
+
)

� ���
� ���

5
8
%

=
>
6
6
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

5
6
%

R

1
8

H
C
S

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
P
e
n
s
io
n
 C
re
d
it

� ���
� ���

� ���
7
5
9
6

(2
0
0
4
-0
5
)

=
>
8
,1
3
8

8
,0
7
0
 t
o
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
(y
e
a
r-

e
n
d
 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

u
n
ti
l 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r)

A

1
8

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
A
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 A
llo
w
a
n
c
e

� ���
� ���

� ���
5
8
7
4

(2
0
0
4
-0
5
)

=
>
6
,7
0
2

6
,8
8
0
 t
o
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
(y
e
a
r-

e
n
d
 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

u
n
ti
l 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
)

G

1
8

H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
g
e
d
 6
0
 o
r 
o
v
e
r*
*

� ���
� ���

� ���
6
8
6
2

(2
0
0
4
-0
5
)

=
>
8
,0
6
1

7
,5
6
1

R

35



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

5
6

H
C
S

a
A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 p
e
r 
p
e
rs
o
n
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m

� ���
� ���

5
0
5
.8
2
k
g

<
=
5
0
5
k
g

4
8
3
.3
3
 k
g

G

5
6

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 g
o
in
g
 t
o
 l
a
n
d
fi
ll

� ���
7
2
.8
5
%

<
=
6
8
.5
%

6
9
.5
7
%

R

5
6

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
) 
re
c
y
c
le
d

� ���
0
%

0
%

0
%

G

5
6

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
) 
la
n
d
fi
lle
d

� ���
1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

G

5
6

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 r
e
c
y
c
le
d

� ���
1
8
.7
1
%

=
>
2
3
.9
7
%

2
2
.8
0
%

R

5
5

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
S
it
e
s
 o
f 
S
p
e
c
ia
l 
S
c
ie
n
ti
fi
c
 I
n
te
re
s
t 
(S
S
S
Is
) 
in
 f
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 

c
o
n
d
it
io
n

� ���
2
2
%

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

5
7

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
k
e
y
 s
p
e
c
ie
s

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

5
8

H
C
S

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l/
C
lim

a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 (
C
a
rb
o
n
 p
e
r 
h
e
a
d
)

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

6
7

H
C

%
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il-
o
w
n
e
d
 o
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 l
a
n
d
 w
it
h
o
u
t 
a
 n
a
tu
re
 

c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 d
e
s
ig
n
a
ti
o
n
, 
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 f
o
r 
b
io
d
iv
e
rs
it
y

1
3
.4
2
%

=
>
1
5
%

2
5
.3
0
%

G

1
0
2

H
C

C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
a
rb
o
n
 d
io
x
id
e
 e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

6
8

H
C

%
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
n
ta
c
te
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
it
h
 a
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
t 
w
h
o
 a
re
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 w
a
y
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 i
t 
w
a
s
 h
a
n
d
le
d
 

o
v
e
ra
ll

3
6
%

=
>
5
0
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

2
7
%

A

6
9

H
C

%
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
a
t 
fe
e
l 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
o
e
s
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 g
iv
e
 

th
e
m
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
lo
c
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s

1
9
.2
%
 (
2
0
0
5
)

2
8
%
 b
y
 2
0
0
8

3
1
%

G

7
1

H
C

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 l
o
s
t 
d
u
e
 t
o
 s
ic
k
n
e
s
s
 a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 

p
e
r 
m
e
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
s
ta
ff

8
.4
1

<
=
8

8
.5
8

R

7
7

H
C

S
ta
ff
 t
u
rn
o
v
e
r

9
%

<
=
9
%

8
%
 @

 e
n
d
-o
f-

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

G

1
0
3

H
C

S
R
D
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s

9
4
%

1
0
0
%

9
7
%

R

7
3

H
C

In
v
e
s
to
rs
 i
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n

N
o
t 
a
c
c
re
d
it
e
d

A
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 b
y
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7

N
o
t 
a
c
c
re
d
it
e
d

R

7
8

H
C

S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 P
la
n

U
n
q
u
a
lif
ie
d

U
n
q
u
a
lif
ie
d

U
n
q
u
a
lif
ie
d

G

8
1

H
C

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
B
V
P
Is
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d

0
0

0
G

8
2

H
C

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
k
e
y
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
u
d
it

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

G

8
0

H
C

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd

2
=
>
3

3
G

1
0
0

H
C

a
%
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 f
ro
m
 b
la
c
k
 a
n
d
 e
th
n
ic
 m
in
o
ri
ti
e
s

0
.6
4
%

=
>
0
.8
%

0
.7
3
%

R

E
m
b
e
d
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
la
n
n
in
g
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
s

R
e
c
ru
it
, 
re
ta
in
 a
n
d
 m
o
ti
v
a
te
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
li
ty
 s
ta
ff

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
rs

P
ro
te
c
t 
th
e
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t,
 p
ro
d
u
c
in
g
 m
u
c
h
 l
e
s
s
 w
a
s
te
, 
re
c
y
c
li
n
g
 m
u
c
h
 m
o
re
 o
f 
w
h
a
t 
re
m
a
in
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 c
a
rb
o
n
 e
m
is
s
io
n
s

U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 p
re
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il
-T
a
x
 p
a
y
e
rs

P
ro
m
o
te
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 h
a
rm

o
n
y
 a
n
d
 s
tr
iv
e
 f
o
r 
e
q
u
a
l 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s

36



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

1
0
0

H
C

b
%
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 f
ro
m
 b
la
c
k
 a
n
d
 e
th
n
ic
 m
in
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

a
m
o
n
g
s
t 
th
e
 t
o
p
 5
%
 o
f 
w
a
g
e
 e
a
rn
e
rs

2
.1
4
%

=
>
2
.8
5
%

2
.3
6
%

R

1
0
0

H
C

c
%
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 d
e
c
la
ri
n
g
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

0
.6
9
%

=
>
0
.7
5
%

0
.8
6
%

G

1
0
1

H
C

U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 s
c
o
re

3
3

2

(r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 t
h
e
 

2
0
0
6
-0
7
 

ju
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
d
e
 

in
 t
h
e
 C
P
A
 r
a
ti
n
g
 

in
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
8
)

R

E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
s
s
e
ts
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
, 
o
th
e
r 
b
u
il
d
in
g
s
, 
ro
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 I
C
T
 a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
ig
h
t 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 l
o
n
g
–
te
rm

 c
o
s
t-
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 d
e
li
v
e
ry
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
a
c
e
 o
f 
e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
ie
s

37



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

5
1

H
C
S

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
c
a
lls
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 W

o
m
e
n
's
 A
id
 H
e
lp
lin
e

� ���
8
6
0

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
6
5
4

6
7
8

G

4
H
C
S

a

%
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
4
 (
%
 o
f 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 h
ig
h
e
r 
le
v
e
l 
q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
)

%
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 (
%
 o
f 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 h
ig
h
e
r 
le
v
e
l 
q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
)

� ���

2
6
%

(2
0
0
5
)

4
4
%

(2
0
0
5
)

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
rs

2
9
%

4
7
%

n
/a

4
H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
1
9
+
) 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
2
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

m
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
ri
n
g
 &
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g

� ���
� ���

3
5

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
5
7

2
0
6

G

4
H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
1
9
+
) 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
2
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 (
e
x
c
l.
 

m
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
ri
n
g
 &
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
)

� ���
� ���

1
,7
3
8

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
1
,8
7
2

2
,2
1
5

G

4
H
C
S

d
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
1
9
+
) 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

m
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
ri
n
g
 &
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g

� ���
� ���

2
6

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
4
4

1
2
1

G

4
H
C
S

e
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
1
9
+
) 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 (
e
x
c
l.
 

m
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
ri
n
g
 &
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
)

� ���
� ���

8
2
5

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
8
7
8

8
7
9

G

5
H
C
S

M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
b
a
s
ic
 s
k
ill
s
 (
T
ra
in
 t
o
 G
a
in
)

� ���
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

1
0

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
d
e
a
th
s
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
 f
ro
m
 c
h
ro
n
ic
 d
is
e
a
s
e
s
 (
p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

� ���
� ���

1
6
9
.6

(2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

<
=
1
7
4
.7

(2
0
0
5
-0
7
)

1
5
0

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

G

1
5

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 u
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
b
e
d
 d
a
y
s
 o
c
c
u
p
ie
d
 b
y
 a
 

p
e
rs
o
n
 7
5
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r

� ���
� ���

3
4
,6
9
1

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
3
1
,2
2
2

3
2
,0
5
1

R

2
0

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
b
a
b
ie
s
 b
o
rn
 w
h
o
 a
re
 b
re
a
s
tf
e
d
 a
t 
6
 w
e
e
k
s

� ���
4
8
%

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
4
3
%

3
7
.3
0
%

R

2
1

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
b
a
b
ie
s
 b
o
rn
 t
o
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 m
o
th
e
rs
 w
h
o
 a
re
 b
re
a
s
tf
e
e
d
in
g
 a
t 
6
 

w
e
e
k
s

� ���
� ���

1
5
.1
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
3
0
%

1
5
.1
0
%

R

2
1

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
b
a
b
ie
s
 b
o
rn
 t
o
 m
o
th
e
rs
 i
n
 S
.W

y
e
 a
re
a
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

b
re
a
s
tf
e
e
d
in
g
 a
t 
6
 w
e
e
k
s

� ���
� ���

2
5
.4
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
4
0
%

3
0
.5
%

(s
ti
ll 
n
e
e
d
s
 

v
a
lid
a
ti
n
g
)

R

2
3

H
C
S

M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
s
e
x
u
a
lly
 t
ra
n
s
m
it
te
d
 i
n
fe
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
1
%
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

A

4
6

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 d
ru
g
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
t

� ���
6
3
2

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
7
2
0

5
9
9
 @

 e
n
d
-o
f-

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

A

4
7

H
C
S

M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
D
ru
g
s
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
0
0
%

G

5
3

H
C
S

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te
 f
ro
m
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
 (
p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

� ���
2
1
.2
6
 (
2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

2
2

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

R

P
A
R
T
N
E
R
 L
E
D

H
E
R
E
F
O
R
D
S
H
IR
E
 I
N
F
R
A
S
T
R
U
C
T
U
R
E
 C
O
N
S
O
R
T
IU
M

L
E
A
R
N
IN
G
 &
 S
K
IL
L
S
 C
O
U
N
C
IL

P
R
IM
A
R
Y
 C
A
R
E
 T
R
U
S
T

38



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

8
H
C
S

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te
 f
ro
m
 c
a
n
c
e
r 
fo
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
7
5
 (
p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

� ���
1
0
4
.2

(2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

<
=
9
3

1
0
3
.2

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

R

9
H
C
S

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te
 f
ro
m
 c
ir
c
u
la
to
ry
 d
is
e
a
s
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
7
5
 

(p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

� ���
8
1
.4

(2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

<
=
7
7

7
2
.5

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

G

1
1

H
C
S

G
a
p
 i
n
 a
ll-
a
g
e
, 
a
ll-
c
a
u
s
e
 m
o
ra
lit
y
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 a
s
 a
 w
h
o
le

� ���
2
3
.7
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

<
=
2
6
%
 (
3
 y
e
a
r 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
)

2
1
%

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

G

1
2

H
C
S

a
T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 s
to
p
 s
m
o
k
in
g

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

=
>
1
,2
0
0

1
,2
0
1

G

1
2

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 c
o
n
s
u
m
e
 m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 i
n
ta
k
e
 o
f 

a
lc
o
h
o
l 
p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 (
a
d
u
lt
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
)

� ���
1
7
%

N
o
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d

-
n
/a

1
2

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 e
a
ti
n
g
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 5
 p
o
rt
io
n
s
 o
f 
fr
u
it
 a
n
d
 v
e
g
e
ta
b
le
s
 o
n
 

a
 t
y
p
ic
a
l 
d
a
y
 (
a
d
u
lt
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
)

� ���
3
4
%

N
o
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d

-
n
/a

5
9

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
D
o
c
to
r

� ���
� ���

8
0
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

7
9
%

A

5
9

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
L
o
c
a
l 
h
o
s
p
it
a
l

� ���
� ���

5
7
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

5
9
%

A

2
5

H
C
S

N
o
.o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 (
u
n
d
e
r 
2
5
) 
w
h
o
 a
re
 v
ic
ti
m
s
 o
f 
c
ri
m
e
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e

� ���
6
,3
3
8

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
6
,1
7
3

6
,4
5
3

n
/a

T
h
is
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 h
a
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
, 
m
e
a
n
in
g
 t
h
e
 

o
ri
g
in
a
l 
b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
t 
a
re
 n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

v
a
lid
.

4
2

H
C
S

a
B
C
S
 C
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r 
c
ri
m
e
s

� ���
6
,0
0
2

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
5
,8
7
2

6
,4
4
4

R

4
2

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
c
ri
m
in
a
l 
d
a
m
a
g
e
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts

� ���
� ���

2
,5
2
4

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
2
,1
0
1

2
,6
9
6

R

4
2

H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
ll 
re
c
o
rd
e
d
 c
ri
m
e
s

� ���
1
1
,5
3
5

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
1
0
,2
2
9

1
1
,5
0
4

R

4
5

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
v
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
s

� ���
� ���

2
,8
4
4

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
2
,5
5
3

2
,7
8
2

R

4
8

H
C
S

a
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 P
ro
lif
ic
 O
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 S
c
h
e
m
e

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
5
%
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

N
o
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 

u
n
ti
l 
2
0
0
9

n
/a

4
9

H
C
S

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

� ���
3
7
2

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
6
0
0

2
9
9

G

4
9

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
v
e
h
ic
le
 c
ri
m
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

� ���
9
7
1

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
1
0
8
6

8
9
0

G

5
0

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
C
la
s
s
 A
 d
ru
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
 o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
to
 j
u
s
ti
c
e

� ���
3
3

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
2
8

3
4

G

5
1

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

� ���
4
6
2

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
4
2
5

1
,1
1
2

n
/a

 

W
E
S
T
 M
E
R
C
IA
 C
O
N
S
T
A
B
U
L
A
R
Y

39



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

5
1

H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
rr
e
s
ts
 f
o
r 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 o
ff
e
n
c
e
s

� ���
3
2
6

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

4
7
5

n
/a

5
1

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
s
a
n
c
ti
o
n
 d
e
te
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e

� ���
6
7
%

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
5
5
%

5
5
%

n
/a

T
h
is
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 h
a
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
, 
m
e
a
n
in
g
 t
h
e
 

o
ri
g
in
a
l 
b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
t 
a
re
 n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

v
a
lid
.

3
6

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 r
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 (
re
c
id
iv
is
m
 r
a
te
s
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
)

� ���
� ���

5
0
%

<
=
4
5
%

4
7
%

n
/a

T
h
is
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 h
a
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
, 
m
e
a
n
in
g
 t
h
e
 

o
ri
g
in
a
l 
b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
t 
a
re
 n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

v
a
lid
.

4
3

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 s
p
e
e
d
in
g
 t
ra
ff
ic
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
7
0
%

<
=
7
6
%

(2
0
0
8
)

7
4
%

G

4
3

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 v
a
n
d
a
lis
m
, 
g
ra
ff
it
i 
a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 

d
a
m
a
g
e
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
5
2
%

<
=
5
5
%

(2
0
0
8
)

6
1
%

R

4
3

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 u
s
in
g
 d
ru
g
s
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
6
0
%

<
=
5
5
%

(2
0
0
8
)

6
1
%

R

4
3

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 d
e
a
lin
g
 d
ru
g
s
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
5
3
%

<
=
4
8
%

(2
0
0
8
)

5
5
%

R

4
3

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 b
e
in
g
 d
ru
n
k
 o
r 
ro
w
d
y
 i
n
 p
u
b
lic
 p
la
c
e
s
 

is
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
5
1
%

<
=
4
8
%

(2
0
0
8
)

5
4
%

R

4
3

H
C
S

f
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 h
ig
h
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
w
o
rr
y
 a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l 

b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r

� ���
2
7
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
7
%

A

4
4

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
u
s
e
 b
u
rg
la
ry

� ���
3
0
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
7
%

G

4
4

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
v
a
n
d
a
lis
m
 o
r 
d
a
m
a
g
e
 t
o
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y

� ���
2
8
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
9
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
d
ru
n
k
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
a
u
s
in
g
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m

� ���
2
1
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
3
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
ir
 c
a
r 
b
e
in
g
 b
ro
k
e
 i
n
to

� ���
1
8
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
0
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
a
v
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 c
a
r 
s
to
le
n

� ���
1
2
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
3
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

f
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
b
e
in
g
 h
a
ra
s
s
e
d
 w
h
ils
t 
in
 a
 p
u
b
lic
 

p
la
c
e

� ���
1
2
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
5
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

g
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
a
te
 c
ri
m
e

� ���
3
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

4
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

h
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
b
e
in
g
 a
s
s
a
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 a
 p
u
b
lic
 p
la
c
e

� ���
9
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

9
%

G

4
4

H
C
S

i 
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
b
e
in
g
 m
u
g
g
e
d
 o
r 
ro
b
b
e
d

� ���
1
1
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
0
%

G

4
4

H
C
S

j
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
c
ri
m
e
 (
o
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 a
-i
 a
b
o
v
e
)

� ���
3
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

2
%

G

40



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

4
8

H
C
S

b
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 r
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

A

6
0

H
C
S

d
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 L
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
c
ri
m
e

� ���
� ���

-4
6
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-4
6
%

A

9
8

H
C
S

th
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
in
fo
rm

e
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
w
h
a
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 

d
o
n
e
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le
 a
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
.

� ���
2
0
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

2
0
%

A

41



42



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 2
 

      

 

   

B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 2
0
0
7
-0
8

43



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2 

C
o
n
te
n
ts
 

 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 A
re
a
 

P
a
g
e
 N
o
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

3
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

6
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 -
 C
h
il
d
re
n
 

9
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 -
 A
d
u
lt
s
 

1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

1
2
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 

1
3
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

1
4
 

W
a
s
te
 &
 C
le
a
n
li
n
e
s
s
 

1
7
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

2
1
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 T
ra
d
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

2
5
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

2
6
 

C
u
lt
u
re
 &
 R
e
la
te
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

2
8
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 &
 W

e
ll
-b
e
in
g
 

3
0
 

 
 

 
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

3
3
 

44



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
3

 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

2
a
 

T
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 f
o
r 
lo
c
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

to
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

c
o
n
fo
rm

s
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
g
e
n
d
e
r,
 

ra
c
e
 a
n
d
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

L
e
v
e
l 
1
 

L
e
v
e
l 
2
 

 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 

L
e
v
e
l 
3
 

�
 

2
b
 

T
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
a
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

R
a
c
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
R
E
S
) 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 

fr
o
m
 i
ts
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

6
8
%
 

7
9
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
4
%
 

7
9
%
 

7
9
%
 

�
�
 

3
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
ir
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
3
%
 

  

 

5
8
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

4
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
p
la
in
a
n
ts
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

h
a
n
d
lin
g
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 c
o
m
p
la
in
t 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

3
6
%
 

  

 

3
7
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

8
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
in
v
o
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 
g
o
o
d
s
 &
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

p
a
id
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

w
it
h
in
 3
0
 d
a
y
s
 o
f 
re
c
e
ip
t 
o
r 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t 

te
rm

s
 

H
ig
h
 

9
2
.3
3
%
 

9
2
.6
7
%
 

Q
3
 

 

9
7
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
1
.9
%
 

�
 

9
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

9
7
.7
%
 

9
8
.3
4
%
 

 
9
8
.6
%
 

9
8
.6
2
%
 

�
 

45



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
4

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

in
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 

Q
2
 

9
8
.4
8
%
 

1
0
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
o
n
-

d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 r
a
te
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 

H
ig
h
 

9
7
.4
%
 

9
8
.9
%
 

Q
3
 

 

9
9
.3
%
 

9
9
.1
%
 

9
8
.6
3
%
 

�
 

1
1
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
-p
a
id
 

5
%
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 s
ta
ff
 w
h
o
 

a
re
 w
o
m
e
n
 

H
ig
h
 

4
0
.5
7
%
 

3
8
.5
7
%
 

Q
2
 

 

4
3
.5
6
%
 

4
2
%
 

4
0
.9
4
%
 

�
 

1
1
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
-p
a
id
 

5
%
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 s
ta
ff
 w
h
o
 

a
re
 f
ro
m
 a
n
 e
th
n
ic
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

1
.8
9
%
 

2
.1
4
%
 

Q
2
 

 

4
.5
3
%
 

2
.8
5
%
 

2
.3
6
%
 

�
 

1
1
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
-p
a
id
 

5
%
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

(e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 i
n
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
) 

H
ig
h
 

0
%
 

0
.7
1
%
 

Q
3
 

 

5
.4
9
%
 

1
.4
%
 

0
.7
9
%
 

�
 

1
2
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

d
a
y
s
/s
h
if
ts
 l
o
s
t 
to
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 d
u
e
 t
o
 s
ic
k
n
e
s
s
 

a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 

L
o
w
 

1
0
.5
 F
T
E
 

8
.4
1
 F
T
E
 

Q
2
 

 

8
.0
9
 F
T
E
 

8
 F
T
E
 

8
.5
8
 F
T
E
 

�
 

1
4
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

re
ti
ri
n
g
 e
a
rl
y
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
ll-

h
e
a
lt
h
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
ts
) 
a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
w
o
rk
 

fo
rc
e
 

L
o
w
 

0
.3
1
%
 

0
.1
6
%
 

Q
1
 

 

0
.1
8
%
 

0
.1
4
%
 

0
.2
8
%
 

�
 

1
5
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 r
e
ti
ri
n
g
 o
n
 

g
ro
u
n
d
s
 o
f 
ill
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

L
o
w
 

0
.3
8
%
 

0
.1
4
%
 

Q
2
 

 

0
%
 

0
.1
3
%
 

0
.1
6
%
 

�
 

46



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
5

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

1
6
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 w
it
h
 a
 

d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

0
.3
9
%
 

0
.6
9
%
 

Q
4
 

 

4
.4
3
%
 

0
.7
5
%
 

0
.8
6
%
 

�
 

1
6
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
lly
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 w
h
o
 

h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

N
/a
 

7
.8
%
 

7
.8
%
 

 
7
.8
%
 

1
3
.5
3
%
 

 

1
7
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 f
ro
m
 

e
th
n
ic
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

H
ig
h
 

0
.3
%
 

0
.6
4
%
 

Q
4
 

 

5
.2
%
 

0
.8
%
 

0
.7
3
%
 

�
 

1
7
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
lly
 a
c
ti
v
e
 (
p
e
rs
o
n
s
 

a
g
e
d
 1
8
-6
5
) 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 

e
th
n
ic
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

N
/a
 

0
.8
%
 

0
.8
%
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

1
5
6
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 o
p
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
u
b
lic
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 a
ll 
p
u
b
lic
 a
re
a
s
 

a
re
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 f
o
r,
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 

to
, 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 

H
ig
h
 

4
5
.9
%
 

6
3
.8
%
 

 
7
0
%
 

8
0
%
 

�
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

2
2
1
a
 

Y
o
u
th
 W

o
rk
 –
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 1
3
-1
9
 

g
a
in
in
g
 a
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

H
ig
h
 

4
7
%
 

5
8
.2
%
 

Q
2
 

 

6
3
%
 

6
0
%
 

8
2
.9
%
 

�
 

47



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
6

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

2
2
1
b
 

Y
o
u
th
 W

o
rk
 –
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 1
3
-1
9
 

g
a
in
in
g
 a
n
 a
c
c
re
d
it
e
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

H
ig
h
 

3
2
%
 

3
3
.4
%
 

Q
1
 

 

3
0
%
 

3
0
%
 

5
4
%
 

�
 

3
8
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 a
t 

g
ra
d
e
s
 A
*-
C
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 

H
ig
h
 

5
8
%
 

6
1
.8
%
 

Q
2
 

 

6
1
.9
%
 

6
6
%
 

6
2
%
 

�
 

3
9
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 o
r 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
*-
G
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 E
n
g
lis
h
 a
n
d
 

M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 

H
ig
h
 

8
8
%
 

9
2
.8
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

9
1
.5
%
 

9
6
%
 

9
3
.6
%
 

�
 

4
0
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 t
e
s
t 

H
ig
h
 

7
6
%
 

7
5
.5
%
 

Q
2
 

 

7
8
%
 

8
2
%
 

7
7
%
 

�
 

4
1
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

H
ig
h
 

8
1
%
 

8
0
.6
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
1
.3
%
 

8
3
%
 

8
1
%
 

�
 

48



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
7

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
e
s
t 

4
3
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

s
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
p
e
c
ia
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
N
e
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 a
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
8
 

w
e
e
k
s
 e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

H
ig
h
 

5
6
.5
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

4
3
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

s
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
p
e
c
ia
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
N
e
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 a
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
8
 

w
e
e
k
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

H
ig
h
 

4
4
.1
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

9
8
.5
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

4
5
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
s
 

m
is
s
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
o
ta
l 
a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

7
.4
%
 

7
.9
%
 

Q
3
 

 

7
.4
%
 

6
%
 

7
.9
%
 

�
�
 

4
6
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
s
 

m
is
s
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
o
ta
l 
a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 

p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

5
.1
%
 

5
.6
7
%
 

Q
2
 

 

5
.3
4
%
 

4
%
 

5
.1
%
 

�
 

1
8
1
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

7
6
%
 

7
6
.5
%
 

Q
2
 

 

7
6
.5
5
%
 

8
3
%
 

8
0
.5
%
 

�
 

49



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
8

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 t
e
s
t 
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

1
8
1
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 t
e
s
t 
in
 

M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 

H
ig
h
 

7
9
%
 

7
9
.8
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
0
%
 

8
3
%
 

7
9
.2
%
 

�
 

1
8
1
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 t
e
s
t 
in
 S
c
ie
n
c
e
 

H
ig
h
 

7
2
%
 

7
7
.5
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

7
6
.9
5
%
 

8
4
%
 

7
9
.3
%
 

�
 

1
8
1
d
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 t
e
s
t 
in
 I
C
T
 

H
ig
h
 

7
4
%
 

7
2
%
 

Q
2
 

 

7
5
%
 

8
4
%
 

7
5
.2
%
 

�
 

2
2
2
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
le
a
d
e
rs
 o
f 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 e
a
rl
y
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

c
h
ild
c
a
re
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 o
r 

p
a
rt
-f
u
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 w
it
h
 a
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 

L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 

H
ig
h
 

2
4
%
 

2
9
.2
4
%
 

Q
3
 

 

4
2
%
 

3
4
.9
%
 

3
6
.8
9
%
 

�
 

2
2
2
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
le
a
d
e
rs
 o
f 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 e
a
rl
y
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

c
h
ild
c
a
re
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 o
r 

H
ig
h
 

2
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

50



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
9

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

p
a
rt
-f
u
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
p
u
t 
fr
o
m
 

s
ta
ff
 w
it
h
 g
ra
d
u
a
te
 o
r 
p
o
s
t 

g
ra
d
u
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
 t
e
a
c
h
in
g
 o
r 

c
h
ild
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

1
9
4
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
1
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 i
n
 K
e
y
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 t
e
s
t 
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

H
ig
h
 

2
9
%
 

3
1
%
 

Q
3
 

 

3
5
%
 

3
3
%
 

3
5
%
 

�
 

1
9
4
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
1
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 i
n
 K
e
y
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 t
e
s
t 
in
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 

H
ig
h
 

3
2
%
 

3
0
.2
%
 

Q
3
 

 

3
5
%
 

3
5
%
 

3
4
%
 

�
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 -
 C
h
il
d
re
n
 

4
9
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
o
k
e
d
 A
ft
e
r 

C
h
ild
re
n
 a
t 
3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 w
it
h
 t
h
re
e
 

o
r 
m
o
re
 p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 

L
o
w
 

5
.7
7
%
 

8
.9
%
 

 
8
%
 

5
%
 

�
 

5
0
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 l
e
a
v
in
g
 c
a
re
 a
g
e
d
 1
6
 o
r 

o
v
e
r 
w
it
h
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
1
 G
C
S
E
 a
t 

G
ra
d
e
 A
*-
G
 o
r 
a
 G
N
V
Q
 

H
ig
h
 

9
2
%
 

7
6
.5
%
 

 
9
0
%
 

8
0
%
 

�
 

1
6
1
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 

o
n
 1
 A
p
ri
l 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 1
7
th
 y
e
a
r 

(a
g
e
d
 1
6
),
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 

in
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 o
r 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
th
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 
1
9
 t
o
 

th
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

H
ig
h
 

1
.0
6
 

1
.2
5
 

 
0
.9
9
 

1
.0
6
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l 

�
 

51



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
0

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

in
 t
h
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 

o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
th
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 
1
9
 

1
6
2
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
h
ild
 

p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 c
a
s
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
e
re
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
, 
o
u
t 
o
f 
th
o
s
e
 

c
a
s
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 

H
ig
h
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

 
1
0
0
%
 

9
3
%
 

�
 

1
6
3
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
 

c
e
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 

th
e
 g
ra
n
ti
n
g
 o
f 
a
n
 a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o
r 

s
p
e
c
ia
l 
g
u
a
rd
ia
n
s
h
ip
 o
rd
e
r,
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 

u
n
a
c
c
o
m
p
a
n
ie
d
 a
s
y
lu
m
 

s
e
e
k
e
rs
) 
w
h
o
 h
a
d
 b
e
e
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft
e
r 
fo
r 
6
 m

o
n
th
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
 o
n
 

th
a
t 
d
a
y
 

H
ig
h
 

1
0
.8
%
 

4
.1
%
 

 
8
%
 

1
1
.8
%
 

�
 

1
9
7
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
m
o
n
g
s
t 

1
5
-1
7
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 

L
o
w
 

1
.4
%
 

-1
5
.6
%
 

Q
2
 

 

-1
1
.2
1
%
 

-1
9
%
 

-2
9
.6
%
 

�
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 -
 A
d
u
lt
s
 

5
3
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 i
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 h
o
m
e
 c
a
re
 

p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 o
r 

H
ig
h
 

5
.6
7
 

6
.7
 

 
8
.1
0
 

7
.5
 

�
 

52



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
1

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

o
v
e
r 

5
4
 

O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 

h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 6
5
 o
r 
o
v
e
r 

H
ig
h
 

8
1
.6
1
 

8
1
.1
 

 
8
3
 

8
1
.3
 

�
 

5
6
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
it
e
m
s
 o
f 

e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
d
e
liv
e
re
d
 a
n
d
 

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
d
e
 w
it
h
in
 7
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 

H
ig
h
 

9
4
%
 

9
6
%
 

 
9
6
%
 

9
6
.4
%
 

�
 

1
9
5
 

F
o
r 
n
e
w
 o
ld
e
r 
c
lie
n
ts
 (
th
a
t 
is
 

o
v
e
r 
6
5
 y
e
a
rs
 o
f 
a
g
e
),
 t
h
e
 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 

(i
) 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 

ti
m
e
 f
ro
m
 f
ir
s
t 
c
o
n
ta
c
t 
to
 

b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

is
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 o
r 
e
q
u
a
l 
to
 4
8
 

h
o
u
rs
, 
a
n
d
 

(i
i)
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 

ti
m
e
 f
ro
m
 f
ir
s
t 
c
o
n
ta
c
t 
to
 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

is
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 o
r 
e
q
u
a
l 
to
 4
 

w
e
e
k
s
 

H
ig
h
 

7
0
.1
%
 

8
3
.6
%
 

 
9
0
%
 

8
9
.6
%
 

�
 

1
9
6
 

F
o
r 
n
e
w
 o
ld
e
r 
c
lie
n
ts
, 
th
e
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 f
o
r 
w
h
o
m
 t
h
e
 t
im
e
 

fr
o
m
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

to
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
a
re
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 i
s
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 o
r 

e
q
u
a
l 
to
 4
 w
e
e
k
s
 

H
ig
h
 

7
9
.1
%
 

7
6
%
 

 
8
5
%
 

8
4
.7
%
 

�
 

53



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
2

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

2
0
1
 

A
d
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 d
ir
e
c
t 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 1
8
 o
r 
o
v
e
r 
(a
g
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
is
e
d
) 

H
ig
h
 

7
8
 

8
8
 

 
1
0
0
 

9
7
.6
 

�
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

6
4
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
o
n
-L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
-o
w
n
e
d
 v
a
c
a
n
t 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 t
o
 

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 
d
e
m
o
lis
h
e
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 

d
ir
e
c
t 
re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

5
4
 

5
2
 

Q
2
 

 

9
5
 

5
5
 

1
1
5
 

�
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 

1
8
3
a
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 

b
e
d
 a
n
d
 b
re
a
k
fa
s
t 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

th
a
t 
a
re
 u
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 n
e
e
d
 

L
o
w
 

1
1
 w
e
e
k
s
 

1
5
 w
e
e
k
s
 

Q
4
 

 

1
 w
e
e
k
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

1
8
3
b
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 

h
o
s
te
l 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 

u
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 n
e
e
d
 

L
o
w
 

2
9
 w
e
e
k
s
 

2
6
 w
e
e
k
s
 

Q
4
 

 

0
 w
e
e
k
s
 

6
 w
e
e
k
s
 

2
7
 w
e
e
k
s
 

�
 

2
0
2
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
le
e
p
in
g
 

ro
u
g
h
 o
n
 a
 s
in
g
le
 n
ig
h
t 
w
it
h
in
 

th
e
 a
re
a
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

 
0
 

Q
1
 

 0
 

<
 3
 

0
 

�
 

54



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
3

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

th
e
 a
re
a
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

2
0
3
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fa
m
ili
e
s
 

p
la
c
e
d
 i
n
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

L
o
w
 

2
6
.1
%
 

-1
9
.4
7
%
 

Q
2
 

 

-2
6
.1
2
%
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

2
1
3
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 w
h
o
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 a
s
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
, 
w
h
o
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
d
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
(s
),
 a
n
d
 

fo
r 
w
h
o
m
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 

c
a
s
e
w
o
rk
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 r
e
s
o
lv
e
d
 

th
e
ir
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

1
 

3
.1
2
 

Q
2
 

 5
 

4
 

4
 

�
 

2
1
4
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 a
s
 s
ta
tu
to
ri
ly
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 

a
s
 s
ta
tu
to
ri
ly
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

s
a
m
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
2
 y
e
a
rs
 

L
o
w
 

2
.8
8
%
 

5
.4
0
%
 

Q
4
 

 

0
%
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
&
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

7
6
a
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

c
la
im
a
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 v
is
it
e
d
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 

N
/a
 

1
5
8
.4
2
 

2
6
5
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

7
6
b
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fr
a
u
d
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
to
rs
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

N
/a
 

0
.2
6
 

0
.2
9
 

 
0
.2
8
 

0
.3
4
 

 

55



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
4

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 

7
6
c
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

(H
B
/C
T
B
) 
fr
a
u
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 

c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 

N
/a
 

5
6
.6
1
 

4
0
 

 
3
5
 

3
7
 

 

7
6
d
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

(H
B
/C
T
B
) 
p
ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

s
a
n
c
ti
o
n
s
, 
p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
, 
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 

N
/a
 

9
.2
4
 

7
.5
 

 
8
 

1
2
 

 

7
8
a
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 t
im
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
n
e
w
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
/C
T
B
) 

c
la
im
s
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 
fo
r 
w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 d
a
te
 o
f 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 i
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r 
b
e
in
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

L
o
w
 

5
2
.2
 d
a
y
s
 

2
9
.8
 d
a
y
s
 

Q
3
 

 

2
4
.5
 d
a
y
s
 

2
6
 d
a
y
s
 

2
7
.0
8
 d
a
y
s
 

�
 

7
8
b
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 t
im
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
f 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 a
 c
la
im
a
n
t’
s
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
 a
 n
e
w
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 o
n
 b
e
h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

4
2
.6
 d
a
y
s
 

1
5
.6
 d
a
y
s
 

Q
4
 

 

7
.8
 d
a
y
s
 

1
5
 d
a
y
s
 

1
3
.2
6
 d
a
y
s
 

�
 

56



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
5

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

7
9
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
a
s
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 

a
 r
a
n
d
o
m
 s
a
m
p
le
 f
o
r 
w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
/C
T
B
) 
is
 f
o
u
n
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
o
rr
e
c
t 

H
ig
h
 

9
8
.2
%
 

9
8
.4
%
 

Q
2
 

 

9
9
.2
%
 

9
8
.8
%
 

9
8
.4
%
 

�
�
 

7
9
b
 i
 

T
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

(H
B
) 
o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
v
e
re
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

o
n
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
H
B
 

d
e
e
m
e
d
 r
e
c
o
v
e
ra
b
le
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 

p
e
ri
o
d
 

H
ig
h
 

6
1
.9
%
 

6
6
.5
8
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
0
.6
1
%
 

6
6
%
 

6
2
.3
%
 

�
 

7
9
b
 i
i 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
) 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
v
e
re
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

H
B
 o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
e
b
t 

o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 s
ta
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
e
ri
o
d
 p
lu
s
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

H
ig
h
 

3
8
.7
9
%
 

5
1
.2
4
%
 

Q
1
 

 

3
8
.3
8
%
 

5
5
%
 

4
8
.9
%
 

�
 

7
9
b
 i
ii 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
) 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
e
b
t 
o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 

a
t 
th
e
 s
ta
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
p
lu
s
 

a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 

N
/a
 

5
.4
5
%
 

4
.7
8
%
 

 
9
%
 

6
.0
9
%
 

 

57



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
6

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

8
0
a
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
ff
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
3
%
 

 

 

8
2
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
b
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 o
ff
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
7
%
 

 

 

8
4
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
c
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 t
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

6
9
%
 

 

 

7
9
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
d
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 s
ta
ff
 i
n
 t
h
e
 o
ff
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
9
%
 

 

 

8
4
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
e
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 f
o
rm

s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

5
6
%
 

 

 

6
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
f 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 s
p
e
e
d
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

6
8
%
 

 

 

7
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
g
 

O
v
e
ra
ll 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
S
e
rv
ic
e
  

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
6
%
 

 

 

8
2
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

W
a
s
te
 &
 C
le
a
n
li
n
e
s
s
 

8
2
a
 i
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

s
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 

re
c
y
c
lin
g
 

H
ig
h
 

1
7
.4
6
%
 

1
8
.5
9
%
 

Q
3
 

Q
3
 

 

2
4
.1
9
%
 

2
1
.7
1
%
 

2
3
.9
7
%
 

2
2
.8
%
 

�
 

8
2
a
 i
i 

T
o
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 

a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
n
t 

b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 

H
ig
h
 

1
6
,2
3
1
.4
 t
 

1
6
,8
7
7
.0
8
 t
 

Q
1
 

 

1
6
,8
6
2
.2
5
 t
 

2
2
,4
4
4
.1
1
 t
 
1
9
,7
0
6
.0
3
 t
 

�
 

58



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
7

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

re
c
y
c
lin
g
 

8
2
b
 i
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 s
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 o
r 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 a
n
a
e
ro
b
ic
 

d
ig
e
s
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

6
.6
1
%
 

7
.3
3
%
 

Q
3
 

 

1
5
.5
3
%
 

6
.8
5
%
 

7
.6
3
%
 

�
 

8
2
b
 i
i 

T
h
e
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 s
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 o
r 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 a
n
a
e
ro
b
ic
 

d
ig
e
s
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

6
,1
4
8
.2
1
 t
 

6
,6
5
7
.0
2
 t
 

Q
2
 

 

1
0
,7
9
5
.8
6
 t
 

6
,4
1
3
.9
4
 t
 

6
,5
9
4
.3
7
 t
 

�
 

8
2
c
 i
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

to
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 

a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 u
s
e
d
 

to
 r
e
c
o
v
e
r 
h
e
a
t,
 p
o
w
e
r 
a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
e
n
e
rg
y
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

0
%
 

1
.3
1
%
 

Q
2
 

 

1
1
.6
6
%
 

1
.0
5
%
 

0
%
 

�
 

8
2
c
 i
i 

T
h
e
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

u
s
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
v
e
r 
h
e
a
t,
 p
o
w
e
r 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
e
n
e
rg
y
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

0
t 

1
,1
8
8
.8
3
t 

Q
2
 

 

2
5
,4
8
0
.6
4
t 

9
8
3
.1
6
t 

0
 t
 

�
 

8
2
d
 i
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

la
n
d
fi
lle
d
 

L
o
w
 

7
6
.1
%
 

7
2
.7
2
%
 

Q
4
 

 

5
5
.6
3
%
 

6
8
.5
%
 

6
9
.5
7
%
 

�
 

8
2
d
 i
i 

T
h
e
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

la
n
d
fi
lle
d
 

L
o
w
 

7
0
,5
9
9
 t
 

6
6
,0
1
2
.7
9
 t
 

Q
2
 

Q
3
 

 

4
9
,1
4
5
.7
6
 t
 

3
8
,1
9
3
.4
1
 t
 

6
3
,7
9
2
.9
6
 t
 
6
0
,6
3
4
.7
3
 t
 

�
 

59



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
8

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

8
4
a
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
k
ilo
g
ra
m
s
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 p
e
r 

h
e
a
d
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

L
o
w
 

5
2
1
.7
 k
g
 

5
0
7
.7
 k
g
 

Q
4
 

 

3
9
5
 k
g
 

5
0
5
 k
g
 

4
8
3
.3
3
 k
g
 

�
 

8
4
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
in
 

th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
k
ilo
g
ra
m
s
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 p
e
r 

h
e
a
d
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

L
o
w
 

1
.4
2
%
 

-2
.6
9
%
 

Q
1
 

 

-1
.7
8
%
 

-0
.1
5
%
 

-4
.4
5
%
 

�
 

8
6
 

T
h
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 p
e
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

L
o
w
 

£
4
4
.6
9
 

£
4
7
.7
1
 

Q
2
 

 

£
4
2
.0
4
 

£
5
2
.1
3
 

£
5
5
.0
1
 

�
 

8
7
 

T
h
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
p
e
r 

to
n
n
e
 o
f 
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te
 

L
o
w
 

£
7
8
.9
9
 

£
7
3
.9
1
 

Q
4
 

 

£
4
0
.4
5
 

£
8
2
.3
3
 

£
8
6
.4
8
 

�
 

8
9
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
le
a
n
lin
e
s
s
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

6
6
%
 

 

 

7
3
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

9
0
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

8
2
%
 

 

 

8
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

9
0
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 w
a
s
te
 r
e
c
y
c
lin
g
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
0
%
 

 

 

7
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

9
0
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 w
a
s
te
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

8
6
%
 

 

 

8
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

9
1
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

re
s
id
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

a
re
a
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 a
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 

H
ig
h
 

6
2
.3
%
 

6
9
.4
%
 

Q
4
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

7
0
%
 

7
3
%
 

�
 

60



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
9

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
 

9
1
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

re
s
id
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

a
re
a
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 a
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
t 
le
a
s
t 
2
 

re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
 

H
ig
h
 

6
0
.3
%
 

6
9
.4
%
 

Q
4
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

7
0
%
 

7
3
%
 

�
 

1
9
9
a
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 

a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 (
e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
) 
th
a
t 
is
 e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 

a
s
 h
a
v
in
g
 c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 d
e
p
o
s
it
s
 o
f 

lit
te
r 
a
n
d
 d
e
tr
it
u
s
 t
h
a
t 
fa
ll 
b
e
lo
w
 

a
n
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
l 

L
o
w
 

1
8
%
 

1
7
%
 

Q
4
 

 

7
%
 

1
5
%
 

1
4
%
 

�
 

1
9
9
b
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 

a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 (
e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
) 
fr
o
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
g
ra
ff
it
i 

a
re
 v
is
ib
le
 

L
o
w
 

3
%
 

2
%
 

Q
2
 

 

1
%
 

2
%
 

2
%
 

�
�
 

1
9
9
c
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 

a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 (
e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
) 
fr
o
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
fl
y
-

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 a
re
 v
is
ib
le
 

L
o
w
 

2
%
 

1
%
 

Q
4
 

 

0
%
 

1
%
 

0
%
 

�
 

1
9
9
d
 

T
h
e
 y
e
a
r-
o
n
-y
e
a
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 ‘
fl
y
-t
ip
p
in
g
’ 

L
o
w
 

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 

Q
1
 

 

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 

(V
e
ry
 

E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
) 

G
ra
d
in
g
 3
 

�
 

61



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
0

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

2
2
3
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
ro
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

L
o
w
 

2
1
%
 

1
4
%
 

Q
4
 

 

6
%
 

5
%
 

6
%
 

�
 

2
2
4
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 n
o
n
-

p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 m

a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

L
o
w
 

4
9
.5
%
 

2
1
%
 

Q
4
 

 

9
%
 

1
9
%
 

1
1
%
 

�
 

2
2
4
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

u
n
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

L
o
w
 

2
2
.2
%
 

2
4
.2
8
%
 

Q
4
 

 

1
0
%
 

1
9
%
 

3
2
%
 

�
 

9
9
a
 i
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

L
o
w
 

1
4
1
 

1
4
7
 

Q
3
 

 

7
7
 

<
 1
3
4
 

1
1
9
 

�
 

9
9
a
 i
i 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 

L
o
w
 

-3
%
 

4
%
 

Q
3
 

 

-1
4
%
 

-2
8
%
 

-1
9
%
 

�
 

9
9
a
 i
ii 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-

9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

L
o
w
 

-4
3
%
 

-4
1
%
 

Q
2
 

 

-4
4
%
 

-4
6
%
 

-5
2
.2
%
 

�
 

62



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
1

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

9
9
b
 i
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 (
a
g
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
1
6
 y
e
a
rs
) 
k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

L
o
w
 

8
 

1
3
 

Q
2
 

 

1
0
 

<
 1
5
 

1
0
 

�
 

9
9
b
 i
i 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 (
a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 

1
6
 y
e
a
rs
) 
k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 

c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 

y
e
a
r 

L
o
w
 

3
3
%
 

6
3
%
 

Q
4
 

 

-3
1
.6
%
 

-7
%
 

-2
3
.1
%
 

 
�
 

9
9
b
 i
ii 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-

9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

L
o
w
 

-6
4
%
 

-4
1
%
 

Q
3
 

 

-6
0
.6
%
 

-3
0
%
 

-5
4
.5
%
 

�
 

9
9
c
 i
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

L
o
w
 

7
8
3
 

7
3
2
 

Q
2
 

 

6
5
4
 

<
 7
8
8
 

6
6
3
 

�
 

9
9
c
 i
i 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 

L
o
w
 

9
 

-6
%
 

Q
2
 

 

-1
0
%
 

5
%
 

-9
.4
%
 

�
 

9
9
c
 i
ii 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

L
o
w
 

9
%
 

2
%
 

Q
4
 

 

-2
4
.8
%
 

1
0
%
 

-7
.8
%
 

�
 

1
0
0
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 o
f 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
n
tr
o
ls
, 
o
r 

L
o
w
 

0
 

0
 

 
0
 

0
 

�
 

63



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
2

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
n
tr
o
ls
, 
o
r 

ro
a
d
 c
lo
s
u
re
, 
o
n
 t
ra
ff
ic
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 

ro
a
d
s
, 
c
a
u
s
e
d
 b
y
 r
o
a
d
w
o
rk
s
, 

p
e
r 
k
m
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 r
o
a
d
 

Q
1
 

0
.1
 

1
0
2
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
b
u
s
 

p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 
jo
u
rn
e
y
s
 o
ri
g
in
a
ti
n
g
 

in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r 

H
ig
h
 

3
,2
4
8
,9
3
5
 

3
,4
3
3
,0
4
3
 

Q
4
 

 

2
4
,0
1
4
,6
7
7
 

3
,9
4
8
,0
0
0
 

3
,3
5
5
,2
1
3
 

�
 

1
0
3
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
u
s
e
rs
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
8
%
 

 

 

6
0
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

1
0
4
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
u
s
e
rs
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
b
u
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
9
%
 

 

 

6
8
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
6
5
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 

c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 w
it
h
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 

d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
, 
a
s
 a
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 

o
f 
a
ll 
c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

H
ig
h
 

7
5
.6
%
 

9
2
%
 

Q
3
 

 

9
9
.9
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
2
%
 

�
�
 

1
7
8
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

le
n
g
th
 o
f 
ri
g
h
ts
 o
f 
w
a
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
, 
th
a
t 
a
re
 

e
a
s
y
 t
o
 u
s
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 

p
u
b
lic
 

H
ig
h
 

5
2
%
 

4
8
%
 

Q
4
 

 

9
0
.7
%
 

5
0
%
 

3
9
%
 

�
 

1
8
7
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 

1
, 
1
a
 a
n
d
 2
 f
o
o
tw
a
y
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

L
o
w
 

3
1
%
 

3
1
%
 

Q
4
 

 

1
7
%
 

2
7
.5
%
 

1
1
.2
%
 

�
 

64



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
3

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

2
1
5
a
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 r
e
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 

fa
u
lt
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 

o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

1
0
.3
3
 d
a
y
s
 

8
.7
8
 d
a
y
s
 

Q
4
 

 

3
.0
7
 d
a
y
s
 

5
 d
a
y
s
 

6
.6
1
 d
a
y
s
 

�
 

2
1
5
b
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

re
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 f
a
u
lt
, 

w
h
e
re
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
im
e
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
a
 D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 

N
e
tw
o
rk
 O
p
e
ra
to
r 
(D
N
O
) 

L
o
w
 

4
7
.1
 d
a
y
s
 

5
7
.1
6
 d
a
y
s
 

Q
4
 

 

1
4
.8
3
 d
a
y
s
 

3
0
 d
a
y
s
 

9
.5
 d
a
y
s
 

�
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 T
ra
d
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

1
6
6
a
 

S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 

b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
ig
h
 

4
5
%
 

9
8
.7
5
%
 

Q
3
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

1
6
6
b
 

S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 

b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
T
ra
d
in
g
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

H
ig
h
 

7
8
.8
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

2
1
6
a
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
‘s
it
e
s
 o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
’ 
[w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
],
 w
it
h
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
to
 

la
n
d
 c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

 
5
,9
1
0
 

2
,8
9
6
 

 
5
,8
4
1
 

2
,8
9
2
 

 

2
1
6
b
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
it
e
s
 f
o
r 
w
h
ic
h
 

s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
d
e
ta
ile
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 d
e
c
id
e
 w
h
e
th
e
r 

re
m
e
d
ia
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
, 
a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

H
ig
h
 

0
 

0
.2
 

Q
4
 

 

1
0
 

2
 

0
.0
4
 

�
 

65



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
4

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

a
ll 
‘s
it
e
s
 o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
’ 

2
1
7
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
o
llu
ti
o
n
 

c
o
n
tr
o
l 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 i
n
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

o
n
 t
im
e
 

H
ig
h
 

9
5
%
 

9
6
.8
%
 

Q
3
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

9
6
.8
0
%
 

9
7
.9
0
%
 

�
 

2
1
8
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 

o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 h
o
u
rs
 o
f 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

8
3
%
 

9
8
%
 

Q
2
 

 

9
8
.5
5
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
4
.7
4
%
 

�
 

2
1
8
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 

v
e
h
ic
le
s
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 

h
o
u
rs
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
o
in
t 
a
t 
w
h
ic
h
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
s
 l
e
g
a
lly
 

e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
e
h
ic
le
 

H
ig
h
 

9
0
%
 

9
9
%
 

Q
1
 

 

9
7
.8
7
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
7
.8
3
%
 

�
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

1
0
6
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
 

b
u
ilt
 o
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

la
n
d
 

H
ig
h
 

7
1
.3
%
 

7
6
.7
%
 

Q
3
 

 

9
6
.9
2
%
 

6
0
%
 

7
4
.6
%
 

�
 

1
0
9
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
a
jo
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 

1
3
 w
e
e
k
s
 

H
ig
h
 

5
6
%
 

7
6
.5
6
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
0
.6
5
%
 

7
6
%
 

6
8
%
 

�
 

1
0
9
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
in
o
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 

w
e
e
k
s
 

H
ig
h
 

6
7
%
 

8
4
.2
4
%
 

Q
1
 

 

8
3
.3
8
%
 

8
5
%
 

7
9
%
 

�
 

1
0
9
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
‘o
th
e
r’
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 

H
ig
h
 

7
8
%
 

9
0
.9
8
%
 

 
9
3
%
 

8
9
%
 

�
 

66



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
5

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

w
e
e
k
s
 

Q
2
 

9
2
.4
6
%
 

1
1
1
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 o
n
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
6
%
 

 

 

8
0
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
a
 

D
id
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

s
u
b
m
it
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
L
D
S
) 
b
y
 2
8
 M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
6
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
a
ft
e
r 
m
a
in
ta
in
 a
 

3
-y
e
a
r 
ro
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
?
  

N
/a
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 
Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 

2
0
0
b
 

H
a
s
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 m

e
t 
th
e
 m

ile
s
to
n
e
s
 

th
a
t 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
L
o
c
a
l 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
L
D
S
) 

s
e
ts
 o
u
t?
 

N
/a
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 
Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 

2
0
0
c
 

D
id
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

p
u
b
lis
h
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

re
p
o
rt
 b
y
 3
1
s
t  D

e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 

la
s
t 
y
e
a
r?
 

N
/a
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

2
0
4
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
l 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
llo
w
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 t
o
 

re
fu
s
e
 o
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
ls
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
re
fu
s
a
ls
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

L
o
w
 

2
8
%
 

2
2
%
 

Q
1
 

 

2
5
.6
%
 

2
1
%
 

3
6
%
 

�
 

67



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
6

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

2
0
5
 

T
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 s
c
o
re
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 ‘
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
’ 
c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 

H
ig
h
 

9
4
%
 

9
4
%
 

Q
3
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

9
4
%
 

9
4
%
 

�
�
 

C
u
lt
u
re
 &
 R
e
la
te
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

1
1
8
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lib
ra
ry
 u
s
e
rs
 

w
h
o
 f
o
u
n
d
 a
 b
o
o
k
 t
o
 b
o
rr
o
w
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

8
9
%
 

 

 

9
0
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
1
8
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lib
ra
ry
 u
s
e
rs
 

w
h
o
 f
o
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
y
 

w
e
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 f
o
r 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

8
3
%
 

 

 

8
0
.5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
1
8
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lib
ra
ry
 u
s
e
rs
 

w
h
o
 w
e
re
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
h
e
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

9
0
%
 

 

 

9
4
.3
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

1
1
9
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 s
p
o
rt
s
 /
 l
e
is
u
re
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

5
8
%
 

 

 

6
3
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

1
1
9
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
0
%
 

 

 

7
7
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

1
1
9
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 m

u
s
e
u
m
s
 /
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
5
%
 

 

 

5
1
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

68



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
7

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

1
1
9
d
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 t
h
e
a
tr
e
s
 /
 c
o
n
c
e
rt
 

h
a
lls
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
8
%
 

 

 

5
3
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
1
9
e
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 p
a
rk
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

6
9
%
 

 

 

7
8
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
7
0
a
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
is
it
s
 t
o
/u
s
a
g
e
s
 

o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 o
r 

p
a
rt
-f
u
n
d
e
d
 m

u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 

g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

7
7
4
 

8
7
6
 

Q
2
 

 

1
,0
6
7
 

8
8
0
 

7
4
9
 

�
 

1
7
0
b
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
o
s
e
 v
is
it
s
 t
o
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
u
n
d
e
d
, 
o
r 
p
a
rt
-

fu
n
d
e
d
 m

u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 

th
a
t 
w
e
re
 i
n
 p
e
rs
o
n
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

6
9
3
 

6
8
9
 

Q
1
 

 

6
2
0
 

7
2
0
 

6
8
0
 

�
 

1
7
0
c
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 v
is
it
in
g
 

m
u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 i
n
 

o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
g
ro
u
p
s
 

H
ig
h
 

3
,8
1
0
 

6
,4
9
1
 

Q
2
 

 

8
,8
6
6
 

6
,5
0
0
 

4
,4
6
7
 

�
 

2
1
9
a
 

T
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

N
/a
 

6
4
 

6
4
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

2
1
9
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 w
it
h
 a
n
 u
p
-t
o
-d
a
te
 

H
ig
h
 

1
.5
6
%
 

1
2
.5
%
 

Q
3
 

 

4
3
.6
3
%
 

2
6
.5
6
%
 

2
5
%
 

�
 

69



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
8

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 

2
1
9
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re
a
s
 w
it
h
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
s
 

H
ig
h
 

0
%
 

0
%
 

Q
4
 

 

2
3
.2
%
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

2
2
0
 

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 P
u
b
lic
 

L
ib
ra
ry
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

(P
L
S
S
) 

H
ig
h
 

2
 

1
 

 
3
 

1
 

�
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 &
 W

e
ll
-B
e
in
g
 

1
2
6
 

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 

p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

L
o
w
 

4
.9
 

4
.2
 

Q
1
 

 

5
.8
 

4
.2
 

3
.9
 

�
 

1
2
7
a
 

V
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

L
o
w
 

1
4
.7
 

1
5
.1
 

Q
2
 

 

1
3
.1
 

1
4
.7
 

1
5
.6
 

�
 

1
2
7
b
 

R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 

L
o
w
 

0
.2
 

0
.4
 

Q
2
 

 

0
.3
 

0
.4
 

0
.2
 

�
 

1
2
8
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
e
h
ic
le
 c
ri
m
e
s
 

p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

L
o
w
 

5
.5
 

5
.1
 

Q
1
 

 7
 

5
.1
 

5
.0
 

�
 

1
7
4
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 

a
n
d
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
, 
p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

L
o
w
 

8
8
.5
 

2
8
.3
3
 

 
5
7
 

3
2
.6
2
 

�
 

1
7
5
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

H
ig
h
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

 
1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

70



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
9

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
h
a
t 
re
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

Q
1
 

1
0
0
%
 

2
2
5
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

v
io
le
n
c
e
 

N
/a
 

6
3
.6
%
 

8
1
.8
%
 

 
8
1
.8
%
 

8
1
.8
%
 

�
�
 

2
2
6
a
 

T
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
s
p
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
n
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 

g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

N
/a
 

£
4
1
3
,3
9
9
 

£
1
9
5
,2
3
2
 

 
£
1
9
5
,2
3
2
 

£
1
8
4
,3
7
5
 

 

2
2
6
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
o
n
ie
s
 

s
p
e
n
t 
o
n
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
h
ic
h
 w
a
s
 

g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 h
o
ld
in
g
 

th
e
 C
L
S
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 M
a
rk
 a
t 

‘G
e
n
e
ra
l 
H
e
lp
’ 
le
v
e
l 
a
n
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 

N
/a
 

1
7
%
 

1
2
%
 

 
1
2
%
 

1
1
%
 

 

2
2
6
c
 

T
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
s
p
e
n
t 
o
n
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
re
a
s
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
w
e
lf
a
re
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
u
m
e
r 
m
a
tt
e
rs
 

w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 

N
/a
 

£
3
1
9
,7
1
5
 

£
7
5
6
,9
9
7
 

 
£
7
5
6
,9
9
7
 

£
7
6
7
,9
6
7
 

 

1
9
8
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
ru
g
 u
s
e
rs
 i
n
 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 1
5
-4
4
 

H
ig
h
 

7
9
.9
8
 

1
1
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

 

71



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
3
0

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

 

C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
w
a
rd
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
c
o
m
p
ly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 o
n
 W

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 M
a
tt
e
rs
 w
h
e
re
 a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

72



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

2
0
0
6
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

P
ro
fi
le

1
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

1
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

3
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

1
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

3
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h

B
V
P
I 
2
b
 D
u
ty
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 r
a
c
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y

�
�

�
�
�

�

O
m
b
u
d
s
m
a
n
: 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
8
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
in
v
o
ic
e
s
 p
a
id
 b
y
 a
g
re
e
d
 d
a
te
 o
r 
w
it
h
in
 3
0
 d
a
y
s

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
9
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 c
o
lle
c
te
d

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
N
N
D
R
 c
o
lle
c
te
d

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
7
8
a
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
s
: 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 t
o
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 n
e
w
 c
la
im
s
 (
d
a
y
s
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
7
8
b
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
s
: 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 t
o
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 o
f 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 (
d
a
y
s
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
7
9
a
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
s
: 
C
a
s
e
s
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
d
 c
o
rr
e
c
tl
y

�
�
�

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
7
9
b
 i
 T
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 (
H
B
) 
re
c
o
v
e
re
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
ll 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
.

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
P
I 
7
9
b
 i
i 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
v
e
re
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
e
b
t.

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
P
I 
1
1
a
 R
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
p
 5
%
 o
f 
e
a
rn
e
rs
 w
h
o
 a
re
 w
o
m
e
n
 t
o
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
o
m
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
1
b
 R
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
p
 5
%
 o
f 
e
a
rn
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
7
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
s
 a
 r
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
1
c
 R
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
p
 5
%
 o
f 
e
a
rn
e
rs
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 t
o
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
P
I 
1
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
s
 a
 r
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
7
8
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
fo
o
tp
a
th
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 e
a
s
y
 t
o
 u
s
e

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
5
7
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
in
te
ra
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
 p
u
b
lic
 w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
e
le
c
tr
o
n
ic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry

�

B
V
 3
 O
v
e
ra
ll 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

N
o
t 
c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le
 -
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 c
a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 m
a
d
e
. 
T
h
is
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
o
r 
v
a
ri
o
u
s
 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
, 
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 e
it
h
e
r 
th
e
 P
I 
w
a
s
 n
o
t 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 i
n
 o
n
e
 o
r 
b
o
th
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
rs
 u
n
d
e
r 

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
, 
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
w
a
s
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 P
I 
in
 o
n
e
 o
r 
b
o
th
 y
e
a
rs
, 
o
r 
o
n
e
 o
r 
m
o
re
 d
a
ta
 i
te
m
s
 u
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
.

S
h
a
d
e
d
 a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
6
 a
n
d
 2
0
0
7
 s
h
o
w
 w
h
ic
h
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 w
e
re
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
IP
; 
2
0
0
8
 i
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 2
0
0
7
, 
e
x
c
e
p
t 
th
a
t 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
.

2
0
0
7
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

P
ro
fi
le

2
0
0
8

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

73



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

B
V
P
I 
4
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
u
s
e
r 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 h
a
n
d
lin
g

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
2
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 l
o
s
t 
to
 s
ic
k
n
e
s
s
 a
b
s
e
n
c
e

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
4
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 r
e
ti
ri
n
g
 e
a
rl
y
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
ll 
h
e
a
lt
h
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
ts
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 r
e
ti
ri
n
g
 o
n
 g
ro
u
n
d
s
 o
f 
ill
 h
e
a
lt
h

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
8
7
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
fo
o
tw
a
y
s
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
re
p
a
ir
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
1
8
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
 1
6
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 w
it
h
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
1
6
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
 2
2
3
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
ro
a
d
s

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n

B
V
P
I 
1
6
6
a
 S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
6
6
b
 S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
T
ra
d
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
a
jo
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
3
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
in
o
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
2
0
4
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
ls
: 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 a
llo
w
e
d

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
2
0
5
 P
la
n
n
in
g
: 
Q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�

B
V
 1
1
1
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 w
it
h
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
3
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

L
o
c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

B
V
P
I 
8
4
a
 H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 (
k
ilo
g
ra
m
s
 p
e
r 
h
e
a
d
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
9
1
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 a
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
 8
2
a
 &
 8
2
b
 A
c
tu
a
l 
re
c
y
c
lin
g
 &
 c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 r
a
te
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
6
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 8
6
 C
o
s
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 p
e
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

�
�

�
�

B
V
 8
7
 C
o
s
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
p
e
r 
to
n
n
e
 o
f 
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te

�
�

�
�

B
V
 9
1
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
 (
tw
o
 r
e
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
) 
(C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
4
5
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 9
0
a
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
8
A
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

B
V
 9
0
b
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 r
e
c
y
c
lin
g
- 
a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
8
B
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 9
0
c
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 W

a
s
te
 D
is
p
o
s
a
l 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
8
c
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

74



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

B
V
 1
9
9
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 l
it
te
re
d
 t
o
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
o
r 
h
e
a
v
y
 e
x
te
n
t 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
4
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
9
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
g
ra
ff
it
i 
a
re
 

v
is
ib
le
.

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 1
9
9
c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
fl
y
-p
o
s
ti
n
g
 a
re
 v
is
ib
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 8
9
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 c
le
a
n
lin
e
s
s
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 s
p
a
c
e
 -
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
3
8
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
fe
lt
 t
h
a
t 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 o
r 
b
u
rn
t 
o
u
t 
c
a
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
 w
a
s
 a
 v
e
ry
 b
ig
 o
r 

fa
ir
ly
 b
ig
 p
ro
b
le
m
. 
(B
V
P
I 
u
s
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

B
V
 1
0
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
 b
u
ilt
 o
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
a
n
d
. 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
2
3
) 
(a
ls
o
 

u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
is
 d
e
re
lic
t 
(N
L
U
D
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�

H
o
u
s
in
g

B
V
P
I 
6
4
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
o
n
-L
A
-o
w
n
e
d
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 t
o
 o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 
d
e
m
o
lis
h
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 d
ir
e
c
t 
re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
8
3
a
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 B
&
B
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 (
in
 w
e
e
k
s
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
8
3
b
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 h
o
s
te
l 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 (
in
 w
e
e
k
s
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 
3
1
s
t 
M
a
rc
h

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

H
IP
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
h
o
m
e
s
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
fo
r 
s
ix
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
 -
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 

(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
H
1
8
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

H
S
S
A
 H
s
e
1
b
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
n
c
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 r
e
p
e
a
t 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 (
H
S
S
A
 

e
1
b
&
a
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

C
u
lt
u
re

B
V
 1
1
9
a
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 s
p
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 l
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
5
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

B
V
 1
1
9
e
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 p
a
rk
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
s
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
9
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 r
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 –
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 S
p
o
rt
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 s
u
rv
e
y
 (
C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
1
7
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

V
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 i
n
 s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 r
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 –
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 S
p
o
rt
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 s
u
rv
e
y
 (
C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
1
8
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

L
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 -
 c
h
o
ic
e
 a
n
d
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 w
it
h
in
 2
0
 m
in
u
te
s
 

tr
a
v
e
l 
ti
m
e
 (
u
rb
a
n
 -
 w
a
lk
in
g
; 
ru
ra
l 
- 
d
ri
v
in
g
) 
o
f 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
3
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
s
p
o
rt
s
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 t
y
p
e
s
 (
ta
k
e
n
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 S
p
o
rt
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
la
c
e
s
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
) 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
1
9
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 1
1
9
c
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 m
u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
7
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 1
1
9
d
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
a
tr
e
 &
 c
o
n
c
e
rt
 h
a
lls
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
8
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 u
n
ti
l 
y
e
a
r-

e
n
d

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

75



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

B
V
 1
1
9
b
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 l
ib
ra
ry
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
6
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 2
1
9
b
 P
re
s
e
rv
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
: 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
ls
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt

B
V
P
I 
6
4
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
o
n
-L
A
-o
w
n
e
d
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 t
o
 o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 
d
e
m
o
lis
h
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 d
ir
e
c
t 
re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
2
0
4
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
ls
: 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 a
llo
w
e
d
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
)

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
2
0
5
 P
la
n
n
in
g
: 
Q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
)

�
�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
a
jo
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
3
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
).

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
in
o
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
).

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
lly
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
6
+
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
(L
F
S
)

�

B
V
 1
0
3
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 1
0
4
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 b
u
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 2
1
9
b
 P
re
s
e
rv
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
: 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
ls
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

C
u
lt
u
re
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 1
7
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
th
a
t 
re
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
H
1
9
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 3
9
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
's
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
to
 G
 (
In
c
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

&
 M
a
th
s
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
)

�
�

�
�

H
IP
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
h
o
m
e
s
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
fo
r 
s
ix
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
 -
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 

(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
H
1
8
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 1
0
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
 b
u
ilt
 o
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
a
n
d
. 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
2
3
) 
(a
ls
o
 

u
n
d
e
r 
L
o
c
a
l 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t)

�
�

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
is
 d
e
re
lic
t 
(N
L
U
D
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
L
o
c
a
l 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t)

�
�

S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r

B
V
P
I 
2
2
4
a
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
n
o
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
s
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
re
p
a
ir

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
P
I 
2
2
4
b
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
n
o
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
u
n
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
s
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
re
p
a
ir

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

C
D
R
P
: 
D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

�

C
D
R
P
: 
R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
e
rs
o
n
s

�

C
D
R
P
: 
T
h
e
ft
 o
f 
a
 m
o
to
r 
v
e
h
ic
le
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
e
rs
o
n
s

�

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

76



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

C
D
R
P
: 
T
h
e
ft
 f
ro
m
 a
 m
o
to
r 
v
e
h
ic
le
 c
ri
m
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
e
rs
o
n
s

�

C
D
R
P
: 
V
io
le
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 p
e
rs
o
n
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
e
rs
o
n
s

�

C
D
R
P
: 
S
e
x
u
a
l 
O
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

�

Y
O
T
. 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 r
e
o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 r
a
te
 (
2
4
 m
o
n
th
s
) 
s
in
c
e
 2
0
0
1
 c
o
h
o
rt
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

�

B
V
P
I 
1
7
4
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
v
o
lv
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
o
a
d
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 (
3
 y
e
a
r 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

D
F
T
) 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
o
a
d
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 (
3
 y
e
a
r 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
 D
F
T
) 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

P
A
F
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
a
g
e
d
 1
0
 t
o
 1
7
 g
iv
e
n
 a
 f
in
a
l 
w
a
rn
in
g
, 
re
p
ri
m
a
n
d
, 
c
a
u
ti
o
n
e
d
 

o
r 
c
o
n
v
ic
te
d
 i
n
 y
e
a
r

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
7
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
th
a
t 
re
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
H
1
9
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 9
9
a
i 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
o
a
d

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 9
9
b
i 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 -
 c
h
ild
re
n
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 9
9
c
i 
R
o
a
d
 a
c
c
id
e
n
t 
- 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 -
 A
ll 
s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

B
V
 5
4
/P
A
F
 C
3
2
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 (
a
g
e
d
 6
5
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r)
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 s
o
c
ia
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r

�
�

�
�

B
V
 5
6
/P
A
F
 D
5
4
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
it
e
m
s
 o
f 
e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
d
e
liv
e
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 7
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s

�
�

�
�

P
A
F
 C
2
9
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 a
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 6
4

�
�

�
�

P
A
F
 C
3
1
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 

6
4

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
5
/P
A
F
 D
5
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
e
re
 w
a
it
in
g
 t
im
e
 w
a
s
 w
it
h
in
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
6
/P
A
F
 D
5
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 c
a
re
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
e
re
 w
a
it
in
g
 t
im
e
 w
a
s
 w
it
h
in
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd

�
�

�
�

B
V
 5
3
/ 
P
A
F
 C
2
8
 I
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 H
o
m
e
 C
a
re
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 o
r 
o
v
e
r

�
�

�
�

P
A
F
 C
3
0
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 a
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 6
4

�
�

�
�

C
h
il
d
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le

B
V
 3
8
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 f
iv
e
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
's
 g
ra
d
e
 A
* 
to
 C

�
�

�
�

B
V
 3
9
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
's
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
to
 G
 (
In
c
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

&
 M
a
th
s
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 4
0
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 l
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 4
1
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 l
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�
�

B
V
 1
8
1
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

77



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

B
V
 1
8
1
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
8
1
c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 S
c
ie
n
c
e
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
8
1
d
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 I
C
T
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
4
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 t
e
s
t

�
�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
4
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 4
9
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
re
e
 o
r 
m
o
re
 p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
(P
A
F
 A
1
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 5
0
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 l
e
a
v
in
g
 c
a
re
r 
a
g
e
d
 1
6
 o
r 
o
v
e
r 
w
it
h
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
1
 G
C
S
E
 a
t 
g
ra
d
e
 A
* 

to
 G
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
(P
A
F
 A
2
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
6
1
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
a
re
 l
e
a
v
e
rs
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
th
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 
1
9

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 1
6
2
/P
A
F
 C
2
0
 R
e
v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 c
a
s
e
s

�
�

�
�
�

B
V
 1
6
3
/P
A
F
 C
2
3
 A
d
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r

�
�

�
�

B
V
 9
9
b
i 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 -
 c
h
ild
re
n
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 S
tr
o
n
g
e
r)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 f
e
m
a
le
s
 a
g
e
d
 1
5
 t
o
 1
7
 -
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
1
9
9
8
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

�

4
8
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

7
4
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

5
1
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

6
3
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

7
7
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

78



 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Tony Geeson, Head of 
Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT PREPARATION 

PROGRAMME PROGRESS REPORT 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CORPORATE, CUSTOMER SERVICES AND 

HUMAN RESOURCES 

CABINET 31 JULY 2008 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To report progress against the Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation 
Programme. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision   

Recommendations 

THAT  

i. progress made in delivering the Comprehensive Area 
Assessment Preparation Programme over the first 6 months of 
2008 be noted; and 

ii. Cabinet agrees the need for effective remedial action for the 
items marked Amber, which are listed in paragraph 3. 

Reasons 

The Council’s current Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s objectives, priorities and 
targets for the three years 2007-10.  The Annual Operating Plan (AOP) is the 
detailed action plan for the first of these years, 2007-08; it includes all the indicators 
in the Local Public Service Agreement (LPSA), the Local Area Agreement (LAA) and 
the Herefordshire Community Strategy (HCS), as well as the Council’s own 
indicators. 

Considerations 

1. The Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation Programme (Appendix 1) 
is currently being implemented.  Judgement has been made against those 
actions timetabled for completion during the first 6 months of the year on the 
following basis: 

AGENDA ITEM 7

79



• Green signifies that the action has been achieved; 

• Amber signifies that the action is delayed or there is other cause for 
concern; if remedial action is taken it should be achieved although not 
necessarily on the original timescale; and 

• Red signifies that the action has not been achieved or is not expected to 
be achieved 

2. The majority of actions required to have been delivered thus far have either 

been achieved and marked Green, or are currently on track and marked 

Amber.  There are no Reds. 

3. Those actions currently marked Amber are: 

• 1.3 Identify changes needed to data collection and analysis to provide 
reliable, regular data, e.g. single, shared client data-bases, setting a 
prioritised timetable for each element; 

• 3.2 Action plan for the Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS), including 
the new LAA; 

• 4.1 Integrated planning and performance improvement cycle between the 
Council, the PCT and the Herefordshire Partnership; 

• 4.10 Review ICT requirements to deliver this programme; 

• 4.12 Establish strengthened scrutiny arrangements that will make a major 
contribution to planning and performance management across the 
Council/PCT and the Herefordshire Partnership; 

• 4.14 Council and PCT workforce development strategy to deliver the 
programme; 

• 4.15 Annual training and development programme for the Council, PCT 
and partner organisations to help deliver the programme; 

• 4.16 Corporate, directorate and service induction to include the core 
objectives and themes of the programme, relating them to each 
individual’s role and responsibilities; 

• 4.17 Programme to develop understanding for the roll-out of the strategic 
risk identification and management process; 

• 5.1 Establish shared strategic risk identification and management process 
for the Council, the PCT and their partners, integrated with performance 
management systems and reporting; 

• 6.4 Action plan for prioritised improvements in partners’ indicator 
performance and other factors relevant to the Direction of Travel 
assessment to improve the rating in February 2010; 

• 7.5 Rationalisation of back-office accommodation; and 

• 8.1 Communications strategy and action plan designed and rolled out. 

4. Confirmation of the new CAA framework will be published towards the end of 

80



July, together with consultation on its detailed operation.  Whatever the 
details, the Council’s and Partnership’s success depends on their being able 
to evidence continuous improvement and the robustness of plans for further 
improvement. 

Alternative Options 

None. 

Risk Management 

Delivery of the programme will have a significant bearing on the Council’s 
performance for the forthcoming Comprehensive Area Assessment from April 2009. 

Consultees 

The Joint Council and PCT Management Board and Council managers. 

Background Papers 

None identified. 

81



82



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
 

   H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 C
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 A

re
a

 A
s
s
e

s
s

m
e
n

t 
p

re
p

a
ra

ti
o

n
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

: 
J
a
n

u
a

ry
 

2
0
0

8
 t

o
 D

e
c

e
m

b
e
r 

2
0

0
9
 

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

s
: 

 

•
 
T
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
n
d
 b
e
g
in
 t
o
 o
p
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

 

•
 
T
o
 b
e
 w
e
ll-
p
re
p
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 f
u
ll 
in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 s
y
s
te
m
 f
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

 

•
 
T
o
 b
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w

e
ll/
h
a
v
e
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

 

•
 
 T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m

in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

83



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
 

T
h

e
 e

le
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

: 

1
. 
U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

2
. 
E
n
g
a
g
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
ri
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
  

3
. 
U
s
in
g
 
th
is
 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
, 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 
e
m
p
o
w
e
rm
e
n
t 
a
s
 
th
e
 
b
a
s
is
 
fo
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 
th
e
 
C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 s
h
a
re
d
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

4
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
ig
h
t 
s
k
ill
s
, 
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
rs
, 
to
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 

v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

5
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

6
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w
e
ll/
h
a
s
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

7
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 w
e
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

8
. 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
s
ta
ff
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 

84



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
3
 

1
. 
U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

1
.1
 J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

N
e
e
d
s
 A
n
a
ly
s
is
 –
 J
S
N
A
 

(h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
ll-
b
e
in
g
; 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
, 
c
o
m
e
s
 i
n
to
 

e
ff
e
c
t 
1
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
) 

 
 

 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 

e
x
is
ts
/g
a
p
s
, 
le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 

th
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 (
lik
e
ly
 

fo
c
u
s
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
e
 o
n
 

m
a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 

u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 d
a
ta
 

s
o
u
rc
e
s
) 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 
g
a
p
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
. 

B
e
in
g
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 J
o
in
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 o
n
 7

th
 J
u
ly
. 

In
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 
 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
, 

w
it
h
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
o
th
e
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 

C
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
th
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 

b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
, 
In
te
ri
m
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
, 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

1
.2
 N
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 f
o
r 

o
th
e
r 
a
s
p
e
c
ts
 

 
 

 

D
e
te
rm

in
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

F
e
b
 0
8
 

R
o
lle
d
 u
p
 w
it
h
 J
S
N
A
 t
o
 f
o
rm

 a
 

s
in
g
le
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 b
y
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 (
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 

b
y
 P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
) 
 

C
le
a
r 
le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
, 
In
te
ri
m
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
, 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
  

T
h
e
 S
u
b
-r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

85



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
4
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 

e
x
is
ts
/g
a
p
s
, 
le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 

th
e
  
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

(l
ik
e
ly
 f
o
c
u
s
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
e
 

o
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

d
a
ta
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
) 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 
g
a
p
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
. 

B
e
in
g
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 J
o
in
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 o
n
 7

th
 J
u
ly
. 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

C
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 

b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
ts
, 
a
n
d
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

T
im
e
ta
b
le
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

fo
r 
J
S
N
A
 a
n
d
 w
id
e
r 
n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

(s
e
e
 a
b
o
v
e
),
 t
a
k
in
g
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
  

P
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 
in
 

p
la
c
e
 

1
.3
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 d
a
ta
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 r
e
lia
b
le
, 

re
g
u
la
r 
d
a
ta
, 
e
.g
. 
s
in
g
le
, 

s
h
a
re
d
 c
lie
n
t 
d
a
ta
-

b
a
s
e
s
, 
s
e
tt
in
g
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 e
le
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
D
e
s
ir
e
d
 

d
a
ta
 

a
n
d
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
, 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 

fo
r 

s
e
tt
in
g
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 
a
n
d
 
ta
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

a
n
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

1
.4
 P
la
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 

m
a
n
d
a
to
ry
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

F
in
a
l 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

D
C
L
G
; 
fi
e
ld
w
o
rk
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 2
9
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 1
9
th
 

In
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

T
o
n
y
 C
ra
m
p
 

(M
a
rt
in
 H
e
u
te
r,
 h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
) 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 a
n
n
u
a
l 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
it
iz
e
n
s
’ 

p
a
n
e
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
, 
a
n
d
 i
ts
 

86



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
5
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r.
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

1
.5
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 (
E
IA
s
) 

 
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
ro
u
n
d
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

Y
e
a
r 
4
 o
f 
5
 y
e
a
r 
ro
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 4
5
 E
IA
s
 i
n
 C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
, 
H
u
m
a
n
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 &
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
s
u
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 G
ro
u
p
. 

N
e
x
t 
ro
u
n
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

Y
e
a
r 
5
 s
ta
rt
e
d
. 
A
ll 
D
M
T
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 3
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 s
p
o
tl
ig
h
t 
th
is
 

y
e
a
r 
(R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
 o
ff
ic
e
) 
h
a
v
e
 h
a
d
 a
n
 

in
it
ia
l 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
, 
a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 f
o
r 
a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
te
a
m
s
. 
E
s
ti
m
a
te
d
 5
1
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 t
h
is
 

y
e
a
r.
 

P
ro
v
id
e
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 

fo
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

C
a
ro
l 
T
ra
c
h
o
n
it
is
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
; 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

T
h
e
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 

 

87



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
6
 

2
. 
E
n
g
a
g
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
ri
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

2
.1
 M
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ty
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

(c
o
m
e
s
 i
n
to
 e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 1
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
),
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
, 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 

h
a
n
d
lin
g
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
ti
ti
o
n
s
 

 
 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 
e
x
is
ts
, 

th
e
n
 a
n
d
 g
a
p
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

in
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
s
c
o
p
in
g
 a
n
d
 g
a
p
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

d
o
n
e
. 
T
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
8
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
m
is
e
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
w
h
it
e
 

p
a
p
e
r.
  

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
n
d
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/f
a
c
to
rs
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
u
b
lic
’s
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 

A
b
le
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

d
u
ty
 

A
p
r 
0
9
 

W
o
rk
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
 o
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 

a
n
y
 l
ik
e
ly
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
. 

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ty
 

J
e
n
n
if
e
r 
W
a
tk
in
s
, 
M
a
rt
in
 

H
e
u
te
r,
 A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
 

(R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

s
ta
ff
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

P
A
C
T
s
, 
L
IN
k
s
. 

P
u
b
lic
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

te
a
m
’s
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
ty
. 

P
u
b
lic
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

2
.2
 S
y
s
te
m
a
ti
c
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

 
 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
/c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

G
e
o
ff
 C
o
le
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

88



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
7
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

N
e
w
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

la
u
n
c
h
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
ly
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
. 

A
 n
e
w
 I
T
 s
y
s
te
m
 f
o
r 
re
c
o
rd
in
g
 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
n
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
lim

e
n
ts
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 u
n
d
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 w
it
h
 

a
n
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 d
a
te
 o
f 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
. 

M
o
re
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
/c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

2
.3
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r,
 

m
o
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 

p
a
ri
s
h
e
s
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

P
a
ri
s
h
e
s
 w
it
h
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

fr
o
m
 p
a
ri
s
h
 p
la
n
s
 s
e
n
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
 

lit
e
ra
tu
re
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
p
a
ri
s
h
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 

fo
r 
J
u
ly
-S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
to
 p
ic
k
 u
p
 o
n
 

th
e
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 

w
h
it
e
 p
a
p
e
r.
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 H
A
L
C
 t
o
 s
e
t 
u
p
 a
 

te
le
p
h
o
n
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 l
in
e
 a
n
d
 

d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 l
e
a
fl
e
ts
 t
o
 a
ll 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 t
o
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 w
it
h
 

lo
c
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t.
  

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 o
f 
p
a
ri
s
h
 

n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
. 

C
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
n
g
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
p
o
s
t 
o
ff
ic
e
 c
lo
s
u
re
s
, 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
n
g
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 

m
e
th
o
d
s
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 k
e
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 p
o
s
t 
o
ff
ic
e
s
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t.
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
n
d
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/f
a
c
to
rs
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
u
b
lic
’s
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
. 

M
a
rt
in
 H
e
u
te
r,
 N
in
a
 

B
ri
d
g
e
s
, 
R
o
b
e
rt
 B
lo
w
e
r 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t)
 

E
a
rl
y
 w
in
s
 f
ro
m
 p
a
ri
s
h
 

p
la
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 

m
a
d
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

P
A
C
T
s
, 
L
IN
k
s
. 

89



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
8
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
, 
th
e
 

v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
ils
 

w
ill
 b
e
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
o
n
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
. 

 

90



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
9
 

 3
. 
U
s
in
g
 t
h
is
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
, 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
a
s
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 s
h
a
re
d
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

3
.1
 N
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
(L
A
A
) 
 

J
u
n
 0
8
 

L
A
A
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 o
n
 w
h
ic
h
 

a
ll 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
re
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
. 

M
in
is
te
ri
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l.
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 L
A
A
 

ta
rg
e
ts
. 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

3
.2
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
S
C
S
),
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
A
A
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

S
tr
u
c
tu
re
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

L
A
A
; 
n
o
 d
a
te
 a
g
re
e
d
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 b
e
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 

A
d
d
re
s
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 m

a
in
 

ri
s
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 S
C
S
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

3
.3
 R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 S
C
S
 

in
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 1
 

a
n
d
 2
 a
b
o
v
e
 

A
p
r 
0
9
 

L
e
s
s
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 S
C
S
 i
n
 2
0
0
5
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

p
u
lle
d
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 0
9
/1
0
 

R
e
v
ie
w
. 

S
C
S
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 

th
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
  

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

3
.4
 R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 r
o
ll 

fo
rw
a
rd
 o
f 
th
e
 L
A
A
 i
n
 

p
a
ra
lle
l 
w
it
h
 3
.3
  

A
p
r 
0
9
 

 
L
A
A
 r
e
v
is
e
d
, 
a
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
, 
to
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th
e
 

fi
n
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

S
C
S
 R
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 

3
.3
 

91



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
0
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

3
.5
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

it
s
 l
e
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
C
S
/L
A
A
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 

b
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
  

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

le
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

S
C
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

S
te
v
e
 M
a
rt
in
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll)
 

 

3
.6
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

P
la
n
 2
0
1
0
-1
3
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

it
s
 l
e
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 r
o
lle
d
 

fo
rw
a
rd
 S
C
S
/L
A
A
  

J
u
ly
 0
9
 

 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

le
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

S
C
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

S
te
v
e
 M
a
rt
in
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll)
 

T
im
e
ta
b
le
 t
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 o
n
 

th
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
 

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 (
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

S
M
C
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 

0
8
) 
 

3
.7
 D
e
te
rm

in
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
s
  

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

fo
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
s
 

in
 p
la
c
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

3
.8
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

p
la
n
s
  

A
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
; 

a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

T
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 h
e
a
d
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
 (
to
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

92



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
1
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
 (
to
 

b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
) 
 

 

93



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
2
 

4
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.1
 I
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
p
ri
l 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 o
f 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
, 

p
re
p
a
re
d
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 
 M
a
in
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

P
C
T
 c
y
c
le
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 c
y
c
le
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

D
e
p
u
ty
 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
, 
M
ic
h
a
e
l 

H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 

D
a
v
id
 P
o
w
e
ll,
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

 

4
.2
 J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 P
C
T
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
J
o
in
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

in
 p
la
c
e
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
rs
; 

a
n
d
 b
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(P
C
T
, 
th
e
 h
e
a
d
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 

d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
re
a
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

A
re
a
s
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

a
n
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
 

a
b
o
v
e
 

94



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
3
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.3
 J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
?
 

 
J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

(c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 

b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
).
 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
rs
; 

a
n
d
 b
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
  

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

 

4
.4
 J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 P
C
T
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
  

D
e
c
 0
8
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 b
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 W

e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 [
W
M
R
IE
P
] 
to
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t 

a
 p
ie
c
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 w
a
y
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
is
 p
e
rf
o
rm

e
d
 r
ig
h
t 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 t
o
 

fo
rm

u
la
te
 a
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
is
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
m
o
re
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
. 
T
h
is
 p
ie
c
e
 o
f 

w
o
rk
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
. 
W
M
R
IE
P
 a
re
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 t
h
is
 p
ie
c
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
. 
T
h
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 

a
p
p
o
in
te
d
. 
 W

o
rk
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
. 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

B
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

D
e
a
n
 H
o
g
a
n
 

(P
C
T
, 
E
le
a
n
o
r 
B
ra
z
il,
 

o
th
e
r 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

 

4
.5
 J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
?
 

A
s
 4
.4
 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

B
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

D
e
a
n
 H
o
g
a
n
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
) 
 

 

95



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
4
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.6
 R
e
v
ie
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
le
v
e
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 r
e
c
o
n
fi
g
u
re
d
, 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

n
e
w
 J
o
in
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 

c
o
m
p
ri
s
e
s
 b
o
th
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 

a
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
w
o
 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
. 
 

W
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 j
o
b
-

e
v
a
lu
a
te
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
ro
le
s
 a
n
d
 t
o
 

a
p
p
o
in
t 
to
 t
h
e
 p
o
s
ts
. 
 

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 a
re
 

u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
ts
: 
th
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
C
lin
ic
a
l 
L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 Q
u
a
lit
y
, 

th
e
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 H
R
. 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 

th
e
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
te
g
ra
te
d
 t
e
a
m
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 

T
h
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 J
o
in
t 

D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 T
e
a
m
 n
e
a
r 
c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
. 

N
e
w
 o
r 
a
d
a
p
te
d
 H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 

a
p
p
o
in
tm

e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t,
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 G
i 
C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

J
o
in
t 
e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
e
a
m
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

R
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 j
o
in
t 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

96



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
5
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

 
 

T
h
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 (
s
e
e
 4
.8
) 
is
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

fu
tu
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
fo
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 L
S
P
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 

 
 

 

4
.7
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
n
e
w
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
4
.6
 

A
s
 4
.6
. 

N
e
w
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

In
te
g
ra
te
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

A
n
d
re
w
 W

ill
ia
m
s
, 
G
i 

C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

 

4
.8
 R
e
v
ie
w
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

J
u
n
 0
8
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 i
s
 i
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
n
d
 

e
n
g
a
g
in
g
 w
it
h
 L
S
P
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

to
 s
e
c
u
re
 t
h
e
ir
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
, 
le
d
 b
y
 

J
e
n
n
if
e
r 
W
a
tk
in
s
 a
n
d
 O
liv
e
r 

G
o
o
d
e
 (
R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 (
R
IE
P
) 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 t
o
 D
e
liv
e
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t)
. 
 R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
S
P
 

B
o
a
rd
 r
e
-l
a
u
n
c
h
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 2
9
th
 

J
u
ly
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 A
n
d
re
w
 

W
ill
ia
m
s
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

 

4
.9
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
re
v
is
e
d
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
N
e
w
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 A
n
d
re
w
 

W
ill
ia
m
s
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

 

97



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
6
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

M
a
y
 0
8
 

T
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
. 

In
it
ia
l 
re
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
, 

e
a
rl
y
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

4
.1
0
 R
e
v
ie
w
 I
C
T
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

th
is
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
R
e
v
ie
w
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
, 
lo
n
g
e
r-

te
rm

 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IC
T
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

4
.1
1
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 I
C
T
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
  

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
4
.1
0
  

 
T
o
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 

4
.1
0
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IC
T
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

4
.1
2
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 

s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 

m
a
k
e
 a
 m

a
jo
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
fo
rm

a
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 

A
p
ri
l.
  

S
M
C
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
 n
e
w
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
. 
 T
h
e
re
 

a
re
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
p
e
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 a
u
tu
m
n
. 

S
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
  

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

4
.1
3
 O
p
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 

s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

H
a
s
 b
e
g
u
n
. 

S
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

98



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
7
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

W
o
rk
 i
s
 b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
 

H
R
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

P
C
T
, 
d
ra
w
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
P
a
y
 a
n
d
 W

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 I
n
v
e
s
to
rs
 i
n
 P
e
o
p
le
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 p
u
rs
u
e
d
 b
u
t 
th
e
 

p
re
-a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 n
o
t 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l.
 

A
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 W

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

p
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 

m
a
p
p
e
d
 o
u
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 

th
e
 w
o
rk
. 
W
o
rk
 h
a
s
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 a
n
d
 

w
ill
 e
n
c
o
m
p
a
s
s
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 i
n
 C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 P
C
T
. 

T
h
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 
 T
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
a
n
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
te
a
m
 a
n
d
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 t
h
e
 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
. 

In
it
ia
l 
jo
in
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 

4
.1
4
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

 
S
tr
o
n
g
 l
in
k
s
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 b
e
in
g
 f
o
rg
e
d
 

w
it
h
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
, 
th
e
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

(T
h
e
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 C
e
n
tr
e
),
 t
h
e
 

W
o
rl
d
 C
la
s
s
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
ro
v
id
e
r 
R
e
v
ie
w
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
. 

 

G
i 
C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 a
n
d
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
/s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
la
n
s
. 

In
v
e
s
to
r 
in
 P
e
o
p
le
 

a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
P
a
y
 a
n
d
 

W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

J
o
in
t 
h
e
a
th
 a
n
d
 a
d
u
lt
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 

c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 

P
ro
v
id
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

re
v
ie
w
. 

99



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
8
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

 
S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
F
u
ll 
jo
in
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

 
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 a
s
k
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

th
is
 w
o
rk
 (
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
lig
n
e
d
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
).
 

In
it
ia
l 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

4
.1
5
 A
n
n
u
a
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

h
e
lp
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
  

A
u
g
 0
8
 

 
M
e
d
iu
m
-t
e
rm

 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 (
in
 

lig
h
t 
o
f 
S
R
D
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
).
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 v
is
io
n
, 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

e
a
c
h
 o
th
e
r’
s
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
c
u
lt
u
re
s
 

a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 d
e
s
ir
e
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
. 

L
iz
 W

a
lla
c
e
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

(s
e
e
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 8
 b
e
lo
w
) 

4
.1
6
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
, 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 

c
o
re
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
re
la
ti
n
g
 

th
e
m
 t
o
 e
a
c
h
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l’s
 

ro
le
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
  

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
 p
la
c
e
 f
o
r 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 i
n
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

fr
o
m
 M
a
y
 0
8
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

In
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 f
ro
m
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

In
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly
 

L
iz
 W

a
lla
c
e
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

(M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

100



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
9
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.1
7
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

fo
r 
th
e
 r
o
ll-
o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
  

M
a
r 
0
8
 

D
ra
ft
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
la
n
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 n
e
w
, 
jo
in
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

ri
s
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
. 

T
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
8
. 
P
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 P
C
T
 

B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
. 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

w
h
ic
h
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t,
 

b
e
in
g
 r
o
lle
d
 o
u
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 2
0
0
8
 b
y
 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

T
o
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 w
id
e
r 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
s
e
e
 4
.1
 

a
b
o
v
e
) 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 

in
 p
la
c
e
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 

w
h
o
 a
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-t
o
-

h
e
a
r.
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r
is
k
s
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
P
C
T
) 

 

4
.1
8
 M
e
m
b
e
r 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

w
h
a
t 
is
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 e
q
u
ip
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 p
la
y
 a
 f
u
lly
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 r
o
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
A
A
 

p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

T
w
o
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
’ 
s
e
m
in
a
rs
 h
a
v
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
. 
A
n
o
th
e
r 
is
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
, 

to
 w
h
ic
h
 n
o
n
-e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 c
e
n
tr
e
, 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 m

e
m
b
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

M
o
re
 s
u
c
h
 e
v
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
d
, 
fi
rs
t,
 f
o
r 
w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 

C
A
A
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 (
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 l
a
te
 J
u
ly
) 

a
n
d
, 
s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
, 
o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 

d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 

a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
 e
a
rl
y
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
. 

C
A
A
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
))
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
ta
k
in
g
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
ro
o
k
a
ll 

R
e
p
o
rt
  

101



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
0
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
B
e
tt
e
r 
m
u
tu
a
l 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 m

e
m
b
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 C
A
A
 

p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

 
 

4
.1
9
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 b
y
 m

e
a
n
s
 

o
f 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 s
e
n
io
r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
n
g
 

in
 p
e
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

fi
n
a
l 
s
ta
g
e
 o
f 
C
P
A
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

It
 i
s
 n
o
w
 t
o
o
 l
a
te
 a
s
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 j
u
s
t 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
e
ir
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
 

m
e
m
b
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
o
lic
y
 g
ro
u
p
 

h
a
s
 a
s
k
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 

s
p
o
n
s
o
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
t 
th
e
ir
 n
e
x
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

It
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
g
re
a
te
r 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 

ID
e
A
 s
p
o
n
s
o
re
d
 p
e
e
r 
w
o
rk
 i
n
 

fu
tu
re
. 

S
o
m
e
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
e
n
io
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
 i
n
 p
e
e
r 

re
v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
  

 

4
.2
0
 R
e
v
is
e
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
is
e
d
 c
o
re
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
a
n
d
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
v
ie
w
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w
it
h
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
le
a
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

a
n
d
 J
M
T
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 

J
u
ly
 0
8
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w
ill
 b
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
u
ty
 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 b
y
 7

th
 J
u
ly
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
s
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

fr
o
m
 e
n
d
-o
f-
J
u
ly
  

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

102



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
1
 

5
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

5
.1
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 s
h
a
re
d
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
s
 

a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

J
o
in
t 
ri
s
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 

p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
o
lk
it
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 P
C
T
 

B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 

M
a
y
. 
 A
ls
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 w
a
s
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

a
n
 A
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
jo
in
t 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
f 
a
ll 
e
x
tr
e
m
e
 r
is
k
s
. 

T
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
ill
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
it
s
 r
is
k
s
 (
s
e
e
 4
.1
 

a
b
o
v
e
).
 

T
h
e
 p
o
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
y
s
te
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
a
r 
fu
tu
re
 w
ill
 

b
e
c
o
m
e
 c
le
a
re
r 
o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 o
p
ti
o
n
 

a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
a
n
d
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a
re
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
o
n
 3
1
s
t  

J
u
ly
. 

S
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
ri
s
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 

fo
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
g
ro
u
p
s
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 

a
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-

to
-h
e
a
r 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 

H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
P
o
lic
y
 

a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

J
o
in
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 r
is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 b
y
 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

W
e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
 

5
.2
 D
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 n
a
m
e
d
 l
e
a
d
 

o
ff
ic
e
rs
, 
in
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

h
a
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

T
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 h
a
v
e
 

a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
 i
n
 l
a
te
 J
u
ly
 t
h
e
 C
A
A
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
it
s
 

d
e
ta
ile
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
. 
 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 b
y
 k
e
y
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
A
n
d
re
w
 

R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-

M
a
rk
o
 

(P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

J
o
in
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 r
is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 b
y
 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

W
e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
  

103



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
2
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
ju
d
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

5
.3
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 

s
h
a
re
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

S
e
e
 5
.1
 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-

to
-h
e
a
r.
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r
is
k
s
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 

H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
P
o
lic
y
 

a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

5
.4
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

ri
s
k
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 r
is
k
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

d
ra
ft
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
la
n
. 

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 R
is
k
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
, 

to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

is
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
..
 

R
is
k
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
’s
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 o
n
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly
. 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 l
e
tt
e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

s
 t
h
is
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll,
 J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

s
u
m
m
a
ry
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 

p
u
b
lic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
ru
s
t 
ri
s
k
s
 

(N
o
v
 0
7
) 

104



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
3
 

6
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
, 
w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w
e
ll
/h
a
s
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 

d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

6
.1
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

th
e
 m

a
n
d
a
to
ry
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
fa
c
to
rs
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

M
a
in
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 w
e
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
re
a
s
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 &
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

F
o
r 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 P
Is
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

b
e
 t
h
e
 p
ri
m
e
 f
a
c
to
r 
in
 t
h
e
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 

re
g
u
la
r 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 C
M
B
 

u
n
ti
l 
e
a
rl
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 

6
.2
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
’ 

in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

fa
c
to
rs
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

M
a
in
 a
re
a
s
 c
a
u
s
in
g
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 w
e
re
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 l
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 W

e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta
b
u
la
ry
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
o
th
e
r 

d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

A
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 6
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
 a
re
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 

a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 m

o
n
it
o
re
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 y
e
a
r 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

n
e
w
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
s
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
e
le
m
e
n
ts
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
/s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

6
.3
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
fa
c
to
rs
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 r
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

F
e
b
 1
0
 

 
H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 
 

F
o
r 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 P
Is
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

b
e
 t
h
e
 p
ri
m
e
 f
a
c
to
r 
in
 t
h
e
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 

re
g
u
la
r 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 C
M
B
 

u
n
ti
l 
e
a
rl
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 

105



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
4
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 m

a
d
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
s
e
t,
 w
it
h
 e
a
c
h
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

h
a
v
in
g
 a
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
le
a
d
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 f
o
c
u
s
 i
s
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
. 

T
h
e
s
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
s
e
e
 4
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
).
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

6
.4
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
’ 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

fa
c
to
rs
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

th
e
 r
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

F
e
b
 1
0
 

 
H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
o
th
e
r 

d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
 

6
.5
 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
s
e
lf
–

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 

 
 

 

In
it
ia
l 
s
e
lf
-a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 C
P
A
 K
e
y
 

L
in
e
s
 o
f 
E
n
q
u
ir
y
 a
n
d
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

C
A
A
. 

S
e
p
t 
0
8
 

T
ra
w
l 
fo
r 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 h
a
s
 

b
e
g
u
n
. 

H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 i
n
 C
P
A
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

T
ra
v
e
l 

J
a
n
 0
9
 

 
S
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
s
e
lf
-

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 C
A
A
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
d
u
e
 f
o
r 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 J
u
ly
, 
a
n
d
 

fi
n
a
lis
e
d
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
) 

M
a
r 
0
9
 (
a
n
d
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

th
e
re
a
ft
e
r)
 

 

S
o
u
n
d
 C
A
A
 r
a
ti
n
g
 (
to
 b
e
 

d
e
fi
n
e
d
 c
le
a
rl
y
 i
n
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 

th
e
 f
in
a
l 
C
A
A
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
) 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 

o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

106



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
5
 

7
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
, 
w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m

in
im

u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

7
.1
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 n
e
w
 u
s
e
 o
f 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

c
ri
te
ri
a
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 

v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
  

M
a
r 
0
8
 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 

a
p
p
ly
 t
o
 2
0
0
8
 b
u
t 
is
 n
o
t 
n
o
w
 t
o
 b
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 u
n
ti
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

In
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
ri
m
, 
th
e
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 h
a
s
 j
o
in
e
d
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 

T
re
a
s
u
re
r’
s
 V
F
M
 N
e
tw
o
rk
, 
a
n
d
 i
s
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
 o
n
 V
F
M
. 
 T
h
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 

re
tu
rn
s
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
. 

T
h
e
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
s
 

in
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 f
o
rt
h
c
o
m
in
g
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
. 

H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
 

p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 1
2
th
 J
u
n
e
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

a
n
d
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 a
n
 

u
p
d
a
te
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
G
i 

C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
, 
A
la
n
 

M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 
o
th
e
r 
h
e
a
d
s
 

o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

M
e
d
iu
m
 T
e
rm

 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
 

h
a
n
d
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
; 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
; 
b
e
in
g
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 l
a
te
s
t 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
o
n
 

th
e
m
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
’ 
s
p
e
c
ia
l 

re
p
o
rt
, 
th
e
 C
ro
o
k
a
ll 

R
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 I
n
v
e
s
to
r 
in
 

P
e
o
p
le
 i
n
fo
rm

a
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

S
e
e
 7
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
  

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

F
e
b
 0
9
 &
 F
e
b
 

1
0
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

7
.2
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

n
e
w
 u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
c
ri
te
ri
a
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 m

ile
s
to
n
e
s
 t
h
a
t 

c
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 r
a
ti
n
g
 

F
e
b
 0
9
 &
 F
e
b
 

1
0
 

 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 

m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

A
s
 f
o
r 
7
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
 

107



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
6
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

J
a
n
 0
9
 

7
.3
 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 U
s
e
 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 s
e
lf
-

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il  

M
a
r 
0
9
 (
a
n
d
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

th
e
re
a
ft
e
r)
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 

m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

7
.4
 D
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
, 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 A
p
ri
l.
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 

M
e
e
t 
a
) 
th
e
 A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 b
e
s
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 b
) 

IS
O
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
d
a
ta
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
o
h
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
th
o
n
y
 S
a
w
y
e
r)
 

D
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 b
y
 A
n
th
o
n
y
 

S
a
w
y
e
r 

108



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
7
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

O
ff
ic
e
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
b
ri
e
f 
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 o
n
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
8
th
. 
 A
 s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
 o
f 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 o
f 

th
e
 P
C
T
 B
o
a
rd
 w
a
s
 s
e
t 
u
p
 t
o
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 i
n
 m

o
re
 

d
e
ta
il.
  
T
h
e
 s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

b
a
c
k
 t
o
 S
M
C
 o
n
 1
3
th
 J
u
n
e
. 

A
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 t
e
n
d
e
re
d
 

to
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 

p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 

a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
J
u
n
e
 a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 f
in
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 i
s
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 f
o
r 
2
6
th
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
  
A
 r
e
p
o
rt
 w
ill
 b
e
 

s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
fo
r 
d
e
c
is
io
n
 i
n
 

O
c
to
b
e
r/
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r.
 

P
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

7
.5
 R
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

b
a
c
k
-o
ff
ic
e
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

D
e
c
 1
0
 

 
A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

ra
ti
o
n
a
lis
e
d
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
M
a
lc
o
lm
 

M
a
c
A
s
k
ill
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

7
.6
 R
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

fr
o
n
t 
a
n
d
 b
a
c
k
-o
ff
ic
e
 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
s
  

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

 
F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 r
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
e
d
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
. 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll 

 

109



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
8
 

8
. 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
, 
s
ta
ff
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
li
c
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 p
re
p
a
re
d
. 
 

C
o
v
e
rs
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 

w
h
o
le
, 
n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
in
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
is
 

C
A
A
 p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
 T
o
 

b
e
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 C
A
A
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

S
e
m
in
a
rs
 h
e
ld
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

a
n
d
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
. 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

n
o
n
-e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 

fu
tu
re
 s
e
m
in
a
rs
. 
 

F
ir
s
t 
P
re
s
s
, 
T
e
a
m
 T
a
lk
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 m

e
d
ia
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 

ra
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
. 
 R
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
e
d
 i
n
 h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

g
ro
u
p
, 
s
o
 m

e
s
s
a
g
e
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

c
a
s
c
a
d
e
d
. 

 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

in
 p
la
c
e
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

 
T
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 

c
o
n
s
ti
tu
e
n
t 
p
a
rt
s
 a
re
 

u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
s
 

8
.1
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 a
n
d
 r
o
lle
d
 o
u
t 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
C
o
m
m
it
te
d
 a
n
d
 

m
o
ti
v
a
te
d
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
, 

s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

R
o
b
e
rt
 B
lo
w
e
r 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
S
te
v
e
 

M
a
rt
in
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 w
id
e
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 r
e
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 

110



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
9
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
S
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
e
n
tr
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

th
e
 p
u
b
lic
, 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 

th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

im
p
re
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 w
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
  

 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
 

 
 

 

111



112



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Andrew Williams, Interim Deputy Chief Executive on (01432) 260037  
  

FinalConnectscabinetreport2107080.doc  

HEREFORDSHIRE CONNECTS OPTION APPRAISAL 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: ICT EDUCATION AND ACHIEVEMENT / 
CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES AND HUMAN RESOURCES 

CABINET 31 JULY 2008 

 
Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To seek approval of recommendations arising from an Options Appraisal of Herefordshire 
Connects to determine the future focus, purpose and outcomes for the Council’s 
development of Information and Communications Technology (ICT) systems required to 
achieve cost effective, service improvements for customers, in partnership with 
Herefordshire Primary Care Trust (PCT). 

Key Decision  

This is a Key Decision because it is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on 
communities living or working in Herefordshire in an area comprising one or more wards. 

It was included in the Forward Plan. 

Recommendations 

 THAT: 

 (a) Herefordshire Connects be re-focused on implementing the three 
updated business cases and further developing these business 
cases jointly with the PCT as Herefordshire Public Services 
partners, as defined in section 5.3 of the report attached; 

(b) Cabinet note the critical risks to service continuity of key ICT 
system failures. This is due to the current large number of 
inadequately connected systems requiring upgrades that would 
not achieve the Council’s ambitions for improving customer 
services and satisfaction, provide poor value for money or that 
are no longer supported by providers due to their age;  

(c) The Council’s ICT system application portfolio be rationalised to 
achieve the minimum number of integrated applications by Joint 
Management Team and Deloitte conducting a two month 
evaluation of: 

a. the four market proven system providers for an integrated 
back office system and associated integration tools to enable 

AGENDA ITEM 8

113



integration between Council systems and where jointly 
approved, Council and PCT systems, as stated in Section 6.4 
of the report attached; 

b. the two market proven system providers for an integrated 
environment and planning system, as stated in Section 6.4 of 
the report attached; 

c. market proven system providers for an integrated 
performance management system, as stated in Section 6.4 of 
the report attached; 

(d) A report on the recommendations arising from (c) above be 
produced for the Cabinet in October 2008; 

(e) The Customer Relationship Management System Upgrade should 
proceed to secure the significant increase in system efficiency 
and customer service standards. Deloitte advise this upgrade is 
already delivering these for other Council users of this system; 

(f) The current Finance System Upgrade should proceed; which will 
address imminent service continuity risks 

(g) The Joint Management Team implement Connects Programme 
Management arrangements based on Section 8 of the report 
attached to provide assurance to the Council, and where relevant 
PCT, of compliance with the applicable Procurement Policies and 
best practice in the Project Management risks, costs and the 
realisation of benefits for customers and staff. 

Reasons 

1 The Audit Commission has been maintaining an overview of the council’s progress 
with Herefordshire Connects, and in its Annual Audit & Inspection Letter 
recommended that before progressing further elements the council take the 
opportunity “.to re-focus and clarify the purpose, outcomes and actions of 
Herefordshire Connects. This should include formally considering in a short paper 
what other options are still open to the council including the costs, benefits and risks 
of each option. It should also set out how the programme fits with the new joint 
working arrangements with the Primary Care Trust.” 

2 Joint Management Team has led an option appraisal with Deloitte, as the Council’s 
strategic partners for Connects, to implement this recommendation and address the  
current and future impact on service delivery to customers and for staff caused by the 
pause in implementing the majority of the Connects Programme. The purpose of the 
option appraisal was to: 

a. ensure the vision for Herefordshire Connects is fit for purpose both now and 
for the future; 

b. update the business cases to take account of current and future needs and 
identify those benefits already achieved; 

c. ensure that governance arrangements are robust and appropriate. 

114



Considerations 

Strategic Monitoring Committee 

3 A consolidated report providing a detailed chronology of the Connects Programme 
was scrutinised by the Strategic Monitoring Committee at the Committee’s meeting 
on 31 January. 

4 A report on the JMT option appraisal exercise and the Deloitte report attached was 
presented to Strategic Monitoring Committee on 16 July 2008.  

5 The Committee noted the conclusion that the original Connects vision is still valid 
with a recommendation in the appraisal that the programme is re-shaped and 
prioritised to reflect increased joint working with the Primary Care Trust and the 
increased risk of key ICT system failure. 

6 The Committee agreed that there is clearly a need promptly to address the growing 
risk of systems failures highlighted in the Deloitte report.  It has also suggested that 
the wording of the proposed new vision for Herefordshire Connects should be 
revisited.  Through this report, Cabinet is also being advised of the Committee’s 
continuing desire for reassurance that the Connects project will deliver what is now 
promised, noting that promises in the earlier life of the project did not come to fruition, 
and its wish that Cabinet ensures measures are put in place to enable effective 
monitoring of the delivery of the project.  

Herefordshire Connects Vision 
 
7 The original vision was found to be still valid and relevant to the Council’s wider 

vision. However, the Connects vision has been refreshed to reflect the broader 
change programme, necessary to support the active pursuit of closer partnership 
arrangements with the Primary Care Trust, to which it contributes. The proposed 
refreshed vision, taking into account feedback from Strategic Monitoring Committee, 
is: 

“Herefordshire Connects will to help forge a new joint culture of partnership working, 
reduce overall costs, rationalise and update systems and infrastructure, and harmonise 
and improve accessibility and responsiveness of services to both internal and external 
customers. Herefordshire Connects will support the Council, as part of Herefordshire 
Public Services, by providing the technology to support staff in the delivery of high 
quality, responsive and integrated service.”  

8 This will be achieved by: 

• Improving the service outcomes delivered to customers through integrated customer 
services, thereby positively impacting the Council’s performance rating in core 
service areas; 

• Delivering productivity gains, including cashable savings to address budget 
challenges, in front line service delivery and in the back office, through integrated 
support services; and 

• Aligning organisational goals and individual performance objectives, refining and 
integrating existing corporate performance management processes and embedding a 
performance-oriented culture within the organisation. 

Delivery of Herefordshire Connects 
 
9 The above points will be addressed through the creation of three strategic service 

115



improvement programmes, led by the responsible Joint Management Team members 
and supported by the Connects Programme: 

• Integrated Customer Services Business Case 

• Integrated Support Services Business Case 

• Performance Management and Risk Management Business Case. 

Technology Options 
 
10 To ensure that systems are in place to support the delivery of the vision, it is 

recommended that the number of ICT applications are rationalised to the minimum 
necessary. This strategy should be complemented by investment in technology to 
support effective integration. It is therefore recommended that during the next two 
months, with the strategic advice of Deloitte, the council evaluates and selects, 
through the existing framework agreement and from a set of proven market solutions, 
the following software applications: 

• Integrated ‘Back Office’ system 

• Integrated Environment & Regeneration system 

• Performance Management system 

• Integration tools 

11 A prioritised and scheduled programme roadmap is proposed to support the 
recommendations (Section 5.4). Two interdependent recommendations arising from 
the Deloitte report are that: 

• to address severe service continuity risks, the current Finance System 
(Cedar) Upgrade should proceed; 

• the Customer Relationship Management System (SAP CRM) Upgrade should 
proceed to secure the significant increase in system efficiency and customer 
service standards Deloitte advise that they have thoroughly reviewed this 
upgrade which is already delivering benefits for other Council and private 
sector users. 

12 Business cases for both upgrades have demonstrated that costs are limited because 
these are applications the Council already owns. Both upgrades are consistent with 
the roadmap and the recommended evaluation and selection exercise set out in 
paragraph 10 above.      

Legal Implications 

13 As explained in the Consolidated Report on the Herefordshire Connects Programme, 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 31 January 2008, Deloitte were selected through a 
competitive procurement exercise as strategic advice and implementation partners to 
the Council for the Connects Programme. Deloitte are not the providers of specific 
provider system applications. As already established for the Connects Social Care 
(Corelogic Framework implementation), all procurements operate as separate work 
packages within the Council and Deloitte Framework Agreement, which is compliant 
with the Council’s current Procurement Policy.   

Financial Implications 

14 The council has made savings during the period of the ‘strategic pause’ of some 
£1.7m which was in the previous Herefordshire Connects Business Case, including 

116



£0.75m procurement savings, which have been delivered with the engagement of the 
Connects Programme team.  

15 Based on ‘worst case’ costings that reflect the cost if all selected providers were the 
highest cost provider and the revised cashable benefits set to reflect the most 
prudent level of savings, a revised financial profile has been established (Appendix 
A, paragraph 7.7). As previously, CAPITA have undertaken an independent review of 
these figures. The revised profile identifies the need for the council to invest £2.8m in 
the programme over the first two years, but that the programme begins to be ‘cash-
positive’ by the third year, and by the fifth year will generate recurring cashable 
savings of at least £3.4m.  

16 The Director of Resources has confirmed the investment of £2.8m in the programme 
over the first two years is affordable within the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan. This assessment is based on the Council’s general fund balance of £6.728m at 
the end of financial year 2007/08 being approximately £2.75 million above the 
recommended level and therefore able to help support the programme. In addition 
there is a £1.115m specific reserve for Invest to Save on the Council’s balance sheet. 
These are non-recurring funding sources but can be used to meet the £2.8m 
investment requirement in the programme’s first two years. The overall financial 
position is assisted in significant part by the Council’s financial performance in 
2007/08 and the higher than anticipated Comprehensive Spending Review 
settlement from the Government for financial years 2008/09 to 2010/11. The longer 
term affordability of the programme is also assisted by capacity in the current 
MTFMS.  

17 The Business Case also identifies significant non-cashable benefits including offering 
customers enhanced choices in how they interact with the Council face to face, over 
the telephone and online and reducing staff time spent entering and accessing the 
same information in multiple systems. 

18 The Connects Programme is interdependent with the Council’s ability to secure 
customer service benefits and cost efficiencies through the strategic accommodation 
review and the Herefordshire Public Services partnership with the PCT.  The 
strategic accommodation review is addressing accommodation efficiencies.  These 
are outside the scope of the Connects Programme.  However, the potential for 
accommodation efficiencies formed part of the Axon high-level business case 
estimate in 2006 (Appendix A, para 3.2).      

Risk Management 

19 The Council is exposed to critical risks to service continuity of key ICT system 
failures. This is due to the current large number of inadequately connected systems 
requiring upgrades that would not achieve the Council’s ambitions for improving 
customer services and satisfaction, provide poor value for money or that are no 
longer supported by providers due to their age.  

20 Connects Programme governance and risk management structure has been 
refreshed with Joint Management Team (Appendix A, paragraph 8.1) to reflect the 
newly defined programme and to ensure accountability and alignment with the 
revised senior management structure and risk register assurance framework. Links 
have also been developed to ensure integration with the wider Human Resources 
and Organisational Development and Accommodation change agendas. 

21 For completeness sake the options appraisal has also reconfirmed the corporate and 
service resource requirement, in broad terms, to support delivery of the programme.  

117



This includes taking account of the implications for human resources and other 
internal resource requirements (Section 8.3) 

Alternative Options 

22 The existing and new options available to the Council that are capable of meeting the 
Council’s requirements are identified in the Deloitte report attached (Section 6). 
These requirements are capability to deliver the Council’s priorities for service 
improvement; evidence of market proven systems; minimising application platforms; 
maximising systems integration; and enabling joint business case development with 
Herefordshire PCT. 

Consultees 

23 Consultation took place with Strategic Monitoring Committee, Joint Management 
Team and service and ICT managers involved with the three business cases. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Herefordshire Connects – The Way Forwards, an Options Appraisal, Deloitte, 
7 July 2008. 

Background Papers 

• Consolidated Report on the Herefordshire Connects Programme, Strategic Monitoring 
Committee 31 January 2008; 

• Herefordshire Council ICT Strategy 2007 – 2011. 

118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Andrew Tector on (01432) 260 
  

cabinetreportwastecollectionv60.doc  

WASTE COLLECTION CONTRACT 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: ENVIRONMENT AND  
STRATEGIC HOUSING 

CABINET 31 JULY 2008 
 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To approve the principles of a specification of a new Waste Collection Contract to 
commence in 2009. 

Key Decision  

This is a Key Decision because it is likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure above 
agreed budgets for the service or function (shown as a line in the budget book) to which the 
decision relates but allowing for virements between budget heads and savings within budget 
heads of up to £500,000.  It is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on communities 
living or working in Herefordshire in an area comprising one or more wards. 

It was included in the Forward Plan. 

Recommendation(s) 

 THAT: 

 (a) A weekly refuse collection service is provided at the kerbside for 
all households in the county and that plastic sacks are used for 
this purpose. 

(b) The kerbside recycling service is extended to as near 100% of the 
county’s homes as is practicable from the current level of c.75%. 

(c) The recycling service should collect mixed materials from the 
kerbside including glass, paper, cardboard, plastic and metal 
cans and that the collections should be made fortnightly. The 
Council will provide a rigid container (a wheeled bin) for the 
purposes of collecting and presenting the recyclables. 
Householders may choose an appropriate sized bin from a 
number that will be offered. 

AGENDA ITEM 9

163



(d) Both services (waste and recycling) will offer to anyone who has 
difficulty presenting waste and recycling at the kerbside (whether 
through old age, disability or other reasonable cause) a 
collection from any agreed part of their property.  

(e) Officers, through the procurement process, explore all 
opportunities to add value to the new waste and recycling 
collection contract especially provision of additional services by 
contractor’s staff whilst undertaking their main duties. For 
example, the collection and delivery of library books from 
vulnerable people, reporting road defects, carrying out 
automated road condition surveys, the delivery and collection of 
community equipment such as walking frames and other aids, 
and any other possibilities that become apparent. 

Reasons 

1 The recommendations seek to ensure that Herefordshire Council will continue to 
provide a refuse collection service that meets its statutory duties and provides the 
best possible levels of service whilst minimising the risks of excessive increase in the 
contract cost but significantly improves recycling rates. 

Considerations 

The existing contract and waste strategy 

2 The Council’s current waste collection contract commenced in July 1999 and the 
Contractor is Focsa UK Ltd.  The original contract was let as a six year contract with 
the scope to extend the contract for a further four years.  The Council originally 
extended the Contract by 2 years up until July 2008 and have recently extended it by 
a further year, meaning it would end on the 31st July 2009.  A further 3 month 
extension has been negotiated meaning the contract will now finish at the end of 
October 2009. 

3 The expiry of the current contract is due to coincide with the opening of the new 
Commingled Materials Recycling Facility (CMRF) being commissioned in Worcester, 
as part of the Waste PFI Herefordshire Council shares with Worcestershire County 
Council and our contractor, Mercia Waste.  The CMRF is due for completion in 
September 2009 although reports indicate there may be some slippage in the project. 

4 The CMRF was commissioned to support the Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy for Herefordshire and Worcestershire 2004 -2034 which was endorsed by 
Herefordshire Council’s Cabinet on the 15th July 2004.  The CMRF was seen as 
pivotal in supporting a vision for Alternate Weekly Waste Collection across both 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire.  The Strategy closely followed the aims of 
national strategies in implementing the “Waste Hierarchy”, which is making our 
principle aim waste minimisation followed by reuse, then recycling, recovery (e.g. 
energy from waste) and finally landfill. 

5 The principle behind the CMRF is to enable the collection authorities to maximise the 
collection of recyclables by making recycling as simple as possible and removing the 
need for residents to sort recyclables and to collect mixed recyclables on a fortnightly 
basis.  The CMRF has greater capabilities than the existing Material Recycling 
Facilities at Rotherwas and Evesham in that it will be capable of handling glass and 
other packaging. 

164



6 Since the Strategy was agreed in 2004 there has been a substantial national 
backlash against “alternate weekly collection” and Officers were asked to explore 
alternative options.  

Current service 

7 The Council has a statutory duty to provide recycling to all residents in its district. The 
current recycling scheme only provides recycling to 75% of residents.  There are 
some exceptions to this duty principally where the provision of the service would be 
prohibitively expensive.  It is clear that because of the rural nature of Herefordshire 
there will be a number of properties that fall into this category.  These properties will 
be identified during the procurement process. The aim however is to provide as near 
to 100% coverage as reasonably possible. 

8 The Council needs to continue to provide a refuse and recycling collection service 
that maintains or exceeds the public satisfaction of the current schemes (88% and 
63% respectively) whilst improving recycling performance.   

9 Recent waste analysis data indicates that the average black bag in Herefordshire 
contains at least 21% (by weight) items that could be recycled under the proposed 
scheme. 

10 The strong view of the administration is that the best way of improving recycling rates 
is to make recycling simple and convenient. This means collecting all recyclable 
materials together in a single container from the kerbside. Due to the potential hazard 
from glass and some metals (e.g. can lids) to both residents and waste staff a rigid 
container must be used. The most commonly available (and therefore cost effective) 
of which is a wheeled bin. Wheeled bins are also available in a number of different 
sizes. 

11 It is recognised that there are some properties where wheeled bins may not be 
appropriate and they may need to continue with a sack collection for recyclables.  
Work will need to be undertaken during the procurement process to identify such 
properties.  However these will be the exception and the clear expectation for the 
vast majority will be for properties to use a wheeled bin for their recyclables. 

12 Where residents, for reason of old age, disability or other reasons, are unable to 
present their waste and recycling at the kerbside then arrangements will be made on 
a household by household basis to collect both waste and recycling from an agreed 
location convenient to the resident. 

13 If, despite encouraging rather than penalising residents, higher recycling rates are 
not achieved the consequences in financial terms will be considerable. For this 
reason it is important that the council reserves its right to introduce more rigid 
measures in the future should the need arise. 

Current Recycling Performance 

14 The Council’s current recycling performance is just over 30% and is broken down as 
detailed in the chart below.  

165



Percentage Split of Current Recycling Performance

Kerbside Recycling

32%

Bring Sites

18%

Household Waste Sites 

Recycling

22%

Household Waste Sites 

Composting

28%

 

15 This performance demonstrates that the Council will need to make the Kerbside 
Recycling schemes work considerably harder than they currently do to meet the 
national targets especially as there are indications that these targets may well be 
moved up to 50% by 2020. 

16 In addition to recycling targets the Council also has to meet its Landfill Allowance 
Trading Scheme (LATS) targets for the diversion of biodegradable waste from 
landfill.  Whilst the relationship between kerbside recycling and LATS is not direct it is 
important that the Council minimises waste going to landfill.  Herefordshire is now 
reliant on trading with Worcestershire and will only be able to meet the 2010 target by 
trading.  Unless the two Councils and our contractors have built waste disposal 
facilities by 2013 Worcestershire will also need to trade LATS or move waste to 
disposal facilities outside the two counties.  

Meeting National Targets 

17 The Council, through its Local Area Agreement (LAA) has committed to reduce 
residual household waste per household from 852kg to 691kg by 2010/11 (NI191).  
Waste minimisation is key to this. 

18 The Council, along with all other local authorities, has new targets set under the 
National Waste Strategy to recycle or compost 40% of its waste.  Our current 
performance is approximately 30%. (NI 192) Whilst the 10% gap doesn’t initially 
appear to be a big gap there are some inherent dangers in supposing this will be 
easy.  At the moment the Council facilitates recycling in three ways, through the 
existing Kerbside schemes (both the Council’s and the Rebox scheme in Ross), the 
Bring Sites and the Household Waste Sites. 

19 The Cabinet Member, Director and senior managers have had discussions with 
EnviroAbility (who manage the Rebox scheme) with the aim of securing sustainable 
sources of work in the recycling area. These discussions have been very fruitful and 
both parties are committing resources to ensure the survival and expansion of this 
valuable and highly regarded social enterprise.  

166



Contract duration 

20 It is proposed that the contract be a seven year contract which is extendable for 
another seven years subject to review and agreement of both parties.  A seven year 
contract maximises the contractor’s capital investment in refuse vehicles which 
normally have a “write off” period of seven years. 

Other Considerations 

21 The provision of weekly waste collections and fortnightly recycling collections must 
be seen in the context of a wider logistics operation. Given the high cost (both 
financial and environmental) of running large vehicles all over Herefordshire it is 
essential that other tasks that could be undertaken by contractors staff are 
considered carefully, Through consultation with staff a number of possibilities have 
been put forward: 

a. Collection and delivery of library books to vulnerable people 

b. Collection and delivery of community equipment such as walking frames etc 

c. Reporting of road defects and other environmental issues 

d. Using the refuse vehicles to carry automatic road condition survey equipment 

e. Offering a free mailing service for correspondence from residents to the Council 
or PCT 

22 All of these possibilities and more will need to be carefully considered along with any 
increase in costs albeit that other existing costs may be avoided by using the new 
contract in this way. 

23 The current contract allows for backdoor collection of residual waste and kerbside 
collection of recyclables.  Clearly this is quite an anomalous situation and it is evident 
that the vast majority of residents present their refuse and recyclables for collection 
at the kerbside.  It is proposed that within new contract both refuse and recyclables 
are collected at the kerbside although there will be provision within the contract for 
assisted backdoor collections where appropriate (see paragraph 13).  

24 Garden Waste – The waste PFI includes provision for the composting of garden 
waste through the Household Waste Sites.  The costs of providing a garden waste 
composting collection service have, in the past, made this option too expensive to 
consider.  In addition introducing such a scheme could increase the overall tonnages 
put through the contract by as much as 20%.  This would substantially increase 
recycling performance but as well as the costs of providing the service it would 
radically alter the tonnage differentials between Herefordshire and Worcestershire, 
triggering costs to Herefordshire of at least £300,000 through the PFI contract.  
Garden Waste is a waste we have a duty to collect but for which we can make a 
charge.  It is suggested the current policy continues and a charge continues to be 
made for garden waste to discourage residents from using the waste collection 
system to dispose of such waste.  The County is extremely active in promoting home 
composting and has one of the highest take-ups of composting bins anywhere in 
England. 

25 In addition, the Cabinet Member (with officer support) is actively exploring options for 
local composting facilities with the potential involvement of parish councils, housing 
associations and others.  

167



Legal Implications 

26 The principal legal issue is the requirement to provide kerbside recycling to all 
properties except where financially prohibitive. 

Financial Implications 

27 It is clear that as a minimum the Council needs to extend its current kerbside 
recycling scheme to at least another 20% of the County.  It is too early to provide an 
accurate estimate of the potential increase in costs above the existing contract; 
however they are likely to be significant.   

28 However, the procurement process should be highly competitive and the possibility of 
containing these costs, at least in part, should not be discounted. A new, modern 
fleet will offer certain advantages (for example fuel consumption and emissions 
levels) which may lead to better operating costs.  

29 Normal contract inflation will be part of any new arrangements and volatility in fuel 
prices, for example, will be ultimately at the Council’s risk. 

30 Other costs that need to be considered are a failure of the collection contract to 
deliver diversion from landfill could lead to increased costs through Landfill Tax and 
the Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme – however these costs are extremely difficult 
to quantify.   

31 The other principal concern would be the decoupling of Herefordshire’s service from 
that agreed in the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy.  If Herefordshire fails 
to restrict waste growth and Worcestershire does, the payment formula changes and 
every 1% difference in the growth of waste in Herefordshire from Worcestershire 
means Herefordshire has to pay an extra £300,000 in waste disposal costs. 

Risk Management 

32 The risks associated with this decision are detailed in the considerations element of 
this report.  Essentially the risks fall into three categories 

a. Reputational – it is clear that Alternate Weekly Collection systems are particularly 
unpopular with the public.  However they do deliver high levels of minimisation 
and recycling at relatively low costs.  In light of the public consultation officers 
have been endeavouring to develop a scheme that has the widest levels of public 
approval whilst delivering (or is at least is capable of delivering) the best 
performance.   

b. Financial - failure to minimise waste and increase recycling potentially exposes 
the Council to financial risks from Landfill Tax, the Landfill Allowance Trading 
Scheme and the Joint Waste Management PFI payment formula.  There is 
currently no capability within existing budgets to meet any increases to the costs 
of this service, other than through the current underspend on the Waste PFI.  
Using the underspend from the Waste PFI Budget as a basis for funding 
collection is very high risk because there are expected to be pressures over the 
next few years as the costs of increased diversion (or failure to divert) from landfill 
of waste have to be met from the PFI budget and it is extremely unlikely that the 
current PFI budget is in itself capable of meeting our medium to longer-term 
commitments. 

168



c. Performance – at this stage failure to meet recycling targets would only pose a 
reputational risk and the performance of the Council against recycling targets 
however the LAA targets do carry the risk of penalty.  A failure to deliver our 
recycling and LAA targets is not however the only risk with poor performance and 
the potential financial penalties are detailed in paragraph b above.  It is clear that 
across the country other local authorities have used rigid containers to drive 
performance by trying to restrict the amount of residual waste collected, this is 
most easily done by providing rigid containers and adopting no side waste and 
closed lid policies which is relatively cheap to police.  The principal risk for the 
authority is that if the Council continues to use sacks the principal method of 
improving recycling performance will be educational, not always 100% effective.  
The costs associated with moving from an educational process to a more 
restrictive collection regime, if behavioural changes do not take place, are likely to 
be high.  Finally there are now strong indications that authorities will be given a 
statutory duty to minimise the waste it collects. 

Alternative Options 

33 There are a number of ways a new contract can be specified to deliver the waste 
collection contract.  These options vary from the introduction of Alternate Weekly 
Collection to carrying on the service as it is currently provided.  

34 Maintaining the status quo (i.e. continuing with a weekly sack based kerbside 
recycling system and weekly sack based residual collection for 75% of the County 
will not involve the authority in higher levels of expenditure.  However, the Council’s 
recycling performance is unlikely to improve significantly to reach the required 40%.  
Whilst the current scheme is relatively popular the authority is regularly criticised for 
not providing a kerbside recycling service to 25% of the County. 

35 Unless we adopted the bulk delivery of sacks, complaints about undelivered/lost 
sacks will continue and these complaints form by far and away the largest proportion 
of service complaints.  In addition, although the new commingled Materials Recycling 
Facility can handle glass, it is not possible to collect glass in polythene sacks for 
obvious reasons.  Glass is a significant proportion of the waste stream and would 
produce relatively high tonnages and not collecting such recyclables would severely 
inhibit the Council’s potential to increase recycling. 

36 The costs of extending the existing scheme across the County are likely to be 
relatively expensive and are only likely to produce minimal improvement in recycling 
performance and leaves the authority with no way of minimising the levels of residual 
waste. 

Consultees 

37 Herefordshire Council sought the views of interested residents by placing 
advertisements in the Hereford Times and Hereford Journal (who also ran a positive 
front page story and editorial about the consultation) inviting people to sign up for an 
interactive web log (blog), phoning us or writing via email or conventional letter. 

38 This is the first time a blog has been run by the Council and the consultation saw 
more than 200 people sign up to participate. Overall we received more than 500 
responses.  All of those who left contact details via email have received an email 
from the Cabinet Member thanking them for taking part and explaining that their 
views would be both taken into account and would inform both this report and the 
Cabinet’s decision.  When Cabinet have made a decision on this issue all 

169



participants will be written to to inform them of the result. 

39 The results of the consultation have shown that there is a distinct public aversion to 
any proposal to introduce alternate weekly collection for waste.  The consultation 
has, however shown a much more divided view on the use of wheeled bins.  Opinion 
does seem equally divided on whether or not wheeled bins are desirable.   

40 Objections to wheeled bins appear to be based around three areas; firstly they are 
considered to be unsightly, secondly they are not suitable for all types of property 
and thirdly they are not suitable for those with limited mobility.  Whilst there is no 
doubt that wheeled bins are not particularly easy on the eye no waste container is. 
One very helpful blogger posted details of a website where colourful transfers could 
be obtained for wheeled bins depicting a variety of scenes. The second two points 
are dealt with in this report. 

41 Some concerns were raised about the future of the EnvrioAbility scheme – this is 
addressed in paragraph 20. 

42 The summary report of the consultation may be found at Appendix 1 and the full 
information on which this is based is available as a background paper. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Report of the Waste Collection Consultation 

Background Papers 

•       Waste Strategy 2007 

•       The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Herefordshire & Worcestershire, 
2004-2034 

•       Herefordshire Household Waste Analysis Comparative Seasonal Report December 2007 

170



Appendix 1 

V1 -11 July 08 

Report on: Waste collection discussion forum 
 
Background 
The council’s current waste collection contract is about to run out. The refuse 
vehicles are in need of repair/replacement. The council has a commitment through 
the Local Area Agreement (LAA) and a Government requirement to drive down waste 
and increase recycling.  

 
 A discussion forum on the future of waste collection in Herefordshire was launched 
through the local press on 22 May 2008. People were asked through an 
advertisement in the Hereford Times for their views on the Council’s proposal to keep 
weekly black bag collection of refuse alongside a fortnightly collection of mixed 
recyclables in a wheeled bin. 
 
Respondents could contact the council via the ‘Have your say’ consultation pages on 
the website, or through the front office ‘Info by phone’ route, or directly to the waste 
services manager via email/telephone. 
 
In the second week of the discussion period a different advertisement was employed 
focusing on the council’s need to increase its recycling rate from 30% to 40%, but 
again encouraging people to take part in the interactive ‘Online Discussion Forum’ or 
calling an advisor in Info by Phone.  
 
More media coverage then led to a third advertisement being used, and an extension 
of the discussion period up to10 July. 
 
There were approximately 500 inputs into the discussion. 
 

Overview of responses 
There was never an intention to make this a quantitative survey; it was an opportunity 
for people to express their views about council proposals before the council draws up 

the specification for a new waste collection contract. 
 
‘Online Discussion Forum’/website responses 
There were several comments that people are happy with the current system so why 
change. 
 
For those who commented on the suggestion of keeping a weekly collection of 
residual refuse, the majority were in favour. Some, who said they did not produce 
much refuse would be happy with alternate weekly collection, but for many fortnightly 
collection they believed would encourage vermin and create smells. 
 
The use of black bags for weekly collection had rather mixed responses, many being 
concerned about the bags adding to the material going to landfill and therefore 
desiring that the bags be made from biodegradable material. Other issues included 
the problem with animals tearing open the bags once they have been presented for 
collection, and for some the litter problem when the empty bags are blown about. 
Some would like bulk delivery of bags. 
 
 
The use of wheelie bins for mixed recyclables also received a mixed response, those 
‘against’ citing: loss in value of ‘contaminated’ recycled materials; storage and access 
problems; unsightliness if wheelie bins have to be stored at the front of properties; 

171



Appendix 1 

V1 -11 July 08 

potential vandalism; cost; difficulties that may be encountered by older, disabled and 
vulnerable people.  
Responses also indicated the Ross-on Wye ‘blue-box’ scheme is held in very great 
esteem and that it is hoped that alternative employment is found for EnviroAbility 
employees. 
 
There were several suggestions for ‘rigid containers’ for glass recycling, rather than 
wheelie bins. 
 
The majority of those not currently on a kerbside collection round would be glad to be 
included in the new scheme, although some are content to use household 
waste/bring sites. 

 
For those who considered wheelie bins as a means of collecting residual waste, fears 
were expressed about bins being ‘chipped’, possibly leading to differing council tax 
demands for those producing too much waste or not recycling enough. 
 
Other concerns expressed focussed on green waste disposal and the cost of green 
bags that then go to landfill, and improvement of household waste sites. 
 
Info by phone 
As with the on-line discussion the majority of people think collecting residual waste 
weekly is the right thing to do. Most would also prefer to keep the black bag system 
as opposed to a wheeled bin, but comments again centred on using biodegradable 
bags if possible. 
 
About half the telephone respondents would be happy to have a fortnightly collection 
of mixed recyclables, with fewer people wanting a wheelie bin for this purpose. 
 
Opposition to wheeled bins centred around access, unsightliness, and older/disabled 
people not being able to physically handle the bins or move them to kerbside. 
 
Where other comments were noted people expressed pleasure with the current 
scheme, especially ‘blue-box’ recycling. 
 

 
Contact with the waste services manager 
In addition to the Online Discussion Forum and telephone messages, Richard Wood 
received messages via emails direct to him and ethelpline. There were 37 in total. 
 
There was a clear majority in favour of a weekly collection, a majority in favour of 
keeping with the existing black sack collections and also a majority against the 
introduction of wheeled bins.  Interestingly, the main objections to wheeled bins were 
difficulty of access, long drives and difficulties for the elderly whilst one of the 
respondents had experience of wheeled bins in Torbay and commented that it 
worked well even though it was hilly, residents were elderly and they were in favour 
of wheeled bins. 
 
 

The way forward 
It should be noted that approximately 500 people contributed to this discussion and 
there are ~80,000 households in Herefordshire.  
 

172



Appendix 1 

V1 -11 July 08 

Respondents were also limited to those who read the Hereford Times or the Hereford 
Journal and have access to the internet or a telephone. 
 
Respondents were not offered a range of choices for waste collection but were asked 
to comment on proposals put forward by the council. 
 
Whilst the results of this discussion are interesting, it should be recognised that often 
people do not have an opinion until actually faced by the reality of a situation. Once 
the council has decided on the specification for the new waste collection contract, 
and change is imminent, there may be much greater interest and concern around 
specific issues. 
 
What the discussion has highlighted is the need for a public relations programme and 
continuous communications around the future of waste, in order for people to have 
fears allayed and customers to know the council does listen to them. 
 
The ‘frequently asked questions’ should be publicised widely and modified over time 
as new significant questions arise.  
 

173



174



 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from David Powell, Head of Financial 
Services on 01432 383173 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 2007/08 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: RESOURCES 

CABINET 31 JULY 2008  

 

Wards Affected 

Countywide. 

Purpose 

To note the council’s treasury management activities for the period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008 
and the outturn of Prudential Indicators for the year 2007/08. 

Key Decision  

This is not a key decision.   

RECOMMENDATION  

THAT the report detailed in Appendix 1 be noted.   

Reasons 

1. The reporting of the past financial year’s performance is a requirement of the council’s 
Treasury Management Policy Statement. 

Considerations 

2. A detailed report is attached at Appendix 1 with the following key points specifically drawn 
to the attention of Cabinet: 

a. Herefordshire Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of 
risk as the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities are measured. 

b. With regard to the transactions for the financial year 2007/08, the council’s treasury 
management activities created an under spend against budget (Section 4 of the report 
refers).  

c. The return on internally managed investments exceeded the index benchmark for 
2007/08 (Section 3 of the report refers).  In 2007/08 treasury management activity 
made a contribution of £2.8m to the Council’s finances.  This was £804k above target. 

d. The externally managed funds were brought in-house during 2007/08.  This was done 
because the Council’s own investment performance exceeded that of Investec who had 
been managing £7.8m of our funds. 

e. The treasury limits and prudential indicators were complied with during 2007/08 
(Section 7 of the report refers). 

AGENDA ITEM 10

175



 

  

 

 

Risk Management 

3. Risk is managed in accordance with the Treasury Management Policy Statement. 

Consultees 

None identified. 

Background Papers 

None identified. 

 

176



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2007/08 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to advise Cabinet of the council’s treasury management 
activities for 2007/08. 

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) Code of Practice 

on Treasury Management 2001 was adopted by this council in February 2002 and this 
council fully complies with its requirements.  The primary requirements of the Code are 
the:-  

 
a. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets out 

the policies and objectives of the council’s treasury management activities. 
 

b. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
manner in which the council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives. 

 
c. Receipt by the Cabinet of an annual strategy report for the year ahead and an annual 

review report of the previous year. 
 

d. Delegation by the council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring treasury 
management policies and practices and for the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions. 

 
1.2 Treasury management in this context is defined as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. ” 
 

1.3 The authority’s treasury management activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
 

 a.Credit risk: The possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts to the council. 
 
 b.Liquidity risk: The possibility that the council might not have funds available to meet its 

commitments to make payments. 
 

 c.Market risk: The possibility that financial loss might arise for the council as a result of 
changes in such measures as interest rates. 
 
The council in adopting the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management to produce 
its annual Treasury Management Strategy has operated within a control framework to 
minimise risks relating to financial instruments. 
 

1.4 An Internal Audit review in March 2008 concluded that the monitoring and control of the 
treasury management system is good. 

 
1.5 This annual treasury report covers: 

 
a. the council’s borrowing transactions 2007/08. 

b. the council’s investment transactions 2007/08. 

c. the outturn position 2007/08. 

177



  

  

d. the strategy for 2007/08. 

e. the economy in 2007/08 (borrowing and investment rates in 2007/08). 

f. compliance with treasury limits and Prudential Indicators. 
 

1.6 Effective treasury management can make a useful contribution to helping achieve the 
council’s strategic objectives. 

 
2. THE COUNCIL’S BORROWING TRANSACTIONS 2007/08 
 
2.1 The following summary gives information relating to the council’s long-term borrowing 

transactions in 2007/08. 
 
 

 
2.2 The Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) remains the main source of long-term borrowing for 

the council. In addition to PWLB loans the council has two LOBO (Lender Option, 
Borrowing Option) loans totalling £12m.  

 
2.3 After careful consideration of interest rate forecasts, expected capital spending, repayment 

profile and having regard to the existing debt, loans were taken during 2007/08 as follows: 
 

Date 
 

Loan Type 
 

Lender 
 

Amount 
£ 

Period 
(years) 

Interest Rate 
% 

27/11/07 Fixed Maturity PWLB   5,000,000 34 4.48 
07/01/08 Fixed Maturity PWLB   5,000,000 30  4.42 
13/03/08 Fixed Maturity PWLB   2,500,000   4 3.99 

   12,500,000   

 
2.4 As comparative performance indicators, average PWLB maturity loan interest rates for 

2007/08 were: 

Period 
(years) 

Interest Rate 
% 

1 year 5.18 

4 years 5.10 

9.5–10 years 5.07 

25-30 years 4.74 

30-35 years 4.68 

49.5–50 years 4.60 

 
2.5 The average rate of interest paid on borrowings during the year was 4.50% compared to 

4.48% in 2006/07.  

 Long-term Borrowing £ 

 As at 1st April 2007 93,852,794 
 New Borrowing (see paragraph 2.3) 12,500,000 
 Less: Repayments      (464,180) 

 As at 31st March 2008 105,888,614 

178



  

  

 

2.6 The longer term debt at 31st March 2008 falls due for repayment as follows: 
 

Long-term Debt Profile 
 
Within 

£  % of 
total 
debt 

1 year 12,485,952 12 
1 – 5 years 3,581,792 3 
5 – 10 years 1,818,994 2 
10 – 15 years 7,932,108 7 
15 years and over 80,069,768 76 

   TOTAL 105,888,614 100 
 
2.7 In addition to the external borrowing identified above, the council has a bank overdraft 

facility with its bankers, National Westminster Bank plc, of £6,000,000, which was used on 
a limited basis during the year. This was used in replacement of any short-term borrowing 
of amounts less than £100,000 where it would not be cost effective to borrow through the 
money market. 

 
2.8 The council’s aim is to maintain a nil cleared balance, as far as possible, in low-interest 

bearing accounts. In practice this is hard to achieve because some payments are made 
directly in to the bank. However, such sums are not significant in overall terms. The 
average daily bank balance for 2007/08, on which debit and credit interest is calculated 
was £46,642 in credit. 

 
3. THE COUNCIL’S INVESTMENT TRANSACTIONS 2007/08 
 
3.1 Internally Managed Investments – The council manages its in-house investments with the 

institutions listed in the council’s approved lending list. The council placed investments for a 
range of periods from overnight to 364 days. The length depended on factors such as cash 
flow requirements and if it was viewed that interest rates would change.  

 
3.2 During the year the interest rate earned on internally managed funds varied between 5.25% 

and 6.8% and the average daily investment managed internally was £53,672,976. The 
actual daily investments ranged from £30,540,000 to £68,499,566, which illustrates how 
much the temporary cash flow fluctuates throughout the year. The temporary short-term 
investment transactions for 2007/08 are summarised as follows: 

 

Internally Managed Investments £ £ 

 As at 31st March 2007  33,205,906 
   
 Investments made during year 785,912,456  
(276 transactions)   
 Less: Investments recalled during year 777,973,510 7,938,946 

   

 As at 31st March 2008  41,144,852 
 
3.3 The level of funds that were available for internal investment increased during the year, due 

to bringing in-house the investments previously managed by Investec Asset Management 
Limited (paragraph 3.6). 

 
3.4 The average interest rate achieved on internally managed funds was 5.96%, which 

compares favourably with the generally accepted benchmark of the average 7-Day London 
Inter-Bank Bid (LIBID) rate of 5.6%. The Bank of England Bank Rate increased from 5.25% 
at the start of the year to 5.75% in July to combat the threat of inflation. However, in August 
the U.S. sub-prime mortgae disaster exploded, which stopped any further increase. This 

179



  

  

crisis generated volatility and fear that gave rise to a credit squeeze resulting in market 
rates rising significantly above the Bank Rate. The council was therefore able to make 
investments at very good rates during the year. 

 
3.5 Externally Managed Investments – At 31st March 2007 council funds of £7,778,736 were 

managed externally by Investec Asset Management Ltd (Investec). Due to Investec’s poor 
performance the council withdrew the fund from Investec in June 2007 in order to manage 
the investments in-house. 

 
3.6 The following table summarises the investment income received in 2007/08: 

 

Summary of Investment Income £ £ 

   
 Internally Managed Funds  3,180,843 
 Externally Managed Funds (net)         89,965 

  3,270,808 
 Less: transfers to Schools (142,838)  
 Interest payments to trusts etc. (243,601)  

  (386,439) 

 Interest Received 2007/08  2,884,369 

 
4 TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN 2007/08 
 
4.1 The outturn position for treasury management activities was an underspend against budget 

of £803,534. The main reasons for this were: 
a. Investment interest rates above the target rates were achieved. 
b. Cash flow advantages in delays in spending, and in particular slippage on the 

capital programme. 
 

5 THE STRATEGY FOR 2007/08 
 
5.1 The treasury management strategy for 2007/08 was based on a view of a steady rate of 

growth in the UK.  It took into account advice and trends evident in the previous year. 
 
5.2 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) had raised the Bank Rate in November 2006 and 

January 2007 to 5.25% due to concerns over inflation. One more increase in the Bank Rate 
was forecast before an anticipated switch to a falling trend as inflation came back under 
control, bringing the Bank Rate to a level of 5% by the end of 2007. This was predicted on 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) being at target on the two year horizon, that wage growth 
was below the MPC’s threshold of 4.5%,  

 
5.3 The effect on interest rates for the UK was therefore expected to be as follows: 
 

Shorter-term interest rates - The view was that weak growth in the UK, US and EU would 
eventually lead to a decrease in the UK Bank Rate to 5% by the end of March 2008 after 
peaking at 5.5% at the start of the 2007/08 financial year .   
Longer-term interest rates - The view on longer-term fixed interest rates (50 years) was 
that they would remain static around 4.25% for the whole of the year.  The 25 year rate 
would also remain “flat” around 4.50%. 

 
5.4 After taking into account the above the strategy was: 
 

a. Very long dated borrowing could be taken at any time in the financial year. 

180



  

  

b. Variable rate borrowing and short term borrowing were expected to be more expensive 
than long term borrowing and therefore unattractive throughout the year compared to 
long term borrowing. 

 
c. The Director of Resources would carefully monitor interest rates available and adopt a 

pragmatic approach to any changing circumstances. 
 

6 THE ECONOMY IN 2007/08 
 
6.1 Shorter-term interest rates: The Base Rate started 2007/08 at 5.25% with expectations 

that there would be further increases in rates. A further increase in rates to 5.50% duly 
occurred on 10th May 2007 but not before the Governor of the Bank of England had written 
a letter to the Chancellor in April explaining why CPI had risen to 1% or more above the 
official CPI inflation target of 2%.  Another rise was delivered on 5th July when the Bank 
Rate rose to 5.75% and the markets fully expected Bank Rate to increase again.   

 
6.2 August saw what has become known as the ‘credit crunch’ that affected the markets and 

the global economy.  The crunch originated in the US through the sub-prime housing 
market.  World wide investors, particularly banks, had invested in packages of sub-prime 
loans, attracted by the higher yields offered.  The problems in the markets continued 
throughout the summer until on the 14th September it was announced that the Bank of 
England had provided significant financial support to Northern Rock.  The MPC eventually 
cut Bank Rate on 6th December to 5.50% as concerns about the economy and the credit 
crunch mounted. 

 
6.3  The start of 2008 saw 2008 major fears about the global economy.  Stock markets fell 

sharply and government bond yields fell.  The MPC cut interest rates in February to 5.25%.  
On the 18th February it was announced that the Government would nationalize Northern 
Rock.  In late February and March the markets became difficult again giving rise to 
intervention by the world’s central banks. 

 
6.4  Longer-term interest rates – The PWLB 45-50 year rate started the year at 4.45 and fell 

to a low of 4.38% in March 2008.  The high point (of which there were several) for 45-50 
year was 4.90% before finishing the year at 4.42%. The volatility in yields was a direct 
reflection of the interest rate issues brought about by the sub-prime crisis in the US.  A 
radical change to the PWLB rate structure was introduced by the Debt Management Office 
on 1st November when they moved to single basis point moves in their interest rates.  At the 
same time they introduced a separate repayment rate at a level significantly below the rate 
at which they would lend new money.    

 
7.  COMPLIANCE WITH TREASURY LIMITS AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 
 
7.1 During the financial year the council operated within the treasury limits and Prudential 

Indicators set out in the council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement and annual 
Treasury Management Strategy.  The outturn for the Prudential Indicators is shown in 
Annex A. The Prudential Indicators set out are recommended by the CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance. 

 

181



182



Annex A 

 

 
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 
 
PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 
Extract from Budget Setting Report 

2006/07 
Actual 

2007/08 
Original 

2007/08 
Actual 
Outturn 

Capital Expenditure (£’000) £39,725 £66,838 £54,200 

     

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 6.61% 7.82% 6.87% 

     

Capital Financing Requirement as at 31
st
 March (£’000) £125,898 £158,562 £136,270 

    

PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

2006/07 
Final 

2007/08 
Original 

2007/08 
Final 

Authorised Limit for External Debt -     
    Borrowing (£’000) £147,000 £166,000 £166,000 
    Other Long Term Liabilities (£’000) £3,000 £3,000 £3,000 

    Total (£’000) £150,000 £169,000 £169,000 

     
Operational Boundary for External Debt -     
    Borrowing (£’000) £108,500 £127,500 £127,500 
    Other Long Term Liabilities (£’000) £1,500 £1,500 £1,500 

    Total (£’000) £110,000 £129,000 £129,000 

     
Upper Limit for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure    
     Net principal re: fixed rate borrowing/investments 100% 100% 100% 

     
Upper Limit for Variable Rate Exposure    
     Net principal re: variable rate borrowing/investments 50% 50% 50% 

     
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 
364 days (£’000) 

£10,000 £10,000 £10,000 

        

 
 

Maturity structure of fixed rate 
borrowing during 2007/08 

Upper Limit Lower Limit 

Under 12 months  50% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 50% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 100% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 100% 0% 

10 years and above 100% 0% 

 
 

183



184


	Agenda
	
	FIRE-BROCK

	4 SWIMMING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN HEREFORD CITY
	Pool Appendix 1and2
	100708SwimmingPoolProvisionforPrimarySchoolsinHerefordCityAppendix1

	5 Virtual Learning Environment
	6 INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE AND FINANCE REPORT
	Appendix 1 - AOP Indicators
	Appendix 2 - BVPI Outturns 2007-08 (Final)
	Appendix 3 - Direction of Travel Indicators

	7 COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT PREPARATION PROGRAMME PROGRESS REPORT
	Appendix 1 - CAA preparation programme update

	8 Herefordshire Connects Option Appraisal
	Herefordshire Connects Options Analysis Final2

	9 Waste Collection Contract
	Appendix 1

	10 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 2007/08
	tm appendix 1
	tm report0708 annex C


